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the dimensions 
of packaging are 
changing. and we’re 
the company that’s
reshaping them.
 
already, we see  
consumer packaging 
as a large and growing 
global marketplace. 

 
we intend to  
capture  much of  
this opportunity. 
 
(in fact, we are  
already on our way.)
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as consumer 
packaged goods

companies explore 
new markets, 

expand their product
offerings and commit 

to growth, our
packaging solutions

answer their challenges.
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every day, everything  
we do brings ideas  
closer to brand 
managers, brands  
closer to consumers  
and marketplace 
leadership closer to  
our customers.  
we’re not just building  
a better box.
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we are 
How 

brands 
take 

sHape
mwv is a packaging company built on manufacturing prowess,

strong relationships and global scale. we are also a consumer-led,
brand-building packaging solutions company driven by market insight

and design innovation. these two sets of capabilities grew in 2007,
as we were more focused and more versatile, adding talent and 

capabilities worldwide. as a result, we’re generating higher and more 
consistent financial returns for our shareholders—and becoming the

packaging partner of choice for our customers.



Packaging  
solutions  
that help  
global  
opportunity  
emerge
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As the frontiers of commerce expAnd, 

we see the boundaries of packaging 
moving with them. Emerging markets 
around the world are achieving new 
prosperity and exercising new 
economic muscle. 

Entering and succeeding in these 
markets is our business imperative— 
as is providing local market insights, 
ensuring brand consistency and 
delivering global efficiency. 

mWV hAs A leAdership presence in  

some of the World’s lArgest And  

fAstest-groWing pAckAging segments.



Innovation
Innovation changes the nature of 

competition. Through new products 
and services, new designs and 

features, MWV finds new ways to 
enhance our customers’ brands and 

to delight consumers.

Insight
Consumer decisions can happen 
in as little as three seconds. By 

understanding what engages, informs 
and influences consumers, MWV 
gives customers an edge—to gain 
shelf space from retailers and win 
market share from competitors.

07how brands take shape

service
How MWV delivers innovation is 

just as important as the innovation 
itself. We share marketplace expertise 
and manage our relationships to add 

value—helping ensure we are the 
packaging partner of choice  

for consumer brands.
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The Americas  In these markets, owners of major brands 
have three priorities: the ability to present a consistent 
brand image to consumers around the globe; taking costs 
out of their supply chain; and being responsive to growing 
interest in sustainability. mwv’s capabilities are structured to 
give brand owners a single partner for creative, consumer-
focused and efficient packaging solutions throughout 
customers’ markets worldwide. our heritage and knowledge 
of sustainable manufacturing practices help customers 
reach their source reduction goals and address consumer 
expectations for environmental responsibility.

Asia  mwv has served the asian market for years 
with highly consistent, top-performing paperboard and 
chemical products. as consumers here have become more 
sophisticated, the demand for higher quality, perfectly 
packaged goods has grown. mwv is responding with 
world-class capabilities, including our new manufacturing 
plant in the people’s republic of China, which opened 
in wuxi, Jiangsu province, in 2007. we provide asian 
customers with brand consistency, environmentally friendly 
solutions and innovative options that meet their expansion 
needs. In addition, we are developing new offerings to  
meet fast-growing demand in India, as branded products 
grow in popularity.

DIVERSE MARKETS, DIFFERING NEEDS

Europe  the market in europe requires creativity 
and flexibility. as the european union continues 
to grow, and as economies in eastern europe 
and russia emerge, understanding consumer 
preferences, culture and language in distinct local 
markets is key. mwv’s long history in europe gives 
us a deep understanding of this market’s complex 
packaging requirements, including high cultural 
expectations and strong regulatory standards for 
sustainable packaging. Converting locations across 
europe, continued investments in poland, Czech 
republic and russia, and a network of design 
teams help our brand partners consistently—and 
efficiently—capture growth opportunities.



2
Ideas,  
designs and  
materials,
centralized  
for our  
partners

09



10 mwv 2007 annual report

MWV’s  
Center for PaCkaging 

innovation
       redefines  
 the form & funCtion  
   of packaging 
        for Consumers

  & consuMer brand
ComPanies.
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Creating a chain of innovation  our Center for packaging Innovation 
(CpI) was created as a catalyst for next-generation packaging.  
CpI partners with universities and experts around the world to identify 
consumer trends, explore materials and forms and to bring new 
opportunities to our individual businesses. 
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An abundance of talent  CpI’s academic and industry relationships 
allow us to partner with world-class research institutions, to work 
closely with leading-edge thinkers and to transfer consumer 
knowledge to CpI’s own talented staff— bringing innovation to  
the brands and companies who are our customers. 



Elevating packaging performance  CpI continues our heritage of driving  
game-changing profitable innovations while we maintain our focus on operational 
improvement. we have four primary core competencies: package design and 
development, operational excellence, market intelligence and external alliances.  
In addition to exploring new materials and forms for consumers, CpI plays a role  
in improving the efficiency of our traditional paperboard business.
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Driven by consumer needs  CpI’s approach is to engage deeply 
with mwv customers to understand their consumers and their 
packaging needs, and to develop customized solutions that are 
meaningful—and valuable—in the marketplace. when appropriate, 
we pursue joint ventures, alliances and licensing opportunities that 
can broaden our range of innovative products and technologies.

15how brands take shape
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Look ArounD your homE, 
AnD you’LL sEE mWV innoVAtion  

At Work EVEryWhErE—

 in perfume dispensers,
 beverage cartons,  

dvd cases
and packaging for everything  

from toothpaste
 to prescription drugs.  

our Center for packaging Innovation 
is the latest step forward  

in more than a century 
of innovative breakthroughs.

CPi EnAbLEs mWV to CrEAtE  
A PiPELinE of innoVAtions

that benefit consumers’ lives, 
sustain our customers’ brands and  

businesses—and accelerate 
our own growth.



how brands take shape

3
Packaging 
solutions 
made real
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100%

Media and Entertainment  when fans of the Jonas Brothers and High School Musical 2 
pick up these Cds, they’re also picking up more environmentally friendly Cd packaging. 
disney Music Group’s creative teams turned to our aGI Media business to produce 
Cd packaging for both of these massively popular acts in 2007. our versatile Digipak® 
product provides a way to minimize material through a straightforward, streamlined 
design. Its plastic tray and paperboard are made with 100 percent recycled content, 
and 35 percent of this content is postconsumer materials—a combination of artistry 
and sustainability for the world’s best-known entertainment company.
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Cosmetics and Personal Care  In fragrance and cosmetics packaging, sometimes  
what consumers don’t see is just as important as what they do see. For banana 
republic fragrances and other prestigious fragrance brands, Mwv Calmar created  
the NoC™ dip tube—the first dispenser tube that disappears within a fragrance 
container. Manufactured in both europe and north america to support international 
product introductions, NoC is the perfect choice for designers seeking to  
communicate their brands with perfect clarity.

21how brands take shape

The light-refracting 
properties of the 
NoC dip tube turn 
it transparent when 
immersed in a  
fragrance solution.
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Home and Garden  one of the world’s most popular cleaning products got a boost in 
2007 from Mwv in China—a new plant to support broader distribution in this market. 
with rapidly expanding volume in China and other asian emerging countries, s.C. 
Johnson’s Mr. Muscle® brand needed a packaging partner capable of supporting its 
growth. our Mwv Calmar business—a global s.C. Johnson partner for more than 
25 years—focused the resources of its new wuxi plant on the Mr. Muscle challenge, 
providing packaging solutions that allow the brand to enter new regional markets and 
gain consumers in smaller cities across China.



Food and Beverage  to ensure that beverage products make the 
right impression in China, Mwv introduced a total beverage 
packaging solution—supporting the product from manual packing, 
transportation and shelf-stocking through inventory management. 
designed for convenient stocking on customarily lower profile 
retail shelves in China, the paperboard packaging functions not 
only as a premium-quality single pack and carton for bottles, but 
as an appealing, differentiated tool for influencing retailers and 
consumers in a unique market. Four years since the partnership 
began, the sales of Mwv multipacks in China has quadrupled. 

This package allows the Chinese 
consumer to grab and carry 

easily—and for retail visibility 
to promote premium brands.

Mwv 2007 annual report24

For more environmentally sustainable 
packaging, MWV recently helped
transition production of this customer’s 
U.S. cartons to Coated Natural Kraft® 
paperboard, reducing the consumption 
of virgin fiber.
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Healthcare and Pharmaceuticals  patient safety. Compliance with medical instructions. 
Child resistance. senior-friendliness. brand image. product integrity. balancing all of 
these priorities is one of the toughest challenges in retail pharmacy. but the capabilities 
of Mwv’s Shellpak® unit-dose packaging led the world’s largest retailer, wal-Mart 
stores, Inc., to begin offering its generic medications in the innovative format in 2007. 
the easy-to-use packaging—a combination of shell, label and blister pack—allows 
prescriptions to be filled faster than vial containers, and features large surfaces for 
brand communication and medication instructions. and unit-dose packaging helps 
patients keep track of their drug regimens, resulting in better healthcare outcomes. 

27how brands take shape
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INNoVaTIoN dElIVErEd. 

That’s what MWV  
packaging solutions create  
in the marketplace.  

Our pioneering ideas,  
designs, materials and forms 
change the way consumers  
buy, experience and value  
the products our customers  
bring to market.  

WE TUrN CollaBoraTIoN  

aNd CoNSUMEr INSIGHT INTo  

MarKETPlaCE oUTCoME.



Sustainability  
from  
principle  
to practice

4
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Sustainability shapes everything at MWV.

putting sustainability into practice, everywhere  
we do business, is part of our legacy.

As a leader in our industry and as a 
responsible partner to our customers, we 
look at sustainability from every angle, from 
business strategy to product development 
to resource management. And we’re proving 
that environmental sustainability is a vital  
part of economic success.
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fiber is fundamental

a reliable, responsible and sustainable source of high-quality wood fiber is essential  
to our business. mwv has been a pioneer in sustainable forestry for more than  
60 years. we use sound conservation practices to manage our own third-party 
certified forestland and we ensure that our fiber suppliers meet the requirements of 
the Sustainable Foresty Initiative (SFI) as well. In early 2008, mwv will implement the 
program for the endorsement of Forest Certification (peFC) chain of custody systems 
for all of our north american mill locations, giving our customers the choice of using 
either the SFI or peFC label on their packages.

31how brandS take Shape



when mwv combines the practice of innovation with the principles of sustainability, 
new product paths emerge—even in well-traveled markets. our advances in material 
science and specialty chemicals are paving the way to a new, more environmentally 
friendly solution to asphalt road construction. our Evotherm™ product is an additive  
that reduces the heat needed to bind the asphalt mix in production and application, 
which can reduce the amount of fossil fuel needed by up to one-half. 

the road to the future
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a key consideration for our customers is choosing a responsible packaging partner that 
understands climate change issues. mwv self- or co-generates two-thirds of the total 
electricity required by our four u.S. paper mills. about 65 percent of all the energy used 
for our pulp and paper operations comes from carbon neutral, renewable biomass based 
by-products. mwv is a founding member of the Chicago Climate exchange, the world’s 
first and north america’s only rules-based greenhouse gas emissions allowance trading 
system, and we are meeting commitments to lower carbon dioxide emissions.

Managing our carbon footprint

33how brandS take Shape



packaging that provides  
protection and security

Since its debut in 2006, Natralock® has solved some of the consumer products 
industry’s toughest packaging problems: protecting products from theft and damage, 
standing out on the retail shelf and improving the consumer experience. Natralock 
combines tear-resistant paperboard packaging with a unique heat-sealed clear “bubble” 
that displays the product without compromising security or durability. Natralock uses up 
to 60 percent less plastic on average than clamshell packaging and gives brand owners 
a paperboard surface for printing vibrant graphics. Natralock opens easily, eliminating 
the aggravation and injury often caused by hard-to-open clamshell packages.
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paperboard with new integrity

to our customers, recycled fiber often plays a role in choosing paperboard packaging. 
Incorporating postconsumer fiber has historically led to a compromise of integrity in  
the package function of the board or added weight to maintain strength—but no longer. 
mwv introduced Printkote  Eagle® in 2007 with 30 percent postconsumer fiber and  
a technology that allows it to retain the sturdiness of a 100 percent virgin fiber paperboard 
without becoming denser and heavier. 

35how brandS take Shape



the goals of increasing shareholder value and meeting the needs of communities led us  
to open a new frontier in 2007—the creation of our land management business. already  
a longstanding owner and steward of hundreds of thousands of acres of forestland in the 
united States, mwv established our Community development and land management 
Group to manage the company’s diverse portfolio of landholdings. 

a new land management path
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To our 
shareholders, 

customers 
and 

employees:
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“ now I get it!” that’s what a major packaging customer told me as 
we stood in front of meadwestvaco’s integrated marketing booth 
at pack expo and finished a conversation about the full range of 
our packaging capabilities.   
 
we spoke about many of the things you’ve just seen and read in 
this report—the global reach of our platform, the extent of our 
marketplace insights, the innovative packaging solutions we 
design and produce for our customers, and the reputation we 
have earned for stewardship and sustainability. most important, 
we spoke about a unified meadwestvaco. 
 
His enthusiastic response suggests that the power of 
meadwestvaco’s consumer packaging platform has become  
a reality for our customers. And the profiles and case studies  
we have highlighted in this annual report demonstrate that our 
unique global packaging platform is taking hold—and defining 
us as an industry leader.  

John A. Luke, Jr.
Chairman and Chief 
executive officer
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As we work to unify our businesses and to communicate our total solutions 
capabilities to customers, we have an opportunity to continue our journey by 
enhancing our brand. meadwestvaco has adopted a new look and a new way of 
expressing our value. As you read in this report, we are calling ourselves mwv.  
 It’s much more than a name, logo or tagline. It’s the foundation for a new 
conversation—much like the one I had at pack expo. we are unifying our presence 
in the marketplace, and speaking with one voice to our customers about our global 
packaging capabilities and our ability to propel their businesses forward. mwv reflects 
our heritage, differentiates us in the marketplace and fully represents our vision of 
global packaging leadership.  
 we already view ourselves differently than we did just a few years ago. we 
have taken important actions to ensure that we are successful despite changes 
to our business and the broader global economy. As a result, we are focusing our 
packaging platform on serving key customers in targeted end markets. we are 
committed to continuing a culture of collaboration—with our customers and our 
colleagues. And we are building the right skills and pursuing the right strategy to 
compete and win in the marketplace.
 now, we are inviting our customers to view us differently as well. more and 
more, consumer packaged goods companies are discovering tremendous value 
in our ability to help them protect and promote their products, manage a supply 
chain, deliver on sustainability promises and attract consumers on the retail shelf. 
In short, mwv is about helping our customers’ brands take shape. 

Extending our customer relationships  the mwv brand stands for our promise  
to customers.  
 It is a promise to understand their businesses, and business challenges.  
 It is a promise to understand their markets, and market opportunities.  
 It is a promise to understand the consumer, and consumer preferences. 
 we are helping their brands take shape by delivering supply chain efficiencies, 
quality assurance protections, unique market and consumer insights and leading 
product innovations everywhere our customers do business. we are building valuable 
partnerships with the world’s most admired brands, in part through the capabilities 
and collaboration we’re fostering at our Center for packaging Innovation. CpI conducts 
research to understand what motivates the end consumer. we then bring our 
customers on-site to share that knowledge and develop solutions that capitalize on 
those insights to help them shape their brands and build their market share.
 A good example of the result is natralock security packaging. natralock is 
a renewable packaging solution that deters theft, is better for the environment, 
improves visibility on the retail shelf, reduces production costs and benefits 
consumers with a safer-to-open design.  
 natralock is also one example of our promise to be a leading sustainable partner 
for our customers. there are others highlighted in this report, including evotherm 
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warm-paving technology and printkote eagle paperboard packaging. we are 
leveraging our longstanding reputation for environmental responsibility—rooted in 
our forest management practices and social values system—to develop sustainable 
solutions that deliver environmental performance and enhance brand image. many 
of our customers are making sustainability commitments for their brands—or are 
being driven to improve environmental performance by the expectations of retailers 
and consumers. we are the ideal partner to help them deliver on that promise 
because of our pipeline of sustainable products and our ability to design customized 
solutions that ensure generations of sustainable brand performance.

Growing our global platform  the mwv brand embodies our vision to be the 
global leader in packaging and packaging solutions. we have made commitments 
to further enhance our packaging platform and to grow our business through 
innovation and expansion in emerging markets. In 2007, we completed a number  
of strategic actions to execute on this plan for profitable growth.  
 we added new technologies to our packaging platform to augment the range 
of primary packaging solutions we can offer customers in the personal care and 
home and garden markets. keltec dispensing systems and Hayes products are fully 
integrated in our pump and sprayer business, and their innovative lines of value-
added products and blue-chip customers support our growth ambitions for the 
global marketplace.
 we opened the doors to a state-of-the-art packaging facility in wuxi, the 
people’s Republic of China. this new plant increases our capacity to deliver trigger 
sprayers, plastic pumps and folding cartons for the personal care, healthcare and 
food and beverage markets across Asia—including the mr. muscle cleaning product 
featured in this report.  
 the advanced machinery at our wuxi location ensures that we can manufacture 
packaging products to the same exacting standards everywhere in the world— 
a necessity as we support global brand management for our customers. we 
are growing along with them as they expand their businesses to serve millions 
of Chinese consumers—and others across Asia. In 2007, we grew revenue in 
emerging markets by 15 percent, and we expect to accelerate our growth through  
a number of strategic initiatives in China, India, brazil and eastern europe.

Consumer packaged goods companies are 
discovering tremendous value in our ability to help 
them protect and promote their products, manage  
a supply chain, deliver on sustainability promises, 
and attract consumers on the retail shelf. MWV is 
about helping our customers’ brands take shape.
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   mwv also signed an agreement with klabin, brazil’s largest paperboard 
manufacturer, to enhance our industry-leading packaging product portfolio. 
this long-term commercial and marketing partnership with one of brazil’s leading 
companies gives us an even stronger platform for additional growth in new  
and existing global markets.
 with these strategic actions, we have made significant progress shaping a 
strong, innovation-based global packaging platform that enables us to compete 
and win in our targeted markets through an uncertain economic environment. 
we are pursuing a profitable growth strategy that builds upon our diverse market 
positions and global mix of business by focusing on innovation, expansion in 
emerging markets and increased productivity.
 this strategic focus in 2008 and beyond will help us introduce new and enhanced 
products to the marketplace and extend market share gains for our existing leadership 
positions, continue to grow along with our customers in both existing established 
markets as well as rapidly developing emerging markets, and increase productivity 
through continued operational improvements and sourcing initiatives.
 
Performance and progress  the mwv brand must also continue to stand for financial 
strength. As we continue to differentiate ourselves in the marketplace and build 
brand value for our customers, we are enhancing mwv’s ability to deliver higher 
returns and long-term value for our shareholders. even in the face of economic 
uncertainty and rising inflation, our strategy to focus on innovation, growth in 
emerging markets and productivity gives us confidence that we can continue on  
the trajectory we’ve established for profitable growth in our business.  
 In 2007, we delivered another year of sales, earnings and operating cash 
flow growth, and took significant steps to improve the financial position of our 
company. our businesses performed generally well and delivered on several key 
objectives to improve profits and increase productivity, despite rising input cost 
inflation and challenging markets for some of our products. this was especially 
true in our Consumer solutions segment, where media and entertainment industry 
trends posed continuing pressures, and where clear opportunities exist for overall 
improvements in performance.
  

As we continue to differentiate ourselves 
in the marketplace and build brand value 

for our customers, we are enhancing 
MWV’s ability to deliver higher returns and

long-term value for our shareholders.
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we gained share in markets we have targeted for global growth, including health-care, 
personal care, food and beverage, and tobacco, and we have important initiatives to 
extend our progress in 2008. A more detailed look at our overall performance and 
specific business unit results begins on the pages following this letter.  
 with determined effort throughout the year, we strengthened our balance sheet, 
reduced our cost structure and returned value to our shareholders by repurchasing 
outstanding shares with proceeds from two large forestland sales. our new 
Community development and land management Group completed auctions for 
nearly 400,000 acres of nonstrategic forestland, and also continued important 
work to capitalize on additional opportunities for our valuable portfolio of remaining 
landholdings across the southeastern united states.

Our vision becomes reality  the financial position of our company is strong thanks  
to the execution and expertise of mwv employees around the world. that’s why  
the mwv brand is also about our people. I am deeply appreciative of the 
contributions each one of our 24,000 employees has made to put our strategy  
into action and execute on priorities that deliver value for our customers and 
results for our shareholders.  
 during the past year, we welcomed bruce thomas to our team to advance and 
accelerate our growth in emerging markets, and we added ken seeger as president 
of our new Community development and land management Group. we also said 
goodbye to Jack krol, who retired from our board of directors after 13 exceptional 
years of distinguished service. Jack’s significant contributions will be missed.
 overall, the mwv team is moving steadily toward our vision of global packaging 
leadership. Customers get it. shareholders get it. employees get it.
 In every way, the mwv brand stands for global leadership—in our markets, in 
our industry, in our values and in our promise to the many stakeholders who have 
made us successful in the past and will help make us even more successful long into 
the future. without question, the future we envision is taking shape. 
  
sincerely,

John A. luke, Jr.
Chairman and Chief executive officer
February 28, 2008
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FInAnCIAl HIGHlIGHts

1  excluding the items included in footnote 2, adjusted income was $185 million, or $1.01 per 
share, and $162 million, or $0.90 per share, for 2007 and 2006, respectively.

2  2007 includes the following: after-tax gains of $169 million, or $0.92 per share, from the 
sale of forestlands; after-tax restructuring charges of $54 million, or $0.29 per share; and 
after-tax one-time costs of $15 million, or $0.08 per share. 2006 includes the following: 
after-tax restructuring charges of $85 million, or $0.47 per share; after-tax one-time costs 
of $26 million, or $0.14 per share; after-tax gains of $24 million, or $0.13 per share, from 
the sale of a note and corporate real estate; and after-tax gains of $18 million, or $0.10 per 
share, from the sale of forestlands.  

3  Calculated using earnings before interest and taxes, which has been adjusted on a pre-
tax basis for items in footnote 2 and tax effected at the actual annual effective tax rates 
of 28.8% for 2007 and 5.4% for 2006; invested capital for calculation is period end net 
debt plus equity.

 
In millions, except per share data  2007  2006

Net sales  $ 6,906 $ 6,530
 
Net income1 $ 285  $ 93
 
Net income per share2 $ 1.56 $ 0.52
 
Dividends per share $ 0.92 $ 0.92
 
Cash provided by  
operating activities $ 641 $ 567
 
Capital expenditures $ 347 $ 302
 
Dividends paid $ 169 $ 167
 
Total assets $ 9,837 $ 9,285
 
Long-term debt $ 2,375 $ 2,372
 
Shareholders’ equity $ 3,708 $ 3,533
 
Debt-to-capital ratio  39.7%  42.2%
 
Return on invested capital3  5.3%  6.3%

MWV achieved a number  
of significant strategic,  
operational and financial 
milestones in 2007:

Another year of solid sales,  
earnings and operating cash  
flow growth 

Generated 15 percent revenue 
growth in emerging markets; 
revenue in China topped $200m

opened world-class packaging 
facility in wuxi, the people’s  
Republic of China

signed commercial and  
marketing agreement with 
klabin, brazil’s largest paper-
board manufacturer, to enhance  
packaging product line 
 
Acquired keltec dispensing 
systems and Hayes products  
to augment innovative line of  
primary packaging solutions
 
established Community 
development and land 
management Group; repur-
chased shares with $400m in  
forestlands sales proceeds
 
Reduced cost structure by an 
additional $65m—bringing  
total cost initiative reductions  
to $190m
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2007 FInAnCIAl RevIew

44 mwv 2007 AnnuAl RepoRt



45how brands take shape 45

In 2007, Meadwestvaco delivered another year of sales growth, 
earnings improvement, and increased cash flow from operations.  
this continuing record of financial progress demonstrates that our 
global packaging platform is delivering value for our customers,  
and is helping to generate higher returns for shareholders.

In an environment of intense input cost pressure, profit from our 
business segments increased by 7 percent compared to the prior 
year—and cash flow from operations grew to more than $640 
million. with market share gains in some of our key packaging 
markets, overall sales grew by 6 percent compared to 2006.

we also made progress on a number of strategic and operational 
priorities during the year by investing in our global packaging 
platform, growing our business in emerging markets, reducing our 
cost structure, and returning value to our shareholders from our 
forestlands holdings.

overall, Meadwestvaco’s 2007 net income was $285 million,  
or $1.56 per share. Included in the results are after-tax restructuring 
charges and one-time costs of $69 million, or $0.37 per share, and 
after-tax gains from sales of forestlands of $169 million, or $0.92 per 
share. our 2007 financial performance is presented in greater detail 
in the sections that follow.

  46 Management’s discussion and analysis
 74 Consolidated financial statements
 80 Notes to financial statements
 134 Management’s responsibility for financial statements and 
  report on internal control over financial reporting
 136 Report of independent registered public accounting firm
 140 Board of directors
 141 Management team
 142 Worldwide locations
 144 Shareholder information
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OVERVIEW 

For the year ended December 31, 2007, Meadwestvaco reported net income of $285 million, or 

$1.56 per share. net income for the year included after-tax restructuring charges of $54 million, or 

$0.29 per share, related to employee separation costs, asset write-downs and other restructuring 

actions, and after-tax one-time costs of $15 million, or $0.08 per share, related to the company’s 

cost initiative. also included in net income for 2007 were after-tax gains of $155 million, or $0.84 per 

share, from two significant large-tract forestlands sales of approximately 290,000 owned acres and 

approximately 95,000 acres under long-term timber contracts, and $14 million, or $0.08 per share, 

related to sales of small-tract forestlands. comparable amounts for prior periods are noted later in this 

discussion. the amounts related to the items noted above are reflected in corporate and other for 

segment reporting purposes. 

During 2007, the company generated strong revenue growth from higher selling prices and an 

improved product mix in many of its businesses, as well as from the addition of the dispensing and 

spraying systems business acquired in the third quarter of 2006 and the impact of favorable foreign 

exchange. these positive effects were partially offset by significant inflation in energy and raw material 

prices. in 2007, pre-tax input costs for energy, raw materials and freight were $141 million higher than in 

2006, largely offsetting improvements in price and mix of $144 million. cash flow provided by operating 

activities grew to $641 million in 2007 compared to $567 million in 2006, reflecting higher earnings and 

improvements in working capital. 

Meadwestvaco’s business segments are (i) packaging Resources, (ii) consumer solutions, (iii) 

consumer & office products, and (iv) specialty chemicals. For the year ended December 31, 2007, 

profit from the company’s business segments increased 7% to $584 million compared to $546 million 

for the year ended December 31, 2006. During 2007, higher selling prices, improved product mix and 

productivity, and the impact of favorable foreign exchange, more than offset higher input costs for 

energy, raw materials and freight. Refer to the individual segment discussion that follows for detail 

information for each segment. in 2005, the company exited its printing and writing papers business, 

which is recorded as discontinued operations in the consolidated financial statements.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

the following table summarizes our results for the years ended december 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, as 

reported in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.s. all references to per 

share amounts are presented on an after-tax basis. 

 Years ended december 31 

In millions, except per share data	 2007		 2006	 2005	

Net	sales		 $6,906	 $6,530	 $6,170	
Cost	of	sales	 5,710	 5,399	 5,087	
Selling,	general	and	administrative	expenses	 882	 905	 756	
Interest	expense	 219	 211	 208	
Other	income,	net	 (305)	 (83)	 (16)
		 	 		 	
Income	from	continuing	operations	before	income	taxes	 400	 98	 135	
Income	tax	provision	 115	 5	 16	
		 	 		 	
Income	from	continuing	operations	 285	 93	 119	
Discontinued	operations	 –	 –	 (91)
		 	 		 	
Net	income	 $	 	285	 $	 	 	93	 $	 	 	28	
		 	 		 	
	 	 Net	income	per	share—basic	and	diluted:	 	 		 	
	 	 Income	from	continuing	operations	 $	 1.56	 $	 0.52	 $	 0.62	
	 	 Discontinued	operations	 –	 –	 (0.48)
		 	 		 	
Net	income	 $	 1.56	 $	 0.52	 $	 0.14	
		 	 		 	

Comparison of Years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006  sales were $6.91 billion and $6.53 billion 

for the years ended december 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Increased sales in 2007 were the result 

of the addition of the dispensing and spraying systems business acquired in the third quarter of 2006, 

higher selling prices, improved product mix and the impact of favorable foreign exchange, partially offset 

by lower volumes compared to 2006. refer to the individual segment discussion that follows for detailed 

sales information for each segment. 

Costs of sales were $5.71 billion and $5.40 billion for the years ended december 31, 2007 and 

2006, respectively. our gross margin in 2007 was approximately the same as 2006. In 2007, pre-tax 

input costs for energy, raw materials and freight were $141 million higher than in 2006. restructuring 

charges and one-time costs included in cost of sales were $58 million and $53 million in 2007 and 

2006, respectively. Maintenance costs are included in cost of sales and were $279 million in 2007 

compared to $262 million in 2006.  

selling, general and administrative expenses were $882 million and $905 million for the years 

ended december 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. selling, general and administrative expenses as 

a percentage of sales were 12.8% and 13.9% for the years ended december 31, 2007 and 2006, 

respectively. Lower expense in 2007 compared to 2006 was due primarily to lower restructuring 

charges and one-time costs partially offset by the impact of the addition of the dispensing and 

spraying systems business acquired in the third quarter of 2006 and the impact of foreign exchange. 
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restructuring charges and one-time costs included in selling, general and administrative expenses were 

$48 million in 2007 compared to $102 million in 2006.

pension income before settlements, curtailments and termination benefits was $54 million and $50 

million for the years ended december 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. pension income is reflected in 

cost of sales and selling, general and administrative expenses, and is reported in corporate and other 

for segment reporting purposes. 

Interest expense was $219 million and $211 million for the years ended december 31, 2007 and 

2006, respectively. the increase in 2007 was primarily the result of higher interest from increased 

borrowings in connection with cash surrender value insurance policies compared to 2006.

other income, net, was $305 million and $83 million for the years ended december 31, 2007 and 

2006, respectively, and was comprised of the following:

 years ended december 31 

In millions	 	 2007		 2006	
	

Gains	on	sales	of	large-tract	forestlands	in	West	Virginia,		
	 Alabama	and	Georgia	 	 $(250)		 $	 	 –
Gains	on	sales	of	small-tract	forestlands	 	 (24)	 (29)
Gain	on	sale	of	corporate	real	estate	 	 									–	 (18)
Gain	on	sale	of	PIK	note	 	 									–	 (21)
Interest	income	 	 (20)	 (20)
Asset	impairments	 	 2	 20
Transition	services	income	 	 –										 (5)
Foreign	currency	exchange	gains	 	 (14)	 (2)
Other,	net	 	 1	 (8)
		 	 	
		 	 	 	 	 	 $(305)	 $(83)
		 		 		

gains on sales of large- and small-tract forestlands were $274 million and $29 million related to sales 

of 393,000 acres and 8,000 acres in 2007 and 2006, respectively. during 2006, the company recorded 

a $21 million gain on the sale of a pIk note received as part of the consideration for the sale of the 

printing and writing papers business in 2005. as part of the company’s initiative to reduce its real estate 

footprint, the company sold corporate real estate for a gain of $18 million in 2006. In 2006, income of 

$5 million was recorded from services provided to newpage corporation pursuant to the printing and 

writing papers sale agreement.

the company’s annual effective tax rate was approximately 29% and 5% for the years ended 

december 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. the increase in the rate in 2007 compared to 2006 was 

primarily due to a shift in the level and mix of domestic versus foreign earnings, including pre-tax 

domestic gains of $274 million in 2007 compared to $29 million in 2006 from sales of forestlands.

In addition to the information discussed above, the following sections discuss the results of 

operations for each of our business segments and corporate and other.
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Packaging Resources 
  years ended december 31 

In millions		 	 2007		 2006	
 

Sales		 	 $3,021	 $2,953	
Segment	profit1	 	 322	 275	

 
1 segment profit is measured as results before restructuring charges and one-time costs, pension income, interest 

income and expense, income taxes, minority interest, discontinued operations, extraordinary items and cumulative 
effect of accounting changes. 

the packaging resources segment produces bleached paperboard, coated natural kraft® paperboard 

(cnk), kraft paperboard, linerboard and saturating kraft, and packaging for consumer products 

including packaging for media, beverage and dairy, produce, cosmetics, tobacco, pharmaceuticals 

and healthcare products. this segment’s paperboard products are manufactured at four u.s. mills and 

two mills located in brazil. bleached paperboard is used for packaging high-value consumer products 

such as pharmaceuticals, cosmetics, tobacco, food service, media products and aseptic cartons. cnk 

paperboard is used for a range of packaging applications, the largest of which for Meadwestvaco is 

multi-pack beverage packaging. kraft paperboard is used for folding carton applications. linerboard 

is used in the manufacture of corrugated boxes and containers. saturating kraft is used in the 

manufacture of decorative laminates for kitchen countertops, furniture, flooring and wall panels, as well 

as pad stock for electronic components. 

sales for the packaging resources segment were $3.02 billion in 2007 compared to $2.95 billion in 

2006. Increased sales were the result of higher selling prices, the impact of favorable foreign exchange 

and strengthened demand in key products. In 2007, product mix improvement also favorably impacted 

sales compared to 2006. shipments of bleached paperboard in 2007 were 1,579,000 tons, down 4% 

from 2006 reflecting, in part, a shift by the company away from lower value grades. shipments of cnk 

in 2007 were 1,096,000 tons, down 3% from 2006, with declines in beverage sales partially offset by 

higher sales of general packaging grades. shipments of unbleached paperboard in 2007 were 839,000 

tons, up 1% from 2006, as a result of higher shipments of general packaging grades.  In 2007, bleached 

paperboard prices were up 4%, cnk prices were up 6% and unbleached paperboard prices were up 

6% compared to 2006. sales for the company’s brazilian packaging operation, rigesa ltda., increased 

20% in 2007 over 2006 driven by improved volume and the impact of favorable foreign exchange, 

partially offset by lower selling prices. 

profit for the packaging resources segment increased 17% to $322 million in 2007 compared to 

$275 million in 2006, reflecting improvements in pricing, mix and productivity, partially offset by higher 

input costs for raw materials and energy and lower volume. earnings in 2007 benefited by $88 million 

from price increases and mix improvements, $35 million from improved productivity and $9 million from 

the impact of favorable foreign exchange compared to 2006. earnings in 2007 were negatively impacted 

by $77 million from higher input costs, $6 million from volume declines and $2 million from higher other 

costs compared to 2006. 
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Consumer Solutions 
 years ended december 31 

In millions	 		 2007			 2006	
 

Sales		 	 $2,431	 $2,170	
Segment	profit1	 	 86	 93	

 
1 segment profit is measured as results before restructuring charges and one-time costs, pension income, interest 

income and expense, income taxes, minority interest, discontinued operations, extraordinary items and cumulative 
effect of accounting changes. 

the consumer solutions segment offers a full range of converting and consumer packaging solutions 

including printed plastic packaging and injection-molded products used for packaging media products 

such as dvds, cds, video games and software; cosmetics and pharmaceutical products; and 

dispensing and sprayer technology systems for personal care, healthcare, fragrance and home and 

garden markets. this segment designs and produces multi-pack cartons and packaging systems 

primarily for the beverage take-home market and packaging for the tobacco market. paperboard and 

plastic are converted into packaging products at plants located in north america, south america, asia 

and europe. In addition, this segment manufactures equipment that is leased or sold to its beverage, 

dairy and other customers to package their products.  

sales for the consumer solutions segment increased 12% to $2.43 billion in 2007 compared to 

$2.17 billion in 2006. In 2007, sales improved in our beverage and healthcare business and benefited 

from the addition of the dispensing and spraying systems business acquired in the third quarter of 2006 

and the impact of favorable foreign exchange. these positive effects were partially offset by decreased 

sales in the media business due to market-related declines.  

profit for the consumer solutions segment decreased 8% to $86 million in 2007 compared to  

$93 million in 2006. In 2007, earnings were negatively impacted by $26 million from higher input costs, 

$23 million from volume declines and $8 million from unfavorable pricing compared to 2006. In 2007, 

earnings benefited by $27 million from the impact of favorable foreign exchange and the earnings 

benefits from the dispensing and spraying systems business acquired in the third quarter of 2006,  

$20 million from improved productivity and $3 million from lower other costs compared to 2006.

Consumer & Office Products 
 years ended december 31 

In millions	 	 2007		 2006	
 

Sales		 	 $1,147	 $1,143	
Segment	profit1	 	 139	 127

 
1 segment profit is measured as results before restructuring charges and one-time costs, pension income, interest 

income and expense, income taxes, minority interest, discontinued operations, extraordinary items and cumulative 
effect of accounting changes. 
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the Consumer & office products segment manufactures, sources, markets and distributes school and 

office products, time-management products and envelopes in north america and brazil through both 

retail and commercial channels. Meadwestvaco produces many of the leading brand names in school 

supplies, time-management and commercial office products, including aMCaL®, at-a-GLanCe®, 

Cambridge®, CoLUMbIan®, day runner®, Five star®, Mead® and trapper keeper®. 

sales for the Consumer & office products segment increased slightly to $1.15 billion in 2007 

compared to $1.14 billion in 2006. In 2007, solid performance in the segment’s value-added branded 

consumer product lines, improved overall mix, the impact of favorable foreign exchange and solid 

performance in the brazilian school products business were partially offset by lower volumes compared 

to 2006.

profit for the Consumer & office products segment increased 9% to $139 million in 2007 compared 

to $127 million in 2006. In 2007, earnings were positively impacted by $43 million from price increases 

and mix improvements, $5 million from improved productivity and $4 million from other items, partially 

offset by higher input costs of $22 million and volume declines of $18 million compared to 2006. the 

effect of improved mix associated with the segment’s continued emphasis on proprietary, branded 

products was partially offset by lower basic product volume during 2007. this segment’s operating 

profit continues to be impacted by low-priced asian imports. 

Specialty Chemicals 
  Years ended december 31

In millions	 	 2007		 2006	
 

Sales		 	 $493	 $493	
Segment	profit1	 	 37	 51

 
1 segment profit is measured as results before restructuring charges and one-time costs, pension income, interest 

income and expense, income taxes, minority interest, discontinued operations, extraordinary items and cumulative 
effect of accounting changes. 

the specialty Chemicals segment manufactures, markets and distributes specialty chemicals derived 

from sawdust and byproducts of the papermaking process in north america and asia. products include 

activated carbon used in emission control systems for automobiles and trucks, and chemicals used in 

printing inks, asphalt paving, adhesives and lubricants. 

sales for the specialty Chemicals segment were $493 million in 2007, unchanged from 2006. In 

2007, higher selling prices in most markets were offset by year-over-year volume declines for carbon-

based products due to lower automobile production volumes in north america compared to 2006, and 

year-over-year volume declines for printing ink resins due to weakness in the publication inks industry.

profit for the specialty Chemicals segment was $37 million in 2007 compared to $51 million in 2006. 

In 2007, decreased earnings reflect $25 million of higher input costs, volume declines of $11 million and 

other items of $11 million, partially offset by the positive effects of pricing and mix improvements of  

$33 million compared to 2006.
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Corporate and Other 
 years ended december 31 

In millions	 	 2007			 2006	
 

Sales		 	 $		217	 $		219	
Corporate	and	Other	loss1	 	 (184)	 (448)

 
1 corporate and other loss may include goodwill impairment charges, minority interest, debt retirement charges, 

restructuring charges and one-time costs, net pension income, interest income and expense, and gains on asset sales. 

corporate and other includes the company’s specialty paper business, forestry operations and 

corporate support staff services, and related assets and liabilities. the results also include income 

and expense items not directly associated with segment operations, such as certain legal charges and 

settlements, restructuring charges and one-time costs, pension income, interest income and expense, 

and other charges. 

corporate and other loss was $184 million in 2007 compared to a loss of $448 million in 2006. the 

decrease in the loss reflects gains of $250 million in 2007 from sales of large-tract forestlands related to 

approximately 290,000 owned acres and approximately 95,000 acres under long-term timber contracts. 

In 2007 compared to 2006, lower restructuring charges and one-time costs of $65 million were partially 

offset by certain items in the 2006 results including a $21 million gain from the sale of a pIk note, an 

$18 million gain from the sale of corporate real estate and $5 million in transition services income from 

newpage corporation. In 2007, gains from sales of small-tract forestlands were lower by $5 million and 

other costs were higher by $2 million compared to 2006. 

Comparison of Years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005  sales were $6.53 billion and $6.17 billion 

for the years ended december 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Increased sales in 2006 were the 

result of higher selling prices and improved product mix in many of our businesses, partially offset by 

weaker demand for certain products compared to 2005. the 2006 results include $206 million from the 

addition of the dispensing and spraying systems business, which was acquired in July 2006. refer to 

the individual segment discussion that follows for detailed sales information for each segment. 

cost of sales was $5.40 billion and $5.09 billion for the years ended december 31, 2006 and 2005, 

respectively. our gross margin in 2006 was approximately the same as 2005. In 2006, pre-tax input 

costs for energy, raw materials and freight were $159 million higher than in 2005. restructuring charges 

included in cost of sales were $53 million and $18 million for the years ended december 31, 2006 and 

2005, respectively. Maintenance costs and the effects of market-related downtime are reflected in cost 

of sales. total maintenance costs in 2006 were $262 million compared to $244 million in 2005. In 2006, 

the company took no significant market-related downtime, while in 2005 the company took 109,000 

tons of market-related downtime which had a negative impact on results of $31 million. In 2005, the 

mix of market-related downtime varied by business, but primarily occurred in the packaging resources 

segment. the effects of market-related downtime consist of the unabsorbed fixed manufacturing costs 

due to lower production, but do not include lost profits due to lower shipment levels. 

selling, general and administrative expenses were $905 million and $756 million for the years 

ended december 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. selling, general and administrative expenses as 

a percentage of sales were 13.9% and 12.3% for the years ended december 31, 2006 and 2005, 
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respectively. higher expense in 2006 was due primarily to increased restructuring charges and one-

time costs, the addition of the dispensing and spraying systems business in July 2006 and higher 

share-based compensation compared to 2005. restructuring charges included in selling, general and 

administrative expenses were $60 million in 2006 and $11 million in 2005. Incremental costs in selling, 

general and administrative expenses in 2006 compared to 2005 included certain one-time costs, 

the addition of the dispensing and spraying systems business and share-based compensation in the 

amounts of $42 million and $26 million, respectively. 

pension income from continuing operations, before settlements, curtailments and termination 

benefits was $50 million and $67 million for the years ended december 31, 2006 and 2005, 

respectively. pension income is reflected in cost of sales and selling, general and administrative 

expenses, and is reported in corporate and other for segment reporting purposes. 

Interest expense from continuing operations was $211 million and $208 million for the years ended 

december 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. the increase in interest expense in 2006 compared to 

2005 was the result of incremental short-term borrowings obtained in connection with the dispensing 

and spraying systems business acquisition. For 2005, interest expense associated with the company’s 

papers business, which was sold in the second quarter of 2005, was included in discontinued 

operations in the consolidated statements of operations in the amount of $20 million. 

other income, net was $83 million and $16 million for the years ended december 31, 2006 and 

2005, respectively, and was comprised of the following:

 years ended december 31

In millions	 	 2006			 2005	
 

Gains	on	sales	of	small-tract	forestlands	 	 $(29)	 $(60)
Gain	on	sale	of	corporate	real	estate	 	 (18)	 –			
Gain	on	sale	of	PIK	note	 	 (21)	 –			
Interest	income	 	 (20)	 (33)
Asset	impairments	 	 20	 –			
Transition	services	income	 	 (5)	 (25)
Loss	on	the	extinguishment	of	debt	 	 –	 90	
Foreign	currency	exchange	losses	(gains)	 	 (2)	 8	
Other,	net	 	 (8)	 4	

	 	 	 	 	 	 $(83)	 $(16)
		 		 	

gains on sales of small-tract forestlands were $29 million and $60 million related to sales of 8,000 acres  

and 20,000 acres in 2006 and 2005, respectively. during 2006, the company recorded a $21 million 

gain on the sale of a pIk note received as part of the consideration for the sale of the printing and 

writing papers business in 2005. as part of the company’s initiative to reduce its real estate footprint, 

the company sold corporate real estate for a gain of $18 million in 2006. In 2006 and 2005, income of 

$5 million and $25 million, respectively, was recorded from services provided to newpage corporation 

pursuant to the printing and writing papers sale agreement. the company utilized cash proceeds from 

the sale of its printing and writing papers business to repay approximately $1 billion of debt in 2005 and, 

as a result, incurred charges for debt retirement of $90 million in 2005. 
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the company’s annual effective tax rate was approximately 5% and 12% for the years ended december 

31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. the decline in the rate in 2006 compared to 2005 was primarily due to 

a shift in the level and mix of domestic versus foreign earnings. 

In addition to the information discussed above, the following sections discuss the results of 

operations for each of our business segments and corporate and other.

Packaging Resources 
 years ended december 31

In millions	 	 2006	 2005

Sales		 	 $2,953	 $2,836
Segment	profit1	 	 275	 234
   
1 segment profit is measured as results before restructuring charges and one-time costs, pension income, interest 

income and expense, income taxes, minority interest, discontinued operations, extraordinary items and cumulative 
effect of accounting changes.

sales for the packaging resources segment increased to $3.0 billion in 2006 compared to $2.8 

billion in 2005. the sales increase of 4% for 2006 over 2005 was the result of higher selling prices and 

strengthened demand in key products. product mix improvement also favorably impacted sales in 

2006. shipments of bleached paperboard in 2006 were 1,646,000 tons, down 2% from the prior year, 

reflecting the permanent shutdown of two machines in 2006. shipments of cnk in 2006 were 1,082,000 

tons, up 4% from 2005. shipments of unbleached paperboard in 2006 were 838,000 tons, down 2% 

from the prior year, reflecting the intentional shift away from less profitable products. compared to 2005, 

bleached paperboard prices in 2006 were up 3%, cnk open market prices were up 3% and unbleached 

paperboard prices were up 9%. sales for the company’s brazilian packaging operation, rigesa ltda., 

increased 8% in 2006 over 2005 driven by improved mix and improved volume, partially offset by lower 

selling prices. 

profit for the packaging resources segment increased to $275 million in 2006 compared to 

$234 million in 2005. the 18% improvement reflects improvements in pricing, volume and mix, and 

productivity, partially offset by higher input costs for raw materials and energy. earnings in 2006 benefited 

by $54 million from price increases and mix improvements, $5 million from volume improvement and $70 

million from improved productivity. earnings in 2006 were negatively affected by $77 million from higher 

input costs and $11 million in other operating cost increases compared to the prior year. the 2005 results 

reflect the impact of higher market-related downtime and the impact of two hurricanes.
 

Consumer Solutions 
 years ended december 31 

In millions	 	 2006	 2005	
 

Sales		 	 $2,170	 $2,021	
Segment	profit1	 	 93	 102	

 
1 segment profit is measured as results before restructuring charges and one-time costs, pension income, interest 

income and expense, income taxes, minority interest, discontinued operations, extraordinary items and cumulative 
effect of accounting changes. 
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sales for the consumer solutions segment increased 7% to $2.2 billion in 2006 compared to $2.0 

billion in 2005. sales for 2006 include the results of the dispensing and spraying systems business 

acquired in the third quarter of 2006. excluding the impact of this acquisition, sales in 2006 declined 

3% as compared to 2005. sales improved slightly for our beverage business, but declined for other 

specialty packaging lines. sales were particularly weak for media as demand for music packaging 

declined, game volumes decreased due to delayed next-generation console releases and the absence 

of dvd packaging business for the year’s “blockbuster” filmed entertainment titles. 

profit for the consumer solutions segment decreased 9% to $93 million in 2006 compared to $102 

million in 2005. In 2006, earnings benefits from the acquisition of the dispensing and spraying systems 

business in July 2006, improved results in our beverage, personal care and tobacco businesses and 

certain cost improvements of $28 million were offset by $6 million in higher input costs, $7 million in 

volume decreases, $5 million in unfavorable price and mix and $19 million in higher other material and 

operating costs compared to 2005.

  

Consumer & Office Products 
 years ended december 31 

	In millions	 	 2006			 2005	
 

Sales		 	 $1,143	 $1,125	
Segment	profit1	 	 127			 130

 
1 segment profit is measured as results before restructuring charges and one-time costs, pension income, interest 

income and expense, income taxes, minority interest, discontinued operations, extraordinary items and cumulative 
effect of accounting changes. 

sales for the consumer & office products segment increased slightly to $1.14 billion in 2006 compared 

to $1.13 billion in 2005. the 2% sales growth reflects solid performance in the segment’s value-added 

branded consumer product lines, improved overall mix and a solid performance in the brazilian school 

products business, partially offset by customers shortening their supply chain which caused sales 

delays in certain products into the first quarter of 2007. 

profit for the consumer & office products segment was $127 million in 2006 compared to $130 

million in 2005. results in 2006 were positively impacted by $45 million from price increases and mix 

improvements, offset by the negative impact of higher input and operating costs of $35 million and 

volume declines of $13 million compared to 2005. this segment’s profit continues to be impacted by 

low-priced asian imports.

Specialty Chemicals 
  years ended december 31 

In millions		 	 2006			 2005	
 

Sales		 	 $493	 $425	
Segment	profit1	 	 51			 39

 
1 segment profit is measured as results before restructuring charges and one-time costs, pension income, interest 

income and expense, income taxes, minority interest, discontinued operations, extraordinary items and cumulative 
effect of accounting changes. 
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sales for the specialty chemicals segment increased to a record $493 million in 2006 from $425 million 

in 2005 due to higher selling prices and strong demand for the segment’s industrial pine chemicals 

used in asphalt paving, dyes and proprietary publication ink resins and other industrial markets. year-

over-year volumes for carbon-based products were essentially flat due to lower automobile production 

volumes in north america.

profit for the specialty chemicals segment was $51 million in 2006 compared to $39 million in 

2005. In 2006, increased earnings reflect the positive effects of pricing and volume of $50 million and 

reduced selling, general and administrative expenses of $4 million, partially offset by higher input costs 

of $42 million compared to 2005. 

Corporate and Other 
 years ended december 31 

In millions	 	 2006			 2005	
 

Sales		 	 $		219	 $		213	
Corporate	and	Other	loss1	 	 (448)	 (370)

 
1 corporate and other loss may include goodwill impairment charges, minority interest, debt retirement charges, 

restructuring charges and one-time costs, net pension income, interest income and expense, and gains on asset sales. 

corporate and other loss was $448 million in 2006 compared to a loss of $370 million in 2005. the 

higher loss in 2006 compared to 2005 was the result of higher restructuring charges of $104 million, 

lower gains on small-tract forestlands sales of $31 million, lower transition services income from 

newpage corporation of $20 million, lower pension income of $17 million, one-time costs in 2006 of 

$42 million, offset by debt retirement charges of $90 million in 2005, a gain from the sale of the pIk note 

of $21 million in 2006, a gain on the sale of corporate real estate of $18 million in 2006, and lower other 

costs of $7 million in 2006 compared to 2005. 

OUTLOOK

Overview  given the uncertainty in the economy in 2008, Meadwestvaco will focus on those actions 

within its control to drive year-over-year revenue and earnings growth. key drivers the company is 

focused on executing in 2008 are:

•  profitable growth from targeted global packaging end-markets, including beverage, personal  

care, healthcare and tobacco

•  Increasing sales in emerging markets, including china, India and brazil 

•  Increasing sales from new innovative products, including natralock®, shellpak™ and other  

new applications across personal care and healthcare markets

•  ongoing efforts to offset input cost inflation with price improvement

•  Improving cost productivity driven by ongoing and significant manufacturing, supply-chain  

and sourcing actions 

•  real estate sales generated by the company’s community development and land  

Management group
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Packaging Resources  In 2008, the packaging resources segment is focused on improving profitability 

by offsetting input cost inflation with price increases, allowing the segment to capture the full benefits of 

ongoing productivity improvements that the segment continues to pursue, including manufacturing and 

supply-chain enhancements and organizational streamlining actions. the market for Meadwestvaco’s 

high-quality paperboard is global. notwithstanding a slowing north american economy, global supply 

and demand for the company’s principal paperboard grades remains balanced as economic expansion 

outside north america, particularly in emerging economies, continues to drive consumption and 

demand for raw materials.

Consumer Solutions  the Consumer solutions segment provides complete packaging solutions to the 

world’s most recognized companies in the beverage and food, tobacco, personal care and healthcare 

industries. Meadwestvaco has targeted these markets because they are large and growing markets in 

which the company has leadership positions. In 2008, the segment is focused on generating significant 

year-over-year profit improvement. the segment is expecting solid overall revenue growth driven by 

personal care and healthcare business and by increased growth in emerging markets. the segment 

also expects contributions to its growth from new products, including natralock®, the segment’s 

paperboard-based plastic clamshell replacement solution; shellpak®, the segment’s adherence 

solution for prescription medications; and the segment’s patented foamer and airless dispensing 

systems. these top-line drivers combined with ongoing productivity actions, including manufacturing 

and supply-chain enhancements, improved sourcing and organizational streamlining, are expected to 

more than offset input cost inflation and market-related declines in the segment’s media business.

Consumer & Office Products  the Consumer & office products segment is expecting performance 

in 2008 to be consistent with that of 2007. the segment generates most of its sales and profits in 

the second half of the year due to the strong seasonal nature of its market-leading school and time 

management products. although the impact of a slowing north american economy on the segment’s 

business is hard to predict at this time, the segment is focused on generating modest year-over-year 

profit growth by increasing sell-through of its higher value proprietary branded products. the benefits 

of improved price and mix from this ongoing initiative in conjunction with continued productivity will be 

partially offset by continued high costs for uncoated paper, the segment’s principal raw material.  

Specialty Chemicals  In 2008, global demand for Meadwestvaco’s pine chemicals, including 

proprietary chemicals used in the production of printing inks, asphalt, adhesives and lubricants, 

is expected to remain solid. price increases, geographic expansion and improved productivity are 

expected to more than offset higher costs for raw materials, mainly crude tall oil, the principal input 

used in the manufacture of pine chemicals, and modest volume declines in the segment’s carbon 

technology business as a result of lower north american auto sales.

Community Development and Land Management Group  In 2007, Meadwestvaco established a new 

division to maximize the value of its remaining 817,000 acres of owned forestlands in the U.s. through 

a new and sustainable business. the Community development and Land Management Group is 

segmenting the company’s forestlands holdings according to highest best use (hbU) to entitle,  
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enhance and/or sub-divide them to achieve maximum value. In 2008, management expects increased 

sales of small tracts at prices generally above traditional forestlands. the exact amount and timing, 

however, are unpredictable due to market dynamics in areas where the business operates and to the 

prolonged sales cycle that is associated with the real estate asset class.   

Cost initiative   as part of the cost initiative launched in 2005 to improve the efficiency of our business 

model, we are continuing to focus on reducing the cost structure across the company by moving 

to a more simplified, standardized global model. we are also reducing our real estate footprint and 

streamlining our warehousing and logistics network. the goal of this initiative was to reduce the overall 

cost structure of the company by $175 million to $200 million, before inflation, on an annual run-rate 

basis by the end of 2007. specific actions were completed in 2007 which resulted in annual run-rate 

savings of $65 million, bringing cumulative run-rate savings through december 31, 2007 to $190 million, 

before inflation. we expect to drive productivity programs to achieve 3% year-over-year improvement.

Other items   capital spending was $347 million in 2007 and is expected to be $330 million to $340 

million in 2008. depreciation, depletion and amortization expense was $520 million in 2007 and is 

expected to be about $500 million in 2008.  

Interest expense was $219 million in 2007 and is expected to be $215 million to $225 million  

in 2008. 

Management currently estimates overall pension income in 2008 to be about $80 million which 

will be derived primarily from the company’s domestic plans. this estimate assumes a discount rate of 

6.25%, a salary increase rate of 4.0% and an expected rate of return on assets of 8.5%. 

recent developments in global credit markets, primarily related to the problems in the subprime 

mortgage market, have not had a material impact on the company’s investments, credit facilities or 

pension surplus. In addition, these developments have not had a material impact on the company’s 

relationships with its current vendors and customers. Management will continue to monitor potential 

changes in the subprime market and related markets which may have an impact on its businesses.

 certain statements in this document and elsewhere by management of the company that are 

neither reported financial results nor other historical information are “forward-looking statements”  

within the meaning of the private securities litigation reform act of 1995. refer to the “Forward-looking 

statements” section later in this document. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

cash generated from operations provided the most significant source of funds for the company in 

2007. cash and cash equivalents totaled $245 million at december 31, 2007 compared to $156 million 

at december 31, 2006. In 2008, the company expects cash flow from operations to continue to be 

sufficient to fund capital expenditures, dividends to shareholders and scheduled debt payments. 

In addition, the company has available a $750 million committed revolving credit facility under an 

agreement that expires in december 2010.  the credit facility was undrawn at december 31, 2007.

Operating activities   cash provided by continuing operations was $641 million in 2007, compared to 

$567 million in 2006 and $305 million in 2005. the increase in operating cash flow in 2007 compared 

to 2006 was primarily attributable to increased earnings and improvements in working capital. net 
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income from continuing operations was $285 million, $93 million and $119 million in 2007, 2006 and 

2005, respectively. see note Q of notes to Financial statements for discussion related to changes in 

working capital. Included in 2005 cash flow from working capital changes were tax payments of $160 

million related to the sale of the printing and writing papers business. there was no cash flow from 

discontinued operations in 2007 and 2006, compared to cash used by discontinued operations of $78 

million in 2005.  

 

Investing activities   cash used in investing activities was $236 million in 2007, compared to cash  

used in investing activities of $761 million in 2006 and cash provided by investing activities of $1,985 

million in 2005. asset sales, including sales of forestlands, generated $191 million of proceeds in 

2007, compared to $165 million in 2006 and $109 million in 2005. capital spending totaled $347 

million in 2007, compared to $302 million in 2006 and $305 million in 2005. proceeds of the sale of a 

debt security generated $109 million of proceeds in 2006. the primary source of funds in 2005 was 

proceeds of $2.2 billion from the sale of the printing and writing papers business.

during 2007, we acquired two manufacturers of high-quality, innovative dispensing and sprayer 

systems to strengthen our primary packaging offerings for a total purchase price of $52 million. during 

2006, we acquired calmar, a leading global manufacturer of high-quality and innovative dispensing and 

spraying systems, with manufacturing facilities in north america, europe, latin america and asia, for 

a total purchase price of $714 million. during 2005, we acquired dZn, the design group, a full-service 

design and marketing company, to enhance Meadwestvaco’s package design capabilities for a total 

purchase price of $5 million. see related discussion in note p of notes to Financial statements.

Financing activities   cash used in financing activities was $339 million in 2007, compared to cash 

provided by financing activities of $35 million in 2006 and cash used in financing activities of $2,181 

million in 2005. 

In 2007, the company entered into an accelerated share repurchase program with a financial 

institution counterparty to purchase $400 million of the company’s common stock.  this program 

was funded by proceeds from sales of forestlands that closed in the third and fourth quarters of 2007.  

under this program, as of december 31, 2007 the company received and retired 11.1 million shares and 

may receive additional shares up to 3 million under the provisions of agreement, which will be no later 

than June 2008. under a separate share repurchase program, the company repurchased 2.6 million 

shares for $86 million in 2007.

In 2007, the company received $338 million in proceeds under a secured financing agreement 

with a bank collateralized by a $398 million installment note received as consideration from the sale of 

forestlands (the “timber note”). under the terms of the agreement, the liability from this transaction is 

non-recourse to Meadwestvaco and shall be paid from the timber note proceeds upon its maturity.  

the non-recourse liability does not require any principal payments until its maturity in october 2027 

and bears interest at a rate approximating the london Interbank offered rate (lIbor). For further 

discussion related to this transaction, see note d of notes to Financial statements.   

the company’s board of directors declared dividends of $0.92 per share, paying a total of $169 

million, $167 million and $178 million of dividends to shareholders for the years ended december 31, 

2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 
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proceeds from the issuance of common stock and exercises of stock options were $162 million,  

$53 million and $36 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

in 2006, the company repurchased and retired 1.3 million shares related to an obligation under 

a share put option to the former owner of a subsidiary. the cash impact of this transaction was 

approximately $47 million. the 1.3 million shares repurchased under the put option were not a reduction 

of the share repurchases authorized by the Board of Directors in 2005. 

in 2005, proceeds received from the sale of the company’s printing and writing papers business 

were used to retire approximately $1 billion in debt and to repurchase approximately 24 million shares 

of outstanding common stock at a cost of $700 million. all of the repurchased shares of common stock 

were retired. in october 2005, the company’s Board of Directors authorized the future repurchase of an 

additional five million shares primarily to avoid dilution of earnings per share related to employee equity 

awards. 

at December 31, 2007, the company had a $750 million bank credit facility that expires in  

December 2010. Borrowings under this agreement can be in unsecured domestic or eurodollar notes 

 and at rates approximating prime or liBoR at the company’s option. the $750 million credit agreement 

contains a financial covenant limiting the percentage of total debt (including deferred taxes and a 

$338 million liability non-recourse to Meadwestvaco) to total capitalization to 55% as well as certain 

other covenants of which the company is in compliance. the revolving credit facility was undrawn at 

December 31, 2007 and 2006. 

 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, the company had $68 million and $211 million of notes payable 

and current maturities of long-term debt and capital lease obligations, respectively. the maximum 

amounts of combined commercial paper outstanding during 2007 and 2006 were $279 million and 

$355 million, respectively. the average amounts of commercial paper outstanding during 2007 and 

2006 were $118 million and $136 million, with an average interest rate of 5.4% and 5.5%, respectively. 

During 2007, the company obtained access to certain uncommitted credit lines. short-term borrowings 

under these agreements were $45 million at December 31, 2007, with interest rates ranging from 5.3% 

to 7.3%. at December 31, 2007 and 2006, approximately 23% and 22% of the company’s long-term 

debt was variable rate, after factoring in the company’s interest-rate swaps. the weighted-average 

interest rate on the company’s fixed-rate long-term debt was approximately 8.7% and approximately 

8.8% for 2007 and 2006, respectively. the weighted-average interest rate on the company’s variable-

rate long-term debt was approximately 5.3% for both 2007 and 2006. the percentage of debt to total 

capital was 39.7% and 42.2% at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

EFFECTS OF INFLATION 

prices for energy, including natural gas, oil and electricity, and input costs for certain raw materials 

and freight, increased significantly in 2007 and 2006. the increase in these costs affected many of the 

company’s businesses. During 2007, the pre-tax input cost of energy, raw materials and freight was 

$141 million higher than in 2006. During 2006, the pre-tax input cost of energy, raw materials and freight 

was $159 million higher than in 2005. 

ENVIRONMENTAL AND LEGAL MATTERS

our operations are subject to extensive regulation by federal, state and local authorities, as well as 

regulatory authorities with jurisdiction over foreign operations of the company. Due to changes in 

112910FS_A_r3_MWV_AR07a_MDA_pgs460   60 3/5/08   3:17:01 PM



61how brands take shape

environmental laws and regulations, the application of such regulations, including those relating to 

global climate change, and changes in environmental control technology, it is not possible for us to 

predict with certainty the amount of capital expenditures to be incurred for environmental purposes. 

taking these uncertainties into account, we estimate that we will incur approximately $26 million in 

environmental capital expenditures in 2008 and approximately $28 million in 2009. approximately  

$19 million was spent on environmental capital projects in 2007. 

we have been notified by the u.s. environmental protection agency (the “epa”) or by various state 

or local governments that we may be liable under federal environmental laws or under applicable state 

or local laws with respect to the cleanup of hazardous substances at sites previously operated or used 

by the company. the company is currently named as a potentially responsible party (“prp”), or has 

received third-party requests for contribution under the comprehensive environmental response, 

compensation and liability act (cercla) and similar state or local laws with respect to numerous 

sites. there are other sites which may contain contamination or which may be potential superfund 

sites, but for which Meadwestvaco has not received any notice or claim. the potential liability for all 

these sites will depend upon several factors, including the extent of contamination, the method of 

remediation, insurance coverage and contribution by other prps. the company regularly evaluates its 

potential liability at these various sites. at december 31, 2007, Meadwestvaco had recorded liabilities 

of approximately $21 million for estimated potential cleanup costs based upon its close monitoring 

of ongoing activities and its past experience with these matters. the company believes that it is 

reasonably possible that costs associated with these sites may exceed amounts of recorded liabilities 

by an amount that could range from an insignificant amount to as much as $20 million. this estimate 

is less certain than the estimate upon which the environmental liabilities were based. after consulting 

with legal counsel and after considering established liabilities, it is our judgment that the resolution of 

pending litigation and proceedings is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the company’s 

consolidated financial condition or liquidity. In any given period or periods, however, it is possible such 

proceedings or matters could have a material effect on the results of operations. 

as with numerous other large industrial companies, the company has been named a defendant 

in asbestos-related personal injury litigation. typically, these suits also name many other corporate 

defendants. all of the claims against the company resolved to date have been concluded before trial, 

either through dismissal or through settlement with payments to the plaintiff that are not material to 

the company. to date, the costs resulting from the litigation, including settlement costs, have not been 

significant. as of december 31, 2007, there were approximately 350 lawsuits. Management believes that 

the company has substantial indemnification protection and insurance coverage, subject to applicable 

deductibles and policy limits, with respect to asbestos claims. the company has valid defenses to 

these claims and intends to continue to defend them vigorously. additionally, based on its historical 

experience in asbestos cases and an analysis of the current cases, the company believes that it has 

adequate amounts accrued for potential settlements and judgments in asbestos-related litigation. 

at december 31, 2007, the company had recorded litigation liabilities of approximately $19 million, 

a significant portion of which relates to asbestos. should the volume of litigation grow substantially, 

it is possible that the company could incur significant costs resolving these cases. after consulting 

with legal counsel and after considering established liabilities, it is our judgment that the resolution of 

pending litigation and proceedings is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the company’s 
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consolidated financial condition or liquidity. In any given period or periods, however, it is possible such 

proceedings or matters could have a material effect on the results of operations. 

the company is involved in various other litigation and administrative proceedings arising in the 

normal course of business. although the ultimate outcome of such matters cannot be predicted with 

certainty, management does not believe that the currently expected outcome of any matter, lawsuit or 

claim that is pending or threatened, or all of them combined, will have a material adverse effect on the 

company’s consolidated financial condition or liquidity. In any given period or periods, however, it is 

possible such proceedings or matters could have a material effect on the results of operations. 

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 

the company enters into various contractual obligations throughout the year. presented below are 

the contractual obligations of the company as of december 31, 2007, and the time period in which 

payments under the obligations are due. disclosures related to long-term debt, capital lease obligations 

and operating lease obligations are included in the notes to Financial statements. also included below 

are disclosures regarding the amounts due under purchase obligations. purchase obligation is defined 

as an agreement to purchase goods or services that is enforceable and legally binding on the company 

and that specifies all significant terms, including fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, 

minimum or variable price provisions; and the approximate timing of the transaction. 

the company has included in the disclosure below all normal and recurring purchase orders, 

take-or-pay contracts, supply arrangements as well as other purchase commitments that management 

believes meet the definition of purchase obligations above. 

 payments due by period

	 	 	 	 	 	 Less	than	 1–3		 3–5	 More	than
	 	 	 	 	 	 1	year	 years	2009		 years	2011	 5	years	2013
In millions	 Total	 2008	 and	2010	 and	2012	 and	beyond

Contractual	Obligations:
	 	 Debt,	excluding	
	 	 	 capital	lease	obligations	 $2,291	 $	 	 	65	 $	 81	 $	 	663	 $1,482
	 	 Interest	on	debt1	 2,871	 167	 328	 289	 2,087
	 	 Capital	lease	obligations2	 375	 14	 25	 21	 315
	 	 Operating	leases	 368	 49	 83	 68	 168
	 	 Purchase	obligations	 1,075	 668	 150	 43	 214
	 	 Other	long-term	obligations3,4	 525	 58	 103	 90	 274

	 	 	 	 Total	 $7,505	 $1,021	 $770	 $1,174	 $4,540

1 amounts are based on weighted-average interest rates of 8.1% for fixed-rate long-term debt and 5.2% for variable-rate 
long-term debt for 2008. the weighted-average interest rates for years 2009 and thereafter are 8.8% for fixed-rate  
long-term debt and 5.3% for variable-rate long-term debt.

2 amounts include both principal and interest payments.
3 total excludes a $338 million liability that is non-recourse to Meadwestvaco. see related discussion in note d of notes 

to Financial statements.
4 total excludes $151 million of unrecognized tax benefits and $57 million of related accrued interest and penalties due to 

the uncertainty of timing of payment.  see note n of notes to Financial statements for additional information. 
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SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS 

Forestlands sales  on september 24, 2007, the company completed the sale of approximately  

62,000 acres of west virginia forestlands for $93 million. the transaction resulted in a pre-tax gain of 

$83 million, or $0.28 per share, and is included in other income, net in the consolidated statements  

of operations. 

on october 9, 2007, the company completed the sale of approximately 228,000 acres of owned 

forestlands and approximately 95,000 acres under long-term timber contracts in alabama and georgia 

for $400 million principally in the form of a long-term installment note supported by an irrevocable letter 

of credit from a bank obtained by the buyer of the forestlands. the transaction resulted in a pre-tax gain 

of $167 million, or $0.56 per share, and is included in other income, net in the consolidated statements 

of operations. the definitive agreement includes a long-term fiber supply agreement under which fiber 

will be sold to the company at market prices.  

see note b of notes to Financial statements for further discussion of these transactions.

Accelerated share repurchase program  on november 20, 2007, the company entered into an 

accelerated share repurchase agreement with a financial institution counterparty (the “counterparty”) to 

purchase $400 million of Meadwestvaco’s common stock. this program was funded by proceeds from 

sales of forestlands that closed in the third and fourth quarters of 2007. the agreement is a collared 

transaction in which the company agreed to purchase for $400 million a number of its shares to be 

determined based on the volume weighted-average price of its common stock during a specified period 

of time, subject to certain provisions that establish minimum and maximum numbers of shares that 

may be purchased. the hedge period for determining the minimum and maximum numbers of shares 

to be purchased ended on december 14, 2007, resulting in a minimum number of shares of 11.1 million 

and a maximum number of shares of 14 million. on november 21, 2007 and december 14, 2007, the 

counterparty delivered 10 million shares and 1.1 million shares, respectively. accordingly, the company 

received 11.1 million shares through december 31, 2007, equivalent to the minimum number of shares 

to be delivered. at the conclusion of the program, which will be no later than June 2008, the company 

may receive additional shares up to the maximum number of 14 million for no additional payment. In 

certain extraordinary events that result in a substantial increase in the company’s stock price during a 

specified period of time up to a period of six months from the inception of the agreement, the company 

may be required to return some of the shares it received to the counterparty. the purchased shares 

through december 31, 2007 were retired and recorded as a $400 million reduction to additional paid-in 

capital in the consolidated balance sheet pursuant to regulations of the state of delaware, the state of 

incorporation of Meadwestvaco, and the approval by the company’s board of directors.
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Restructuring charges 

Year ended December 31, 2007  For the year ended december 31, 2007, the company recorded pre-tax 

charges of $85 million for employee separation costs, asset write-downs and other restructuring actions, 

of which $57 million, $24 million and $4 million were recorded within cost of sales, selling, general and 

administrative expenses, and other income, net, respectively. In the fourth quarter of 2007, the company 

recorded pre-tax charges of $41 million, of which $33 million, $6 million and $2 million were recorded 

within cost of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses, and other income, net, respectively. 

although these charges related to individual segments, such amounts are reflected in corporate 

and other for segment reporting purposes. the following table and discussion present additional detail 

of the 2007 charges by business segment: 

 

	 	 	 	 	 	 Asset
	 	 	 	 	 Employee	 write-downs
In millions  costs	 and	other	costs	 Total	

Packaging	Resources	 $	 2	 $	 –	 $	 2	
Consumer	Solutions	 11	 12	 23	
Consumer	&	Office	Products	 2	 3	 5	
All	other	 4	 51	 55	

	
		 	 	 	 	 $19	 $66	 $85
		 		 		

Packaging Resources: during the year ended december 31, 2007, the packaging resources segment 

incurred charges of $2 million for employee separation costs related to approximately 30 employees. 

the majority of the affected employees had separated from the company by december 31, 2007, and 

the remaining employees will be separated in 2008.

Consumer Solutions: during the year ended december 31, 2007, the consumer solutions 

segment incurred charges of $23 million for employee separation costs, asset write-downs and 

other restructuring actions in connection with its packaging converting operations in the u.s. and 

europe. these charges include employee separation costs of $11 million related to approximately 170 

employees. the majority of the affected employees had separated from the company by december 31, 

2007, and the remaining employees will be separated in 2008. the remaining $12 million was related  

to asset write-downs and other restructuring actions. 

Consumer & Office Products: during the year ended december 31, 2007, the consumer & 

office products segment incurred charges of $5 million for employee separation costs, asset write-downs 

and other restructuring actions in connection with its consumer and office products manufacturing 

operations in the u.s. and brazil. these charges include employee separation costs of $2 million 

related to approximately 40 employees. the majority of the affected employees had separated from 
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the company by december 31, 2007, and the remaining employees will be separated in 2008. the 

remaining $3 million was related to asset write-downs and other restructuring actions. 

All other: during the year ended december 31, 2007, the company also recorded charges of 

approximately $4 million related to employee separation costs covering approximately 60 employees. 

the majority of the affected employees had separated from the company by december 31, 2007, and 

the remaining employees will be separated in 2008. additionally, the company incurred charges of 

$51 million in connection with asset write-downs and other restructuring actions, of which $42 million 

was related to asset impairments and facility closure costs in connection with the company’s specialty 

papers business.

	

Year ended December 31, 2006  For the year ended december 31, 2006, the company recorded 

pre-tax charges of $133 million in connection with employee separation costs, asset write-downs and 

other restructuring actions, of which $53 million, $60 million and $20 million were recorded within 

cost of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses, and other income, net, respectively. of 

these charges, $27 million was related to the packaging resources segment, $30 million was related 

to the consumer solutions segment and $8 million was related to the consumer & office products 

segment. these charges related primarily to closing of a consumer solutions packaging and converting 

plant in the u.s. and various restructuring actions in the packaging resources, consumer solutions, 

and consumer & office products segments in the u.s. and europe, including asset impairments and 

employee separation costs covering approximately 1,340 employees. as of december 31, 2007, actions 

related to employee separation costs were substantially paid. In addition, $68 million was related 

to corporate and other of which $49 million was in connection with asset write-downs and other 

restructuring actions associated with ceased-use facilities and asset impairments.

Year ended December 31, 2005  For the year ended december 31, 2005, the company recorded pre-

tax charges of $29 million for employee separation costs, asset write-downs and other restructuring 

actions, of which $18 million and $11 million were recorded within cost of sales and selling, general 

and administration expenses, respectively. of these charges, $3 million was related to the packaging 

resources segment, $11 million was related to the consumer solutions segment, $8 million was related 

to the consumer & office products segment, and $9 million was related to corporate and other. 

these charges included the closing of a consumer solutions converting plant in the u.s. and various 

other restructuring actions in the packaging resources, consumer solutions, and consumer & office 

products segments in the u.s. and europe, including asset impairments and employee separation costs 

covering approximately 300 employees. the company also recorded employee separation costs of 

$6 million in corporate and other covering approximately 190 employees. as of december 31, 2006, 

actions related to employee separation costs were substantially paid. In addition, the company sold 

previously written-down consumer & office products assets, resulting in a gain of $2 million.
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Acquisitions and dispositions

2007 acquisitions   during the third quarter of 2007, the company acquired two manufacturers of high-

quality, innovative dispensing and sprayer systems to strengthen the company’s primary packaging 

business. these acquisitions provide the company with new technologies and increased access to 

customers in growing and important end markets. the technologies from these acquisitions will be 

integrated with the company’s north american, european and asian production facilities to extend 

the company’s growth in critical markets such as personal care and home and garden. the aggregate 

purchase price of these acquisitions including direct transaction costs was $52 million.

2006 acquisitions  during the third quarter of 2006, the company acquired saint-gobain calmar 

(“calmar”) from compagnie de saint-gobain. calmar is a leading global manufacturer of high-quality 

and innovative dispensing and spraying systems, with manufacturing facilities in north america, europe, 

latin america and asia. the acquisition of calmar provides the company with increased access to 

growing and important end markets, geographies and strategic customers, valuable product pipeline 

and commercial synergies. these synergies include the combined entities’ ability to provide broader 

product and packaging solutions offerings. excluding cash acquired, the purchase price including direct 

transaction costs was $714 million. 

Discontinued operations  In connection with the sale of the company’s printing and papers writing 

business that occurred in 2005, the company recorded an after-tax loss from discontinued operations 

of $91 million for the year ended december 31, 2005. results for 2005 were negatively impacted by 

sales-related costs, including lease termination charges; asset impairments; debt extinguishment costs; 

pension settlement and curtailment losses; and other related costs included in discontinued operations. 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

our principal accounting policies are described in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

in the accompanying notes to Financial statements. the preparation of financial statements in 

accordance with gaap requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 

reported amounts of some assets and liabilities and, in some instances, the reported amounts of 

revenues and expenses during the reporting period. actual results could differ from these estimates. 

Management believes the accounting policies discussed below represent those accounting policies 

requiring the exercise of judgment where a different set of judgments could result in the greatest 

changes to reported results. Management has discussed the development and selection of the critical 

accounting estimates with the audit committee of the board of directors, and the audit committee  

has reviewed the company’s disclosure. 

Environmental and legal liabilities: we record accruals for estimated environmental liabilities when 

remedial efforts are probable and the costs can be reasonably estimated. these estimates reflect 

assumptions and judgments as to the probable nature, magnitude and timing of required investigation, 

remediation and monitoring activities, as well as availability of insurance coverage and contribution 

by other potentially responsible parties. due to the numerous uncertainties and variables associated 

with these assumptions and judgments, and changes in governmental regulations and environmental 
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technologies, accruals are subject to substantial uncertainties, and actual costs could be materially 

greater or less than the estimated amounts. we record accruals for other legal contingencies, which 

are also subject to numerous uncertainties and variables associated with assumptions and judgments, 

when the loss is probable and reasonably estimable. liabilities recorded for claims are limited to 

pending cases based on the company’s historical experience, consultation with outside counsel and 

consultation with an actuarial specialist concerning the feasibility of reasonably estimating liabilities 

associated with claims that may arise in the future. we recognize insurance recoveries when collection 

is reasonably assured. 

Restructuring and other charges: we periodically record charges for the reduction of our  

workforce, the closure of manufacturing facilities and other actions related to business improvement 

and productivity initiatives. these events require estimates of liabilities for employee separation 

payments and related benefits, demolition, facility closures and other costs, which could differ from 

actual costs incurred.

Pension and postretirement benefits: In august 2006, the president signed into law the pension 

protection act of 2006 (“ppa”). the ppa establishes new minimum funding rules for defined benefit 

pension plans beginning in 2008. the company does not anticipate any required funding to the 

u.s. qualified retirement plans in the foreseeable future as a result of this legislation and due to the 

overfunded status of the plans. 

In september 2006, the Financial accounting standards board (Fasb) issued sFas no. 158, 

Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans—An Amendment 

of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R). sFas no. 158 requires an employer to recognize the 

overfunded or underfunded status of a defined benefit postretirement plan in its balance sheet and to 

recognize the changes in the plan’s funded status in comprehensive income in the year in which the 

change occurs. these provisions of the statement are effective as of the end of the first fiscal year 

ending after december 15, 2006. sFas no. 158 also requires an employer to measure the funded status 

of a plan as of the date of its fiscal year end, which is consistent with the company’s measurement date. 

the impact of adopting sFas no. 158 as of december 31, 2006, was an increase to accumulated other 

comprehensive loss in the amount of $57 million, net of tax, which principally represents the impact of 

recognizing previously unrecognized prior service cost and net actuarial losses. 

assumptions used in the determination of net pension cost and postretirement benefit expense, 

including the discount rate, the expected return on plan assets, and increases in future compensation 

and medical costs, are evaluated by the company, reviewed with the plan actuaries annually and 

updated as appropriate. actual asset returns and compensation and medical costs, which are more 

favorable than assumptions, can have the effect of lowering expense and cash contributions, and, 

conversely, actual results, which are less favorable than assumptions, could increase expense and cash 

contributions. In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, actual results that differ 

from assumptions are accumulated and amortized over future periods and, therefore, affect expense in 

such future periods. 

In 2007, the company recorded pre-tax pension income before settlements, curtailments and 

termination benefits of $54 million, compared to $50 million in 2006 and $67 million in 2005. the 

company currently estimates overall pre-tax pension income in 2008 will increase by approximately  

$25 million, reflecting normal growth in service and interest cost off-set by asset returns, as well as 
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actuarial gains related to favorable demographic assumption variances. the estimate assumes a long-

term rate of return on plan assets of 8.50%, and a discount rate of 6.25%. the company determined the 

discount rate by referencing the citigroup pension discount curve. the company believes that using a 

yield curve approach more accurately reflects changes in the present value of liabilities over time since 

each cash flow is discounted at the rate at which it could effectively be settled. previously, the company 

referenced indices for long-term, high quality bonds, ensuring that the durations of those indices 

were not materially different from the durations of the plans’ liabilities, or if different, that adjusting the 

discount rate would not have produced results that were materially different from using a common 

discount rate for all of its plans. 

If the expected rate of return on plan assets were to change by 0.5%, annual pension income in 

2008 would change by approximately $16 million. similarly, if the discount rate were to change by 0.5%, 

annual pension income would change by approximately $0.5 million.

at december 31, 2007, the aggregate value of pension fund assets had increased to $3.5 billion 

from $3.4 billion at december 31, 2006, reflecting overall equity and fixed income market performance.

prior service cost and actuarial gains and losses in the retirement and postretirement benefit plans 

subject to amortization are amortized over the average remaining service periods, which are about 10 

years and 5 years, respectively, and are a component of accumulated other comprehensive income. In 

2004, the company modified certain postretirement healthcare benefits to be provided to future retirees. 

this change reduced the postretirement benefit obligation by approximately $68 million, and is being 

amortized over the remaining life of the eligible employees, which is approximately 24 years. 

Long-lived assets useful lives: useful lives of tangible and intangible assets are based on 

management’s estimates of the periods over which the assets will be productively utilized in the 

revenue-generation process or for other useful purposes. Factors that affect the determination of lives 

include prior experience with similar assets, product life expectations and industry practices. the 

determination of useful lives dictates the period over which tangible and intangible long-lived assets are 

depreciated or amortized, typically using the straight-line method. 

Tangible assets: we review long-lived assets other than goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible 

assets for impairment in accordance with sFas no. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal 

of Long-lived Assets. the statement requires that long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be 

recoverable. the review for impairment involves management to predict the estimated cash flows that 

will be generated by the long-lived asset over its remaining estimated useful life. considerable judgment 

must be exercised as to determining future cash flows and their timing and, possibly, choosing business 

value comparables or selecting discount rates to use in any value computations. 

Intangible assets: business acquisitions often result in recording intangible assets. Intangible assets 

are recognized at the time of an acquisition, based upon their fair value. similar to long-lived tangible 

assets, intangible assets are subject to periodic impairment reviews whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. as with tangible 

assets, considerable judgment must be exercised. 

Goodwill: goodwill arises in business combinations when the purchase price of assets acquired 

exceeds the appraised value. as with tangible and other intangible assets, periodic impairment reviews 
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are required, at least annually, as well as when events or circumstances change. as with its review of 

impairment of tangible and intangible assets, management uses judgment in assessing goodwill for 

impairment. we will review the recorded value of our goodwill annually in the fourth quarter or sooner, if 

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may exceed fair value. the review 

for impairment requires management to predict the estimated cash flows that will be generated by the 

long-lived asset over its remaining estimated useful life. considerable judgment must be exercised in 

determining future cash flows and their timing and, possibly, choosing business value comparables or 

selecting discount rates to be used in any value computations. 

Revenue recognition: we recognize revenue at the point when title and the risk of ownership 

passes to the customer. substantially all of our revenues are generated through product sales, and 

shipping terms generally indicate when title and the risk of ownership have passed. revenue is 

recognized at shipment for sales when shipping terms are Fob (free on board) shipping point unless 

risk of loss is maintained under freight terms. For sales where shipping terms are Fob destination, 

revenue is recognized when the goods are received by the customer. we provide for all allowances 

for estimated returns and other customer credits such as discounts and volume rebates, when the 

revenue is recognized, based on historical experience, current trends and any notification of pending 

returns. the customer allowances are, in many instances, subjective and are determined with significant 

management judgment and are reviewed regularly to determine the adequacy of the amounts. changes 

in economic conditions, markets and customer relationships may require adjustments to these 

allowances from period to period. also included in net sales is service revenue which is recognized as 

the service is performed. revenue is recognized for leased equipment to customers on a straight-line 

basis over the estimated term of the lease and is included in net sales of the company. 

Income taxes: Income taxes are accounted for in accordance with sFas no. 109, Accounting for 

Income Taxes, which recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the estimated future tax 

effects of differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities given the 

enacted tax laws. 

we evaluate the need for a deferred tax asset valuation allowance by assessing whether it is more 

likely than not that the company will realize its deferred tax assets in the future. the assessment of 

whether or not a valuation allowance is required often requires significant judgment, including the 

forecast of future taxable income and the valuation of tax planning initiatives. adjustments to the 

deferred tax valuation allowance are made to earnings in the period when such assessment is made. 

the company has tax jurisdictions located in many areas of the world and is subject to audit 

in these jurisdictions. tax audits by their nature are often complex and can require several years to 

resolve. In the preparation of the company’s financial statements, management exercises judgments in 

estimating the potential exposure to unresolved tax matters and applies the guidance pursuant to FIn 

48 which employs a more likely than not criteria approach for recording tax benefits related to uncertain 

tax positions. while actual results could vary, in management’s judgment, the company has adequate 

tax accruals with respect to the ultimate outcome of such unresolved tax matters.  

each quarter, management must estimate our effective tax rate for the full year. this estimate 

includes assumptions about the level of income that will be achieved for the full year in both our 

domestic and international operations. the forecast of full-year earnings includes assumptions about 

112910FS_A_r1_MWV_AR07a_MDA_pgs469   69 3/4/08   5:34:30 PM



ManageMent’s Discussion anD analysis

Mwv 2007 annual RepoRt70

markets in each of our businesses as well as the timing of certain transactions, including forestlands 

sales gains and restructuring charges. should business performance or the timing of certain 

transactions change during the year, the level of income achieved may not meet the level of income 

estimated earlier in the year at interim periods. this change in the income levels and mix of earnings can 

result in significant adjustments to the tax provision in the quarter in which the estimate is refined. 

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

in March 2005, the securities and exchange commission (“sec”) issued staff accounting Bulletin 

(“saB”) no. 107, Share-Based Payment. saB no. 107 addresses the interaction between sFas no. 

123(R) and certain sec rules and regulations and provides the sec staff’s views regarding the valuation 

of share-based payment arrangements for public companies. the company followed the interpretive 

guidance set forth in saB no. 107 during its adoption of sFas no. 123(R). 

in May 2005, the FasB issued sFas no. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, which 

replaces accounting principles Board (apB) opinion no. 20, Accounting Changes, and sFas no. 

3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements—An Amendment of APB Opinion 

No. 28. sFas no. 154 provides guidance on the accounting for and reporting of accounting changes 

and error corrections. it establishes retrospective application, unless impracticable, as the required 

method for reporting a change in accounting principle and the reporting of a correction of an error and 

for reporting a change when retrospective application is impracticable. sFas no. 154 is effective for 

accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005, 

and was adopted by the company in the first quarter of 2006. the adoption of sFas no. 154 did not 

have an impact on the company’s consolidated financial statements. 

in July 2006, the FasB issued interpretation no. 48 (“Fin 48”), Accounting for Uncertainty in 

Income Taxes, which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the financial 

statements in accordance with sFas no. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Fin 48 prescribes 

a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and 

measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. it also provides guidance 

on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and 

transition. this interpretation is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. the 

cumulative effect of applying Fin 48 was recorded as an adjustment to retained earnings as of the 

beginning of the period of adoption. see note n of notes to Financial statements for discussion of the 

effects of this accounting change.

in september 2006, the FasB issued sFas no. 157, Fair Value Measurements. sFas no. 157 

defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair 

value measurements. this statement does not require any new fair value measurements, but applies 

to existing accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurement as the relevant 

measurement attribute. this statement is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years 

beginning after november 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years and is to be applied 

prospectively as of the beginning of the year in which it is initially applied. the company is currently 

evaluating the provisions of this statement. 
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In september 2006, the Fasb issued sFas no. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension 

and Other Postretirement Plans—An Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R). 

sFas no. 158 requires an employer to recognize the overfunded or underfunded status of a defined 

benefit postretirement plan in its balance sheet and to recognize the changes in the plan’s funded status 

in comprehensive income in the year in which the change occurs. these provisions of the statement 

are effective as of the end of the first fiscal year ending after december 15, 2006. sFas no. 158 also 

requires an employer to measure the funded status of a plan as of the date of its fiscal year end, which 

is the company’s measurement date. pursuant to the statement’s adoption, the net after-tax charge to 

accumulated other comprehensive loss in the fourth quarter of 2006 was $57 million. this adjustment 

principally represents the recognition of previously unrecognized prior service costs and net actuarial 

losses and the impact of recording additional minimum liabilities for certain under-funded plans. this 

statement will not affect the company’s funding obligations under the employee retirement Income 

security act of 1974 (erIsa) and we do not currently anticipate any required company contributions to 

the u.s. qualified retirement plans in the foreseeable future.  

In september 2006, the sec issued sab no. 108, considering the Effects of Prior Year 

Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements. sab no. 108 

requires that public companies utilize a “dual-approach” to assessing the quantitative effects of financial 

misstatements. this dual approach includes both an income statement focused assessment and a 

balance sheet focused assessment. the guidance in sab no. 108 must be applied to annual financial 

statements for fiscal years ending after november 15, 2006. the adoption of sab no. 108 did not have 

an effect on the company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations. 

In February 2007, the Fasb issued sFas no. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and 

Financial Liabilities—Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115. this statement permits 

an entity to measure certain financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value, which would result in 

the reporting of unrealized gains and losses in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. the fair 

value option may be elected on an instrument-by-instrument basis, with few exceptions, as long as 

it is applied to the instrument in its entirety. the statement establishes presentation and disclosure 

requirements to help financial statement users understand the effect of an entity’s election on its 

earnings, but does not eliminate the disclosure requirements of other accounting standards. this 

statement will be effective as of the beginning of the first fiscal year that begins after november 15, 

2007, and is to be applied prospectively as of the beginning of the year in which it is initially applied.  

the company is currently evaluating the provisions of this statement. 

In december 2007, the Fasb issued sFas no. 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations (“sFas 

no. 141(r)”). this statement replaces sFas no. 141, Business Combinations, and requires an acquirer 

to recognize the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, including those arising from contractual 

contingencies, any contingent consideration, and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree at the 

acquisition date, measured at their fair values as of that date, with limited exceptions specified in the 

statement. sFas no. 141(r) also requires the acquirer in a business combination achieved in stages 

(sometimes referred to as a step acquisition) to recognize the identifiable assets and liabilities, as well 

as the noncontrolling interest in the acquiree, at the full amounts of their fair values (or other amounts 
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determined in accordance with sFas no. 141(r)). In addition, sFas no. 141(r)’s requirement to 

measure the noncontrolling interest in the acquiree at fair value will result in recognizing the goodwill 

attributable to the noncontrolling interest in addition to that attributable to the acquirer. sFas no. 

141(r) applies prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the 

beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after december 15, 2008. 

In december 2007, the Fasb issued sFas no. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated 

Financial Statements. sFas no. 160 amends accounting research bulletin 51, Consolidated Financial 

Statements, to establish accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a 

subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. this statement clarifies that a noncontrolling 

interest in a subsidiary is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as 

equity in the consolidated financial statements. sFas no. 160 also changes the way the consolidated 

income statement is presented by requiring consolidated net income to be reported at amounts that 

include the amounts attributable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest, and requires 

disclosure on the face of the consolidated statements of operations of the amounts of consolidated net 

income attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest. sFas no. 160 is effective for fiscal 

periods, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or after december 15, 2008. the 

company is currently assessing the potential impact that the adoption of sFas no. 160 could have on 

its consolidated financial statements. 

there were no other accounting standards issued in 2007 that had or are expected to have a 

material impact on the company’s financial position or results of operations. 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

certain statements in this document and elsewhere by management of the company that are neither 

reported financial results nor other historical information are “forward-looking statements” within the 

meaning of the private securities litigation reform act of 1995. such information includes, without 

limitation, the business outlook, assessment of market conditions, anticipated financial and operating 

results, strategies, future plans, contingencies and contemplated transactions of the company. such 

forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to known and 

unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause or contribute to actual results of 

company operations, or the performance of achievements of each company, or industry results, to differ 

materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. In addition to any such 

risks, uncertainties and other factors discussed elsewhere herein, risks, uncertainties, and other factors 

that could cause or contribute to actual results differing materially from those expressed or implied 

for the forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, events or circumstances which 

affect the ability of Meadwestvaco to realize improvements in operating earnings from the company’s 

ongoing cost reduction initiatives; the reorganization of the company’s packaging business units; 

competitive pricing for the company’s products; changes in raw materials pricing; energy and other 

costs; fluctuations in demand and changes in production capacities; changes to economic growth in 

the united states and international economies; government policies and regulations, including, but not 

limited to those affecting the environment and the tobacco industry; the company’s continued ability 

to reach agreement with its unionized employees on collective bargaining agreements; the company’s 

ability to execute its plans to divest or otherwise realize the greater value associated with its forestlands; 

adverse results in current or future litigation; currency movements; and other risk factors discussed in 

the company’s annual report on Form 10-k for the year ended december 31, 2007, and in other filings 

made from time to time with the sec. Meadwestvaco undertakes no obligation to publicly update any 

forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. Investors 

are advised, however, to consult any further disclosures made on related subjects in the company’s 

reports filed with the sec.
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    Years ended December 31 

in millions, except per share data	 2007		 2006		 	2005	
	

Net	sales	 $6,906	 $6,530	 $6,170

Cost	of	sales	 5,710	 5,399	 5,087	
Selling,	general	and	administrative	expenses	 882	 905	 756	
Interest	expense	 219	 211	 208	
Other	income,	net	 (305)	 (83)	 (16)
		 	 		 	
Income	from	continuing	operations	before	income	taxes	 400	 98	 135	
Income	tax	provision	 115	 5	 16	
		 	 		 	
Income	from	continuing	operations	 285	 93	 119	
Discontinued	operations	 –	 –	 (91)
		 	 		 	
Net	income		 $	 	285	 $	 	 	93	 $	 	 	28	
		 	 		 	
Net	income	per	share—basic	and	diluted:	 	 		 	
	 	 Income	from	continuing	operations	 $	 1.56	 $	 0.52	 $	 0.62	
	 	 Discontinued	operations	 –	 –	 (0.48)
		 	 		 	
	 	 Net	income	 $	 1.56	 $	 0.52	 $	 0.14	
		 	 		 	
Shares	used	to	compute	net	income	per	share:	 	 		 	
	 	 Basic	 182.6	 180.8	 191.7	
	 	 Diluted	 183.6	 181.2	 192.7	

conSoliDateD StatementS oF opeRationS

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
meadwestvaco corporation and consolidated subsidiary companies 
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 December 31 

in millions, except share and per share data	 	 2007		 2006	
	
Assets	 		 	
Cash	and	cash	equivalents		 	 $	 	245	 $	 	156
Accounts	receivable,	net	 	 1,009	 1,011
Inventories		 	 790	 715	
Other	current	assets		 	 123	 133	
		 	 	
	 	 Current	assets	 	 2,167	 2,015	
	 	
Property,	plant,	equipment	and	forestlands,	net		 	 4,211	 4,523	
	 	
Prepaid	pension	asset	 	 1,213	 920	
Goodwill		 	 840	 851	
Other	assets		 	 1,406	 976	
		 	 	
		 	 	 	 	 	 $9,837	 $9,285
		 	 	

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity	 	 	
Accounts	payable		 	 $	 	640	 $	 	552	
Accrued	expenses	 	 747	 702	
Notes	payable	and	current	maturities	of	long-term	debt	 	 68	 211	
		 	 	
	 	 Current	liabilities	 	 1,455	 1,465	
	 	
Long-term	debt		 	 2,375	 2,372	
Other	long-term	obligations	 	 1,071	 738	
Deferred	income	taxes	 	 1,228	 1,177	
	 	
Commitments	and	Contingencies	 		 	
	 	
Shareholders’	equity:	 		 	
	 	 Common	stock,	$0.01	par	 		 	
	 	 	 Shares	authorized:	600,000,000	 		 	
	 	 	 Shares	issued	and	outstanding:	
	 	 	 	 2007—173,839,186	(2006—182,107,136)		 	 2	 2	
	 	 Additional	paid-in	capital		 	 3,080	 3,370	
	 	 Retained	earnings		 	 276	 168	
	 	 Accumulated	other	comprehensive	income	(loss)		 	 350	 (7)
		 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 3,708	 3,533	
		 	 	
		 	 	 	 	 	 $9,837	 $9,285
		 		 	

conSoliDateD balance SheetS

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
meadwestvaco corporation and consolidated subsidiary companies 
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	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Additional	 	 Accumulated	other		 Total
	 	 	 	 	 Outstanding	 Common	 paid-in	 Retained	 comprehensive	 shareholders’
in millions	 shares	 	stock	 capital	 earnings	 income	(loss)	 equity

Balance	at	December	31,	2004	 203.9	 $2	 $3,952	 $	394		 $	(31)	 $4,317
	 Comprehensive	income:	
	 	 Net	income	 –			 –			 –	 28		 –		 28
	 	 Foreign	currency	translation	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (20)	 (20)
	 	 Minimum	pension	liability	adjustment	 –	 –	 –	 –	 2		 2
	 	 Unrealized	gain	on	derivative	instruments,	net	 –	 –	 –	 –	 2		 2
	 	 Unrealized	loss	on	investment	in	debt	security,	net	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (9)	 (9)
	 	 	 Comprehensive	income	 	 	 		 		 	 3
	 Tax	benefit	on	nonqualified	stock	options	 –	 –	 2			 –	 –	 2
	 Cash	dividends	 –	 –	 –	 (178)	 –		 (178)
	 Foreign	operations	concurrent	reporting		 –	 –	 –	 (1)	 –	 (1)
	 Restricted	stock	grants	issued	 0.3	 –		 8			 –	 –	 8
	 Stock	repurchased	 (23.9)	 –	 (701)	 –	 –	 (701)
	 Share	put	option	 (0.3)	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –
	 Unamortized	restricted	stock	 –	 –	 (3)		 –	 –	 (3)
	 Exercise	of	stock	options	 1.4	 –	 36			 –	 –	 36
	

Balance	at	December	31,	2005	 181.4	 2	 3,294	 243	 (56)	 3,483
	 Comprehensive	income:		 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 Net	income	 –		 –	 –	 93		 –	 93
	 	 Foreign	currency	translation	 –	 –	 –	 –	 109		 109
	 	 Minimum	pension	liability	adjustment	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (7)	 (7)
	 	 Unrealized	loss	on	derivative	instruments,	net	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (5)	 (5)
	 	 Reversal	of	unrealized	loss	on	investment	in	debt	security,	net	 –	 –	 –	 –	 9		 9
	 	 	 Comprehensive	income	 	 			 		 		 	 199
	 Adoption	of	FASB	Statement	No.	158	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (57)	 (57)
	 Tax	benefit	on	nonqualified	stock	options	 –	 –	 2		 –	 –		 2
	 Cash	dividends	 –	 –	 –	 (167)	 –	 (167)
	 Foreign	operations	concurrent	reporting	 –	 –	 –	 (1)	 –	 (1)
	 Share-based	employee	compensation	 –	 –	 21		 –	 –	 21
	 Share	put	option	 (1.3)	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –
	 Exercise	of	stock	options	 2.0	 –	 53		 –	 –	 53
		 			
Balance	at	December	31,	2006	 182.1	 2	 3,370	 168	 (7)	 3,533
	 Comprehensive	income:		 		 		 		 	 	
	 	 Net	income	 –	 –	 –	 285	 –	 285
	 	 Foreign	currency	translation	 –	 –	 –	 –	 187		 187
	 	 Adjustments	related	to	pension	and	other	benefit	plans	 –	 –	 –	 –	 171	 171
	 	 Unrealized	loss	on	derivative	instruments,	net	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (1)	 (1)
	 	 Adoption	of	FASB	Interpretation	No.	48	 –	 –	 –	 (8)	 –	 (8)
	 	 	 Comprehensive	income	 	 	 		 		 	 634
	 Tax	benefit	on	nonqualified	stock	options	 –	 –	 8					 –	 –	 8
	 Cash	dividends	 –	 –	 –	 (169)		 –		 (169)
	 Stock	repurchased	 (13.7)	 –	 (486)	 –	 –	 (486)
	 Share-based	employee	compensation	 –	 –	 26	 –	 –	 26
	 Exercise	of	stock	options	 5.4	 –	 162	 –	 –	 162
		 			
Balance	at	December	31,	2007	 	173.8	 $2	 $3,080	 $	 276	 	 $350	 $3,708
		 									

conSoliDateD StatementS oF ShaReholDeRS’ equitY

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
meadwestvaco corporation and consolidated subsidiary companies 
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	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Additional	 	 Accumulated	other		 Total
	 	 	 	 	 Outstanding	 Common	 paid-in	 Retained	 comprehensive	 shareholders’
in millions	 shares	 	stock	 capital	 earnings	 income	(loss)	 equity

Balance	at	December	31,	2004	 203.9	 $2	 $3,952	 $	394		 $	(31)	 $4,317
	 Comprehensive	income:	
	 	 Net	income	 –			 –			 –	 28		 –		 28
	 	 Foreign	currency	translation	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (20)	 (20)
	 	 Minimum	pension	liability	adjustment	 –	 –	 –	 –	 2		 2
	 	 Unrealized	gain	on	derivative	instruments,	net	 –	 –	 –	 –	 2		 2
	 	 Unrealized	loss	on	investment	in	debt	security,	net	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (9)	 (9)
	 	 	 Comprehensive	income	 	 	 		 		 	 3
	 Tax	benefit	on	nonqualified	stock	options	 –	 –	 2			 –	 –	 2
	 Cash	dividends	 –	 –	 –	 (178)	 –		 (178)
	 Foreign	operations	concurrent	reporting		 –	 –	 –	 (1)	 –	 (1)
	 Restricted	stock	grants	issued	 0.3	 –		 8			 –	 –	 8
	 Stock	repurchased	 (23.9)	 –	 (701)	 –	 –	 (701)
	 Share	put	option	 (0.3)	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –
	 Unamortized	restricted	stock	 –	 –	 (3)		 –	 –	 (3)
	 Exercise	of	stock	options	 1.4	 –	 36			 –	 –	 36
	

Balance	at	December	31,	2005	 181.4	 2	 3,294	 243	 (56)	 3,483
	 Comprehensive	income:		 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 Net	income	 –		 –	 –	 93		 –	 93
	 	 Foreign	currency	translation	 –	 –	 –	 –	 109		 109
	 	 Minimum	pension	liability	adjustment	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (7)	 (7)
	 	 Unrealized	loss	on	derivative	instruments,	net	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (5)	 (5)
	 	 Reversal	of	unrealized	loss	on	investment	in	debt	security,	net	 –	 –	 –	 –	 9		 9
	 	 	 Comprehensive	income	 	 			 		 		 	 199
	 Adoption	of	FASB	Statement	No.	158	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (57)	 (57)
	 Tax	benefit	on	nonqualified	stock	options	 –	 –	 2		 –	 –		 2
	 Cash	dividends	 –	 –	 –	 (167)	 –	 (167)
	 Foreign	operations	concurrent	reporting	 –	 –	 –	 (1)	 –	 (1)
	 Share-based	employee	compensation	 –	 –	 21		 –	 –	 21
	 Share	put	option	 (1.3)	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –
	 Exercise	of	stock	options	 2.0	 –	 53		 –	 –	 53
		 			
Balance	at	December	31,	2006	 182.1	 2	 3,370	 168	 (7)	 3,533
	 Comprehensive	income:		 		 		 		 	 	
	 	 Net	income	 –	 –	 –	 285	 –	 285
	 	 Foreign	currency	translation	 –	 –	 –	 –	 187		 187
	 	 Adjustments	related	to	pension	and	other	benefit	plans	 –	 –	 –	 –	 171	 171
	 	 Unrealized	loss	on	derivative	instruments,	net	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (1)	 (1)
	 	 Adoption	of	FASB	Interpretation	No.	48	 –	 –	 –	 (8)	 –	 (8)
	 	 	 Comprehensive	income	 	 	 		 		 	 634
	 Tax	benefit	on	nonqualified	stock	options	 –	 –	 8					 –	 –	 8
	 Cash	dividends	 –	 –	 –	 (169)		 –		 (169)
	 Stock	repurchased	 (13.7)	 –	 (486)	 –	 –	 (486)
	 Share-based	employee	compensation	 –	 –	 26	 –	 –	 26
	 Exercise	of	stock	options	 5.4	 –	 162	 –	 –	 162
		 			
Balance	at	December	31,	2007	 	173.8	 $2	 $3,080	 $	 276	 	 $350	 $3,708
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 Years ended December 31

in millions	 2007	 2006	 2005

Cash flows from operating activities
	 Net	income	 $	285		 	$ 		 93		 $	 		 28	
	 Discontinued	operations	 	–		 –		 	91	
	 Adjustments	to	reconcile	net	income		
	 	to	net	cash	provided	by	operating	activities:
	 	 Depreciation,	depletion	and	amortization	 	520		 	517		 	491
	 	 Deferred	income	taxes	 	(13)	 	(56)	 	(17)
	 	 Gains	on	sales	of	assets	 	(274)	 	(60)	 	(56)
	 	 Gain	on	sale	of	debt	security	 	–		 	(21)	 –
	 	 Loss	on	early	retirement	of	long-term	debt	 	–		 	–		 	90	
	 	 Pension	income	before	settlements,	curtailments	
	 	 	and	termination	benefits	 	(54)	 	(50)	 	(67)
	 	 Impairment	of	long-lived	assets	 	46		 	43		 10	
	 	 Appreciation	of	cash	surrender	value	policies	 	(33)	 	(32)	 	(12)
	 	 Changes	in	working	capital,	excluding	the	
	 	 	effects	of	acquisitions	and	dispositions	 	143		 	129		 	(271)
	 	 Other,	net	 	21		 	4		 	18	

	 	 	 Net	cash	provided	by	operating	activities	
	 	 	 	of	continuing	operations	 	641		 	567		 	305	
	 	 	 Discontinued	operations	 –		 –		 	(78)

	 	 	 Net	cash	provided	by	operating	activities		 	641		 	567		 	227	

Cash flows from investing activities
	 Additions	to	property,	plant	and	equipment	 	(347)	 	(302)	 	(305)
	 Payments	for	acquired	businesses,	
	 	net	of	cash	acquired	 	(52)	 	(714)	 	(5)
	 Proceeds	from	sale	of	business	 	–		 –		 	2,186	
	 Proceeds	from	sale	of	debt	security	 	–		 	109		 –
	 Proceeds	from	dispositions	of	assets	 	191		 	165		 	109	
	 Contribution	to	joint	venture	 	(13)	 –		 –
	 Sale	of	short-term	investments	 	–		 	–		 	5	
	 Other	 	(15)	 	(19)	 	(7)
	 Discontinued	operations	 	–		 	–		 	2	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 Net	cash	provided	by	(used	in)	
	 	 	 	investing	activities	 	(236)	 	(761)	 	1,985	

conSoliDateD StatementS oF caSh FlowS

the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
meadwestvaco corporation and consolidated subsidiary companies 
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 Years ended December 31

in millions	 2007	 2006	 2005

Cash flows from financing activities
	 Proceeds	from	issuance	of	long-term	debt	 	12		 	7		 	1	
	 Proceeds	from	secured	borrowing	
	 	(non-recourse	to	MeadWestvaco)	 	338		 –		 	–	
	 Repayment	of	long-term	debt	 	(50)	 	(2)	 	(1,133)
	 Stock	repurchased	and	put	option	 	(486)	 	(47)	 	(711)
	 Dividends	paid	 	(169)	 	(167)	 	(178)
	 Notes	payable	and	other	short-term	borrowings,	net	 	(128)	 	148		 	(19)
	 Changes	in	book	overdrafts	 	(21)	 43		 	(14)
	 Proceeds	from	issuance	of	common	stock	
	 	and	exercises	of	stock	options	 	162		 	53		 	36	
	 Other	financing	activities	 	3		 –		 	–	
	 Discontinued	operations	 	–		 	–		 	(163)
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 Net	cash	provided	by	(used	in)	
	 	 	 	financing	activities	 	(339)	 35		 	(2,181)
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Effect	of	exchange	rate	changes	on	cash	 	23		 18		 	(4)

Increase	(decrease)	in	cash	and	cash	equivalents	 	89		 	(141)	 	27	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Cash	and	Cash	equivalents:
	 At	beginning	of	period	 	156		 	297		 	270
	

	 At	end	of	period	 	$	245		 	$		 156		 	$	 		 297	

conSoliDateD StatementS oF caSh FlowS, continued
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Summary of Significant accounting policieS 

Basis of consolidation and preparation of financial statements: the consolidated financial statements 

include all majority-owned or controlled entities, and all significant intercompany transactions are 

eliminated. meadwestvaco’s business segments are (i) packaging Resources, (ii) consumer solutions, 

(iii) consumer & office products, and (iv) specialty chemicals. 

Estimates and assumptions: the preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 

the reported amounts of some assets and liabilities and, in some instances, the reported amounts of 

revenues and expenses during the reporting period. actual results could differ from these estimates. 

Translation of foreign currencies: the local currency is the functional currency for substantially all of 

the company’s significant operations outside the u.s. the assets and liabilities of the company’s foreign 

subsidiaries are translated into u.s. dollars using period-end exchange rates, and adjustments resulting 

from these financial statement translations are included in accumulated other comprehensive income 

or loss in the consolidated balance sheets. Revenues and expenses are translated at average rates 

prevailing during the period. 

Cash equivalents: Highly liquid securities with an original maturity of three months or less are 

considered to be cash equivalents. 

Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts: trade accounts receivable are recorded 

at the invoice amount and generally do not bear interest. the allowance for doubtful accounts is the 

company’s best estimate of the amount of probable loss in the existing accounts receivable. the 

company determines the allowance based on historical write-off experience by industry. past due 

balances over a specified amount are reviewed individually for collectibility. account balances are 

charged off against the allowance when it is probable that the receivable will not be recovered. 

Inventories: inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. cost is determined using the 

last-in, first-out method for substantially all raw materials, finished goods and production materials of 

u.s. manufacturing operations. cost of all other inventories, including stores and supplies inventories 

and inventories of non-u.s. manufacturing operations, is determined by the first-in, first-out or average 

cost methods. 

Property, plant, equipment and forestlands: owned assets are recorded at cost. also included in 

the cost of these assets is interest on funds borrowed during the construction period. when assets 

are sold, retired or disposed of, their cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from 

the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in cost of sales. Gains on sales of forestlands 

are recorded in other income, net. costs of renewals and betterments of properties are capitalized; 

costs of maintenance and repairs are charged to expense. costs of reforestation of forestlands are 

capitalized. these costs include the costs of seedlings, site preparation, planting of seedlings and 

early-stage fertilization. 

112910FS_C_r1_MWV_AR07c_Notes_pg80   80 3/4/08   6:40:57 PM



81How bRands take sHape

Depreciation and depletion: the cost of plant and equipment is depreciated, utilizing the straight-line 

method, over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from 20 to 40 years for buildings and 

5 to 30 years for machinery and equipment. timber is depleted as timber is cut at rates determined 

annually based on the relationship of undepleted timber costs to the estimated volume of recoverable 

timber. timber volumes used in calculating depletion rates are based upon merchantable timber 

volumes at a specific point in time. the depletion rates for company-owned land do not include an 

estimate of either future reforestation costs associated with a stand’s final harvest or future volume in 

connection with replanting of a stand subsequent to the final harvest. 

Impairment of long-lived assets: the company periodically evaluates whether current events or 

circumstances indicate that the carrying value of its long-lived assets, including intangible assets, to be 

held and used may not be recoverable. if such circumstances are determined to exist, an estimate of 

undiscounted future cash flows produced by the long-lived asset, or the appropriate grouping of assets, 

is compared to the carrying value to determine whether an impairment exists. if an asset is determined 

to be impaired, the loss is measured based on quoted market prices in active markets, if available. 

if quoted market prices are not available, the estimate of fair value is based on various valuation 

techniques, including a discounted value of estimated future cash flows. the company reports an asset 

to be disposed of at the lower of its carrying value or its estimated net realizable value. 

Goodwill: the company has classified as goodwill the excess of the acquisition cost over the fair 

values of the net tangible and intangible assets of businesses acquired. the company has determined 

its reporting units to be components within its packaging Resources, consumer solutions, consumer 

& office products and specialty chemicals segments. in accordance with statement of financial 

accounting standards (“sfas”) no. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, goodwill is required to 

be tested at least annually. sfas no. 142 requires that goodwill be tested for impairment using a two-

step process. the first step is to identify a potential impairment and the second step is to measure the 

amount of the impairment loss, if any. Goodwill is deemed to be impaired if the carrying amount of a 

reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds its estimated fair value. see note c and note p for further information. 

Other assets: capitalized software, equipment leased to customers and other amortizable 

and indefinite-lived intangible assets are included in other assets. capitalized software and other 

amortizable intangibles are amortized using the straight-line and cash flows methods over their 

estimated useful lives of 3 to 21 years. equipment leased to customers is amortized using the sum-of-

the-years-digits method over the estimated useful life of the machine, generally 10 years. Revenue is 

recognized for the leased equipment on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease and is included in 

net sales. the company records software development costs in accordance with the american institute 

of certified public accountants’ statement of position 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer 

Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use. see note c and note d for further information. 
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Financial instruments: the company has, where appropriate, estimated the fair value of financial 

instruments. these fair value amounts may be significantly affected by the assumptions used, 

including the discount rate and estimates of cash flow. accordingly, the estimates presented are not 

necessarily indicative of the amounts that could be realized in a current market exchange. where these 

estimates approximate carrying value, no separate disclosure of fair value is shown. the company 

utilizes well-defined financial derivatives in the normal course of its operations as a means to manage 

some of its interest rate, foreign currency and commodity risks. for those derivative instruments, the 

company has formally designated each as a hedge of specific and well-defined risks. see note G for 

further information. 

Investment in debt securities: investments in debt securities are classified as either held to maturity, 

trading or available-for-sale in accordance with sfas no. 115, Accounting for Investments in Debt and 

Equity Securities, as determined by management on an annual basis. those investments classified as 

trading or available-for-sale securities are measured at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets. 

unrealized gains or losses on trading securities are recorded to the consolidated statements of 

operations. unrealized gains or losses on available-for-sale securities are reported in accumulated other 

comprehensive loss unless it is determined that a loss exists and that loss is determined as “other-than-

temporary” in accordance with staff position no. 115-1 and sfas no. 124-2, The Meaning of Other-

than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments. 

Environmental and legal liabilities: environmental expenditures that increase useful lives of assets 

are capitalized, while other environmental expenditures are expensed. liabilities are recorded when 

remedial efforts are probable and the costs can be reasonably estimated. the company recognizes  

a liability for other legal contingencies when a loss is probable and reasonably estimable. liabilities 

recorded for claims are limited to pending cases based on the company’s historical experience, 

consultation with outside counsel and consultation with an actuarial specialist concerning the 

feasibility of reasonably estimating liabilities associated with claims that may arise in the future. the 

company recognizes insurance recoveries when collection is reasonably assured. see note o for 

further information. 

Asset retirement obligations: the company records obligations associated with the retirement of 

tangible long-lived assets as liabilities when incurred. subsequent to initial measurement, the company 

recognizes changes in the amounts of the obligations, as necessary, resulting from the passage of time 

and revisions to either the timing or amount of estimated cash flows. effective december 31, 2005, the 

company adopted financial accounting standards board (“fasb”) interpretation no. 47, Accounting 

for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations—an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143, which 

clarifies that the term conditional asset retirement obligation, as used in sfas no. 143, refers to a legal 

obligation to perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of settlement are 

conditional on a future event that may or may not be within the control of the entity. an entity is required 

to recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation if the fair value of 

the liability can be reasonably estimated. the company has certain conditional and unconditional 

asset retirement obligations associated with owned or leased property, plant and equipment, including 

leases, surface impoundments, asbestos, and water supply wells. management does not have 

sufficient information to estimate the fair value of certain obligations, primarily associated with surface 

impoundments and asbestos, because the settlement date or range of potential settlement dates have 

not been specified and information is not available to apply expected present value techniques. 
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Revenue recognition: the company recognizes revenues at the point when title and the risk of 

ownership passes to the customer. substantially all of the company’s revenues are generated through 

product sales and shipping terms generally indicate when title and the risk of ownership have passed. 

revenue is recognized at shipment for sales where shipping terms are Fob (free on board) shipping 

point unless risk of loss is maintained under freight terms. For sales where shipping terms are Fob 

destination, revenue is recognized when the goods are received by the customer. the company 

provides allowances for estimated returns and other customer credits such as discounts and volume 

rebates, when the revenue is recognized, based on historical experience, current trends and any 

notification of pending returns. also included in net sales is service revenue which is recognized as the 

service is performed. revenue is recognized for leased equipment to customers on a straight-line basis 

over the estimated term of the lease and is included in net sales of the company. 

Shipping and handling costs: shipping and handling costs are classified as a component of cost 

of sales. amounts billed to a customer in a sales transaction related to shipping and handling are 

classified as revenue. 

Research and development: Included in cost of sales and selling, general and administrative 

expense are expenditures for research and development of $62 million, $65 million and $50 million for 

the years ended december 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, which were expensed as incurred. 

Income taxes: deferred income taxes are recorded for temporary differences between financial 

statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities. deferred tax assets and  

liabilities reflect the enacted tax rates in effect for the years the differences are expected to reverse.  

the company evaluates the need for a deferred tax asset valuation allowance by assessing whether  

it is more likely than not that it will realize its deferred tax assets in the future. 

the company recognizes tax benefits from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not 

that the tax position will be sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical 

merits of the position. the tax benefits recognized in the consolidated financial statements from such 

a position are measured based upon the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being 

realized upon ultimate settlement.

the company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income 

taxes in the consolidated statements of operations.

Share-based compensation: the company adopted sFas no. 123(r), Share-Based Payment, as  

of January 1, 2006 using the modified prospective method, therefore 2005 was not restated. the 

cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle associated with the adoption of sFas no. 123(r) 

was not material to the consolidated financial statements. Under this new statement in the year of 

adoption, pre-tax share-based compensation expense for the year ended december 31, 2006 was 

$21 million, including the incremental pre-tax cost of $10 million relating to stock options and stock 

appreciation rights. the incremental impact of adopting this statement was a reduction to net income  

of $6 million, or $0.03 per share, for the year ended december 31, 2006.

the company has elected to record the compensation expense for graded and cliff vesting awards 

on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, generally three years. the company has used the 

“long-haul” method to determine the pool of tax benefits or deficiencies resulting from tax deductions 

related to awards of equity instruments that exceed or are less than the cumulative compensation cost 

for those instruments recognized for financial reporting. substantially all compensation expense related 

to share-based awards is recorded as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses in 
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the consolidated statements of operations. for stock-settled awards, the company issues previously 

authorized new shares. see note J for further detail on share-based compensation.

prior to January 1, 2006, the company measured compensation cost for share-based 

compensation awards issued to employees and directors using the intrinsic value-based method of 

accounting in accordance with accounting principles board (apb) opinion no. 25. the company 

applied apb opinion no. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, as amended, in accounting  

for its plans. in January 2003, the company adopted the disclosure provisions of sfas no. 148, 

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure. sfas no. 148 provides 

alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value-based method of accounting  

for share-based employee compensation and amends the disclosure requirements of sfas no. 123, 

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. 

if compensation cost for the company’s share-based compensation awards had been determined 

based on the fair value method for the year ended december 31, 2005, the company’s net income and 

net income per share would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts as follows: 

 

 in millions, except per share data	 	 	 2005	
 

Net	income—as	reported	 	 	 $	 	28
Add:	Share-based	compensation	expense	included	in		
	 reported	net	income,	net	of	related	tax	effect	 	 	 3
Deduct:	Total	share-based	compensation	expense		
	 determined	under	fair	value-based	method	for	all	awards,		
	 net	of	related	tax	effect		 	 	 11

Pro	forma	net	income	 	 	 $	 	20

Net	income	per	share—basic	and	diluted:
	 As	reported	 	 	 $0.14
	 Pro	forma		 	 	 0.11

the pro forma amounts and fair value of each award grant were estimated on the date of grant using a 

binomial option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions used for grants in 2005: 

risk-free interest rates of 3.98%; expected dividend yields of 3.05%; expected lives of six years; and 

expected volatility of 32%. 
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Net income per share: basic net income per share for all the periods presented has been calculated 

using the weighted-average shares outstanding. In computing diluted net income per share, incremental 

shares issuable upon the assumed exercise of stock options and other stock-based compensation 

awards have been added to the weighted-average shares outstanding, if dilutive. For the years ended 

december 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, 2.1 million, 12.4 million and 8.0 million equity awards, respectively, 

were excluded from the calculation of weighted-average shares, as the exercise price per share was 

greater than the average market value, resulting in an antidilutive effect on diluted earnings per share. 

Related party transactions: the company has certain related party transactions in the ordinary 

course of business that are insignificant and the terms of which are no more or less favorable to the 

company than the terms of any other arms-length transaction. 

Discontinued operations: effective april 30, 2005, the company completed the sale of its printing and 

writing papers business, including its coated and carbonless papers operations consisting of five mills, 

and approximately 900,000 acres of related forestlands to an affiliate of Cerberus Management LLC, a 

private investment firm. see note p for additional information. In the quarter ended March 31, 2005, the 

company began reporting the printing and writing papers business as a discontinued operation.
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New accounting standards  in march 2005, the securities and exchange commission (“sec”) issued 

staff accounting bulletin (“sab”) no. 107, Share-Based Payment. sab no. 107 addresses the interaction 

between sfas no. 123(R) and certain sec rules and regulations and provides the sec staff’s views 

regarding the valuation of share-based payment arrangements for public companies. the company 

followed the interpretive guidance set forth in sab no. 107 during its adoption of sfas no. 123(R). 

in may 2005, the fasb issued sfas no. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, 

which replaces apb opinion no. 20, Accounting Changes and sfas no. 3, Reporting Accounting 

Changes in Interim Financial Statements—An Amendment of APB Opinion No. 28. sfas no. 154 

provides guidance on the accounting for and reporting of accounting changes and error corrections. 

it establishes retrospective application, unless impracticable, as the required method for reporting a 

change in accounting principle and the reporting of a correction of an error and for reporting a change 

when retrospective application is impracticable. sfas no. 154 is effective for accounting changes and 

corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after december 15, 2005, and was adopted by 

the company in the first quarter of 2006. the adoption of sfas no. 154 did not have an impact on the 

company’s consolidated financial statements. 

in July 2006, the fasb issued interpretation no. 48 (“fin 48”), Accounting for Uncertainty in 

Income Taxes, which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the financial 

statements in accordance with sfas no. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. fin 48 prescribes 

a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and 

measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. it also provides guidance 

on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and 

transition. this interpretation is effective for fiscal years beginning after december 15, 2006. the 

cumulative effect of applying fin 48 was recorded as an adjustment to retained earnings as of the 

beginning of the period of adoption. see note n for discussion of the effects of this accounting change.

in september 2006, the fasb issued sfas no. 157, Fair Value Measurements. sfas no. 157 

defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair 

value measurements. this statement does not require any new fair value measurements, but applies 

to existing accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurement as the relevant 

measurement attribute. this statement is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years 

beginning after november 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years and is to be applied 

prospectively as of the beginning of the year in which it is initially applied. the company is currently 

evaluating the provisions of this statement. 

in september 2006, the fasb issued sfas no. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit 

Pension and Other Postretirement Plans—An Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 

132(R). sfas no. 158 requires an employer to recognize the overfunded or underfunded status of a 

defined benefit postretirement plan in its balance sheet and to recognize the changes in the plan’s  

funded status in comprehensive income in the year in which the change occurs. these provisions of  

the statement are effective as of the end of the first fiscal year ending after december 15, 2006. sfas  

no. 158 also requires an employer to measure the funded status of a plan as of the date of its fiscal year 

end, which is the company’s measurement date. pursuant to the statement’s adoption, the net after-tax 

charge to accumulated other comprehensive loss in the fourth quarter of 2006 was $57 million. this 

adjustment principally represents the recognition of previously unrecognized prior service costs and net 

actuarial losses and the impact of recording additional minimum liabilities for certain underfunded plans. 

this statement will not affect the company’s eRisa funding obligations and we do not currently anticipate 

any required company contributions to the u.s. qualified retirement plans in the foreseeable future. 
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In september 2006, the seC issued sab no. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements 

when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements. sab no. 108 requires that public 

companies utilize a “dual-approach” to assessing the quantitative effects of financial misstatements. 

this dual-approach includes both an income statement focused assessment and a balance sheet 

focused assessment. the guidance in sab no. 108 must be applied to annual financial statements for 

fiscal years ending after november 15, 2006. the adoption of sab no. 108 did not have an effect on the 

company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations. 

In February 2007, the Fasb issued sFas no. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and 

Financial Liabilities—Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115. this statement permits an 

entity to measure certain financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value, which would result in the 

reporting of unrealized gains and losses in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. the fair value 

option may be elected on an instrument-by-instrument basis, with few exceptions, as long as it is 

applied to the instrument in its entirety. the statement establishes presentation and disclosure 

requirements to help financial statement users understand the effect of an entity’s election on its 

earnings, but does not eliminate the disclosure requirements of other accounting standards. this 

statement will be effective as of the beginning of the first fiscal year that begins after november 15, 

2007, and is to be applied prospectively as of the beginning of the year in which it is initially applied.  

the company is currently evaluating the provisions of this statement. 

In december 2007, the Fasb issued sFas no. 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations (“sFas 

no. 141(r)”). this statement replaces sFas no. 141, Business Combinations, and requires an acquirer 

to recognize the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, including those arising from contractual 

contingencies, any contingent consideration, and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree at the 

acquisition date, measured at their fair values as of that date, with limited exceptions specified in the 

statement. sFas no. 141(r) also requires the acquirer in a business combination achieved in stages 

(sometimes referred to as a step acquisition) to recognize the identifiable assets and liabilities, as well 

as the noncontrolling interest in the acquiree, at the full amounts of their fair values (or other amounts 

determined in accordance with sFas no. 141(r)). In addition, sFas no. 141(r)’s requirement to 

measure the noncontrolling interest in the acquiree at fair value will result in recognizing the goodwill 

attributable to the noncontrolling interest in addition to that attributable to the acquirer. sFas no. 

141(r) applies prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the 

beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after december 15, 2008. 

In december 2007, the Fasb issued sFas no. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial 

Statements. sFas no. 160 amends accounting research bulletin 51, Consolidated Financial Statements, 

to establish accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the 

deconsolidation of a subsidiary. this statement clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary is an 

ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as equity in the consolidated financial 

statements. sFas no. 160 also changes the way the consolidated income statement is presented by 

requiring consolidated net income to be reported at amounts that include the amounts attributable to both 

the parent and the noncontrolling interest, and requires disclosure on the face of the consolidated 

statements of operations of the amounts of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and to the 

noncontrolling interest. sFas no. 160 is effective for fiscal periods, and interim periods within those fiscal 

years, beginning on or after december 15, 2008. the company is currently assessing the potential impact 

that the adoption of sFas no. 160 could have on its consolidated financial statements. 

there were no other accounting standards issued in 2007 that had or are expected to have a 

material impact on the company’s financial position or results of operations. 
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a. current aSSetS 

cash equivalents of $57 million and $39 million at december 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, are 

valued at cost, which approximates market value. trade receivables have been reduced by an allowance 

for doubtful accounts of $18 million and $15 million at december 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

Receivables also include $70 million and $64 million from sources other than trade at december 31, 

2007 and 2006, respectively. inventories at december 31, 2007 and 2006 are comprised of: 

 Years ended december 31

in millions	 	 2007		 2006
	

Raw	materials	 	 $186	 $182
Production	materials,	stores	and	supplies	 	 109	 107
Finished	and	in-process	goods	 	 495	 426

	 	 	 	 	 	 $790	 $715

approximately 58% and 60% of inventories at december 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, are valued 

using the last-in, first-out (“lifo”) method. if inventories had been valued at current cost, they would 

have been $927 million, $838 million and $813 million at december 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, 

respectively. the effects of lifo layer decrements in 2007 and 2005 were not significant to the 

company’s results of operations. the effect of a lifo layer decrement in 2006 was an increase of  

$0.02 to earnings per share.

B. property, plant, equipment and foreStlandS 

depreciation and depletion expense was $430 million, $433 million and $404 million for the years ended 

december 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 

 Years ended december 31

in millions	 	 2007		 2006
	

Land	and	land	improvements	 	 $	 	 284	 $	 	 276
Buildings	 	 970	 947
Machinery	and	other	 	 6,318	 6,083

	 	 	 	 	 	 7,572	 7,306
Less:	accumulated	depreciation	 	 (3,793)	 (3,501)

	 	 	 	 	 	 3,779	 3,805
Forestlands	 	 247	 488
Construction	in	progress	 	 185	 230

	 	 	 	 	 	 $		4,211	 $		4,523
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in 2007, the company completed two significant sales of nonstrategic forestlands. in the third quarter, 

the company sold approximately 62,000 acres located in west virginia for $93 million in cash proceeds. 

in the fourth quarter, the company sold approximately 228,000 owned acres and approximately 95,000 

acres under long-term timber contracts located in alabama and Georgia for cash proceeds of $2 million 

and a long-term installment note of $398 million supported by an irrevocable letter of credit from a 

bank obtained by the buyer of the forestlands. in connection with the sale of the alabama and Georgia 

forestlands, the company entered into a long-term fiber supply agreement with the buyer providing for 

future delivery of pulpwood and related products at market prices under a take-or-pay arrangement 

with certain minimum annual volumes. the aggregate book value of the assets related to these sales 

was $238 million, which resulted in a pre-tax gain of $250 million, net of transaction costs, included in 

other income, net in the consolidated statements of operations. these sales are part of the company’s 

strategy to segment and manage its u.s. land holdings for highest value opportunities, and represent a 

permanent reduction to its forestlands asset base.

c. goodwill and other intangiBle aSSetS 

unless otherwise deemed necessary by changes in circumstances, the company performs its 

annual impairment review during the fourth quarter of each year. no goodwill impairment charge was 

necessary as a result of the 2007, 2006 or 2005 annual impairment reviews. 

during 2007, the company acquired two manufacturers of dispensing and sprayer systems resulting 

in goodwill in the amount of $24 million. during 2006, the company completed its acquisition of saint-

Gobain calmar from compagnie de saint-Gobain resulting in goodwill in the amount of $302 million. 

see note p for further discussion. 

as of december 31, 2007, goodwill allocated to each of the company’s business segments was $68 

million to packaging Resources, $573 million to consumer solutions, $190 million to consumer & office 

products, and $9 million to specialty chemicals. 

the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended december 31, 2007 and 2006 

are as follows: 

	

in millions	 	 2007		 2006	
 

Beginning	balance	 	 $851	 $559
Acquired	goodwill1	 	 24	 302
Adjustments2	 	 (35)	 (10)
	

Ending	balance	 	 $840	 $851

1 Represents goodwill associated with certain acquisitions included in the consumer solutions segment.  
see note p for discussion of acquired goodwill.

2 Represents adjustments to tax contingencies, foreign currency translation and certain purchase price allocations. 
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the following table summarizes intangible assets subject to amortization included in other assets:

  december 31, 2007  december 31, 2006

	 Gross	 	 Gross
	 carrying	 Accumulated	 carrying	 Accumulated
in millions	 amount	 amortization	 amount	 amortization

Trademarks	and	tradenames		 $212	 $	 67	 $208	 $	 53
Customer	contracts	and	lists	 293	 62	 278	 46
Patents	 73	 38	 59	 28
Other—primarily	licensing	rights	 29	 19	 30	 15

	 $607	 $186	 $575	 $142

in connection with the company’s acquisition of saint-Gobain calmar in 2006, the company 

acquired indefinite-lived intangible assets which had net book values of $97 million and $91 million at 

december 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, with the year-over-year change reflecting the impact of 

foreign exchange. see note p for further discussion.

the company recorded amortization expense of $43 million, $37 million and $33 million for the 

years ending december 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, relating to intangible assets subject to 

amortization. intangible assets subject to amortization are amortized over their estimated useful lives 

which range from 3 to 20 years. intangible assets that have been determined to have indefinite lives are 

not subject to amortization and are reviewed at least annually for impairment. 

based on the current carrying values of intangible assets subject to amortization, estimated 

amortization expense for the next five years is as follows: 2008—$39 million, 2009—$38 million, 

2010—$37 million, 2011—$33 million, and 2012—$32 million.
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d. other aSSetS 

 december 31

in millions	 	 2007		 2006

Identifiable	intangible	assets	 	 $	 	518	 $524
Restricted	asset1	 	 398	 –
Cash	surrender	value	of	life	insurance,	net	of	borrowings	 	 193	 197
Capitalized	software,	net	 	 63	 62
Equipment	leased	to	customers,	net	 	 102	 95
Other	 	 132	 98

	 	 	 	 	 	 $1,406	 $976

1 as part of the consideration for the sale of approximately 228,000 acres of owned forestlands and 95,000 acres under 
long-term timber contracts, the company received an installment note in the amount of $398 million (the “timber note”). 
the timber note does not require any principal payments until its maturity in october 2027 and bears interest at a rate 
approximating liboR. in addition, the timber note is supported by an irrevocable letter of credit from a bank obtained 
by the buyer of the forestlands.  
 

using the timber note as collateral, the company received $338 million in proceeds under a secured financing 
agreement with a bank. under the terms of the agreement, the liability from this transaction is non-recourse to 
meadwestvaco and shall be paid from the timber note proceeds upon its maturity. as a result, the timber note is not 
available to satisfy the obligations of meadwestvaco. the non-recourse liability does not require any principal payments 
until its maturity in october 2027 and bears interest at a rate approximating liboR. the $338 million non-recourse 
liability is included in other long-term obligations in the consolidated balance sheet at december 31, 2007.

e. accountS payaBle and accrued expenSeS 

 december 31

in millions	 	 2007		 2006	
 

Accounts	payable:
	 Trade	 	 $574	 $465
	 Other	 	 66	 87

	 	 	 	 	 	 $640	 $552

Accrued	expenses:
	 Taxes,	other	than	income	 	 $	 39	 $	 28
	 Interest	 	 66	 64
	 Payroll	and	employee	benefit	costs	 	 271	 264
	 Accrued	rebates	and	allowances	 	 106	 118
	 Environmental	and	litigation—current	portion	 	 27	 30
	 Income	taxes	payable	 	 79	 12
	 Freight	 	 12	 11
	 Restructuring	charges	 	 29	 50
	 Other	 	 118	 125
	

	 	 	 	 	 	 $747	 $702
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f. noteS payaBle and long-term deBt 

notes payable and current maturities of long-term debt and capital lease obligations consisted 

of the following: 

 december 31 

in millions	 	 2007		 2006	
 

Commercial	paper	borrowings	 	 $	 	 –	 $148
Short-term	bank	loans	 	 45	 –
Other	short-term	borrowings	 	 2	 11
Current	maturities	of	long-term	debt	and	capital	lease	obligations	 	 21	 52
	

	 	 	 	 	 	 $	 68	 $211
	

the maximum amounts of combined commercial paper borrowings outstanding during the years ended 

december 31, 2007 and 2006 were $279 million and $355 million, respectively. the average amounts of 

commercial paper borrowings outstanding during the years ended december 31, 2007 and 2006 were 

$118 million and $136 million, respectively, with an average interest rate of 5.4% and 5.5%, respectively. 

during 2007, the company obtained access to certain uncommitted credit lines. short-term 

borrowings under these agreements were $45 million at december 31, 2007, with interest rates ranging 

from 5.3% to 7.3%. other short-term borrowings of $2 million and $11 million at december 31, 2007 and 

2006, respectively, are related to certain foreign operations.

meadwestvaco has a $750 million bank credit agreement that matures on december 1, 

2010. borrowings under the agreement can be unsecured domestic or eurodollar notes at rates 

approximating prime or liboR at the company’s option. the $750 million credit agreement contains a 

financial covenant limiting the percentage of total debt (including a $338 million liability non-recourse 

to meadwestvaco) to total capitalization (including deferred taxes) to 55%, as well as certain other 

covenants with which the company was in compliance at december 31, 2007. the credit facility was 

undrawn at december 31, 2007 and 2006. 

 

112910FS_C_r1_MWV_AR07c_Notes_pg92   92 3/4/08   6:41:00 PM



93How bRands take sHape

long-term debt consisted of the following: 

 december 31

in millions	 	 2007		 2006	
 

Debentures,	rates	from	6.80%	to	9.75%,	due	2017–2047	 	 $1,181	 $1,227
Notes,	rates	from	6.85%	to	7.10%,	due	2009–2012	 	 696	 676
Sinking	fund	debentures,	rates	from	7.50%	to	7.65%,	due	2008–2027		 299	 299
Capital	lease	obligations:
	 	 Industrial	Development	Revenue	Bonds,	rate	7.67%,	due	2027	 	 80	 80
	 	 Industrial	Development	Revenue	Bonds,	rate	6.35%,	due	2035	 	 51	 51
	 	 Industrial	Development	Revenue	Bonds,	rate	6.10%,	due	2030	 	 7	 7
	 	 Pollution	Control	Revenue	Bonds,	rate	6.375%,	due	2026	 	 6	 6
	 	 Other	capital	lease	obligations	 	 8	 4
	 Other	long-term	debt	 	 68	 74

	 	 	 	 	 	 2,396	 2,424
	 	 	 Less:	amounts	due	within	one	year	 	 (21)	 (52)

	 Long-term	debt	 	 $2,375	 $2,372
	

as of december 31, 2007, outstanding debt (excluding capital lease obligations) maturing in the next five 

years is as follows: 2008—$65 million, 2009—$66 million, 2010—$15 million, 2011—$15 million, and 

2012—$648 million. 

as of december 31, 2007, capital lease obligations maturing in the next five years are as follows: 

2008—$3 million, 2009—$4 million, 2010—$1 million, 2011—$1 million, and 2012—$0 million. 
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the weighted-average interest rate on the company’s fixed-rate long-term debt was approximately 

8.7% and approximately 8.8% for 2007 and 2006, respectively. the weighted average interest rate 

on the company’s variable-rate long-term debt was approximately 5.3% for both 2007 and 2006. the 

percentage of debt to total capital was 39.7% and 42.2% at december 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

at december 31, 2007, the book value of financial instruments included in long-term debt was $2.4 

billion and the fair value was estimated to be $2.5 billion. at december 31, 2006, the book value of 

financial instruments included in long-term debt was $2.4 billion and the fair value was estimated to be 

$2.6 billion. the difference between book value and fair value is derived from the difference between 

the period-end market interest rate and the stated rate for the company’s fixed-rate, long-term debt. 

the company has estimated the fair value of financial instruments based upon quoted market prices for 

the same or similar issues or on the current interest rates available to the company for debt of similar 

terms and maturities.

the company utilized a portion of the cash proceeds from the sale of its printing and writing 

papers business in 2005 to retire approximately $1 billion of debt. the charge incurred to retire the 

debt in 2005 was $90 million and is included in discontinued operations in the consolidated statements 

of operations.

g. financial inStrumentS 

the company uses various derivative financial instruments as part of an overall strategy to manage 

exposure to market risks associated with interest rate, foreign currency exchange rate and natural 

gas price fluctuations. the company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading 

purposes. the risk of loss to the company in the event of nonperformance by any counterparty under 

derivative financial instrument agreements is not considered significant by management. although 

the derivative financial instruments expose the company to market risk, fluctuations in the value of the 

derivatives are mitigated by expected offsetting fluctuations in the matched instruments. all derivative 

instruments are required to be recorded in the consolidated balance sheets as assets or liabilities, 

measured at fair value. if the derivative is designated as a fair-value hedge, the changes in the fair value 

of the derivative and of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in earnings. if the 

derivative is designated as a cash-flow hedge, the effective portion of the change in the fair value of the 

derivative is recorded in other comprehensive income and is recognized in the consolidated statements 

of operations when the hedged item affects earnings. ineffective portions of changes in the fair value of 

cash-flow hedges and financial instruments not designated as hedges are recognized in earnings. 
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Natural gas  in order to better predict and control the future cost of natural gas consumed at the 

company’s mills and plants, the company engages in financial hedging of future gas purchase prices. 

Gas usage is relatively predictable month-by-month. the company hedges primarily with financial 

instruments that are priced based on new York mercantile exchange (nYmeX) natural gas futures 

contracts. the company does not hedge basis (the effect of varying delivery points or locations) or 

transportation (the cost to transport the gas from the delivery point to a company location) under 

these transactions. 

unrealized gains and losses on contracts maturing in future months are recorded in accumulated 

other comprehensive income and are charged or credited to earnings for the ineffective portion of the 

hedge. once a contract matures, the company has a realized gain or loss on the contract up to the 

quantities of natural gas in the forward swap agreements for that particular period, which are charged 

or credited to earnings when the related hedge item affects earnings. the estimated pre-tax loss to 

be recognized in earnings in 2008 is $2 million. as of december 31, 2007, the maximum remaining 

term of existing hedges was less than two years. for the years ended december 31, 2007, 2006 and 

2005, no amounts of gains or losses were recognized in earnings due to the probability that forecasted 

transactions will not occur.

natural gas hedging activities in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

 

in millions	 	 2007		 2006	

Balance	at	January	1	 	 $(3)	 $	–
	 Net	losses	associated	with	current	period	hedging	transactions	 	 (1)	 (4)
	 Reclassified	to	earnings	due	to:		 	 	
	 	 Hedge	ineffectiveness	 	 –	 –
	 	 Realized	hedge	losses		 	 3	 1
	 	 	 Net	reclassification	to	earnings		 	 3	 	1

Balance	at	December	31	 	 $(1)	 $(3)		
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Interest rate risk  the company utilizes interest rate swap agreements to manage a portion of its 

interest rate risk on its debt instruments. as part of an overall strategy to maintain an appropriate 

level of exposure to interest rate fluctuations, the company has developed a targeted mix of fixed-

rate and variable-rate debt. to efficiently manage this mix, the company may utilize interest rate 

swap agreements. 

the company has interest rate swaps designated as fair-value hedges of certain fixed-rate 

borrowings. there were no interest rate swaps designated as cash-flow hedges at december 31, 2007, 

2006, and 2005. the maturity dates on these swaps match the maturity dates of the underlying debt. 

during the years ended december 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the interest rate swaps were an effective 

hedge and, therefore, required no charge to earnings due to ineffectiveness in accordance with sfas 

no. 133. details on the interest rate swaps are presented below: 

 december 31

in millions	 	 2007		 2006	
 

Notional	amount	of	swapped	debt	 	 $525	 $525
Fair	value	of	swaps	 	 	16	 (3)

	
Foreign currency risk  the company uses foreign currency forward contracts to manage some of the 

foreign currency exchange risks associated with certain short-term foreign intercompany loans, some 

foreign currency sales and purchases of its international operations, and some foreign sales of its u.s. 

operations. using such forward contracts, the company receives or pays the difference between the 

contracted forward rate and the exchange rate at the settlement date. these contracts are used to 

hedge the variability of exchange rates on the company’s cash flows. 

the forward contracts related to certain intercompany loans are short term in duration and are not 

designated as hedging instruments under sfas no. 133. information about these forward contracts is 

presented below:

 december 31

in millions	 	 2007		 2006	
 

Notional	amount	of	foreign	currency	forward	contracts	 	 $115	 $	 55
Fair	value	of	foreign	currency	forward	contracts		 	 (1)	 –

other forward contracts, which are for terms of up to one year, are designated as cash-flow hedges 

under sfas no. 133. the notional amount of those forward contracts was $150 million and $62 million 

at december 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. the estimated pre-tax loss to be recognized in earnings 

in 2008 is $4 million. for the years ended december 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, no amounts of gains or 

losses were recognized in earnings due to the probability that forecasted transactions will not occur. 
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foreign currency hedging activities in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

 

in millions	 2007		 2006	 2005	
 

Balance	at	January	1		 $		–	 		$		2	 $		–
	 Net	gains	(losses)	associated	with	current	period		
	 	 hedging	transactions:		 (7)	 (3)	 5
	 Reclassified	to	earnings	due	to:		 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 Hedge	ineffectiveness	 –	 –	 	–
	 	 	 	 Realized	hedge	(gains)	losses	 4	 1	 (3)
	 	 	 	 	 Net	reclassification	to	earnings		 4	 1	 (3)

Balance	at	December	31		 $(3)	 $		–	 $		2

h. leaSe commitmentS 

the company leases a variety of assets for use in its operations. leases for administrative offices, 

converting plants and storage facilities generally contain options, which allow the company to extend 

lease terms for periods up to 25 years or to purchase the properties. certain leases provide for 

escalation of the lease payments as maintenance costs and taxes increase. minimum rental payments 

pursuant to agreements as of december 31, 2007 under operating leases that have noncancellable 

lease terms in excess of 12 months and under capital leases are as follows: 

  

in millions	 	 Operating	leases		 Capital	leases	
 

2008		 	 $	 49	 $	 14
2009		 	 38	 14
2010		 	 45	 11
2011		 	 37	 11
2012		 	 31	 10
Later	years	 	 168	 315

Minimum	lease	payments	 	 $368	 375

Less:	amount	representing	interest	 	 	 223

Capital	lease	obligations	 	 	 $152
	

Rental expense under operating leases was $87 million, $83 million and $75 million for the years ended 

december 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 
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i. ShareholderS’ equity 

the value included in common stock at december 31, 2007 and 2006 reflects the outstanding shares of 

common stock at $0.01 par value per share. 

on november 20, 2007, the company entered into an accelerated share repurchase agreement with 

a financial institution counterparty (the “counterparty”) to purchase $400 million of meadwestvaco’s 

common stock. the agreement is a collared transaction in which the company agreed to purchase for 

$400 million a number of its shares to be determined based on the volume weighted-average price 

of its common stock during a specified period of time, subject to certain provisions that establish 

minimum and maximum numbers of shares that may be purchased. the hedge period for determining 

the minimum and maximum numbers of shares to be purchased ended on december 14, 2007, 

resulting in a minimum number of shares of 11.1 million and a maximum number of shares of 14 million. 

on november 21, 2007 and december 14, 2007, the counterparty delivered 10 million shares and 

1.1 million shares, respectively. accordingly, the company received 11.1 million shares through 

december 31, 2007, equivalent to the minimum number of shares to be delivered. at the conclusion of 

the program, which will be no later than June 2008, the company may receive additional shares up to 

the maximum number of 14 million for no additional payment. in certain extraordinary events that result 

in a substantial increase in the company’s stock price during a specified period of time up to a period 

of six months from the inception of the agreement, the company may be required to return some of the 

shares it received to the counterparty. the purchased shares through december 31, 2007 were retired 

and recorded as a $400 million reduction to additional paid-in capital in the consolidated balance sheet 

pursuant to regulations of the state of delaware, the state of incorporation of meadwestvaco, and the 

approval by the company’s board of directors.

in october of 2005, the company’s board of directors authorized the future purchase of up to 

5 million shares of meadwestvaco’s common stock, primarily to avoid dilution of earnings per share 

relating to the exercise of employee stock options. the number of shares available for purchase under 

this program at december 31, 2007 was 2.1 million. 

during the year ended december 31, 2005, approximately $700 million of the approximately 

$2.2 billion in proceeds from the sale of the company’s printing and writing papers business was  

used to purchase a total of almost 24 million, or 12%, of the company’s outstanding common shares. 

the purchased shares, upon retirement, were recorded as a reduction of approximately $700 million  

to additional paid-in capital in the consolidated balance sheet pursuant to the regulations of the  

state of delaware, the state of incorporation of meadwestvaco, and the approval by the company’s 

board of directors. 
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the cumulative components at year end of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for 2007 

and 2006 are as follows: 

 december 31 

in millions	 	 2007		 2006	
 

Foreign	currency	translation	 	 $257	 $		70
Adjustments	related	to	pension	and	other	benefit	plans	 	 97	 (74)
Unrealized	loss	on	derivative	instruments	 	 (4)	 (3)
	

	 	 	 	 	 	 $350	 $	 (7)

at december 31, 2007, there were authorized and available for issue 30 million shares of preferred stock, 

par value $0.01 per share, of which six million shares were designated as series a Junior participating 

preferred stock and reserved for issuance upon exercise of the rights. 

dividends declared were $0.92 per share in each of the years ended december 31, 2007, 2006 and 

2005. dividends paid were $169 million, $167 million and $178 million for the years ended december 31, 

2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

the company had an original obligation to the former owner of a subsidiary to buy back 1.6 million 

shares (share put) of meadwestvaco stock issued as part of the purchase price at a fixed rate; the value 

of this share repurchase approximated $58 million. during 2005, the company purchased and retired 

0.3 million of these shares for $11 million. in 2006, the company repurchased and retired the remaining 

1.3 million shares for $47 million. 
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J. Share-baSed compenSation 

the company adopted sfas no. 123(R) as of January 1, 2006, using the modified prospective method, 

therefore 2005 was not restated. the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle associated 

with the adoption of sfas no. 123(R) was not material to the consolidated financial statements. 

under this new statement in the year of adoption, pre-tax share-based compensation expense for 

the year ended December 31, 2006, was $21 million, including the incremental pre-tax cost of $10 

million relating to stock options and stock appreciation rights. the incremental impact of adopting 

this statement was a reduction to net income of $6 million, or $0.03 per share, for the year ended 

December 31, 2006.

officers and key employees have been granted share-based awards under various stock-based 

compensation plans, all of which have been approved by the company’s shareholders. at December 31, 

2007, meadwestvaco had five such plans under which share-based awards are available for grant. 

there was an aggregate of 28 million shares initially reserved under the 1991 and 1996 stock option 

plans, the 1995 salaried employee stock incentive plan, the 1999 salaried employee stock incentive 

plan and the 2005 performance incentive plan for the granting of stock options, stock appreciation 

rights (“saRs”), restricted stock and restricted stock units to key employees. for all of the employee 

plans, there were approximately 9 million shares available for grant at December 31, 2007. the 

vesting of such awards may be conditioned upon either a specified period of time or the attainment of 

specific performance goals as determined by the plan. Grants of stock options and other share-based 

compensation awards are approved by the compensation and organization Development committee of 

the Board of Directors. the exercise price of all stock options equals the market price of the company’s 

stock on the date of grant. stock options and saRs are exercisable after a period of three years and 

expire no later than 10 years from the date of grant. under certain employee plans, stock options may 

be granted with or without saRs or limited saRs, which are exercisable upon the occurrence of certain 

events related to changes in corporate control. Granting of saRs is generally limited to employees of the 

company who are located in countries where the issuance of stock options is not advantageous. 

options to purchase 1.3 million shares issued under the 1996 stock option plan are accompanied 

by a feature that allows option holders who exercise their stock options and hold the common shares 

they received at exercise to receive an additional stock option grant with an exercise price at the then-

current market price. 

the meadwestvaco corporation compensation plan for non-employee Directors provides for 

the grant of stock awards up to 500,000 shares to outside directors in the form of stock options or 

restricted stock units. non-employee members of the Board of Directors are currently granted restricted 

stock units, which vest immediately and are distributed in the form of stock shares on the date that a 

director ceases to be a member of the Board of Directors. in 2007, 2006 and 2005, the total annual 

grants consisted of 29,241, 25,558, and 24,710 restricted stock units, respectively, for non-employee 

directors. there were 302,887 shares remaining for grant under this plan at December 31, 2007. 
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Stock options and stock appreciation rights  the company has estimated the fair value of its stock 

option and saR awards granted after January 1, 2006, using a lattice-based option valuation model. 

lattice-based option valuation models utilize ranges of assumptions over the expected term of 

the options and saRs. expected volatilities are based on the historical and implied volatility of the 

company’s stock. the company uses historical data to estimate option and saR exercises and 

employee terminations within the valuation model. the expected term of options and saRs granted is 

derived from the output of the valuation model and represents the period of time that options and saRs 

granted are expected to be outstanding. the company measures compensation expense related to the 

saRs at the end of each period. 

changes in the fair value of options (in the event of an award modification) and saRs are reflected 

as an adjustment to compensation expense in the periods in which the changes occur. the risk-free 

rate for the period within the contractual life of the option is based on the u.s. treasury yield curve in 

effect at the time of the grant. a summary of the assumptions is as follows: 

Lattice-based option valuation assumptions
   

in millions	 	 2007		 2006	

Weighted-average	fair	value	of	stock	options	granted	during	the	period	 $	 	9.01	 $	 	7.64
Weighted-average	fair	value	of	SARs	granted	during	the	period	 	 8.07	 7.06
Expected	dividend	yield	for	stock	options	 	 2.86%	 3.27%
Expected	dividend	yield	for	SARs	 	 2.98%	 3.38%
Expected	volatility	 	 28%	 28%
Average	risk-free	interest	rate	for	stock	options	 	 4.83%	 4.71%
Average	risk-free	interest	rate	for	SARs	 	 4.72%	 4.78%
Average	expected	term	for	options	and	SARs	(in	years)	 	 7.4	 8.0	
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the following table summarizes stock option and saR activity in the plans. 

	 	 	 	 	 Weighted-		 Aggregate	
	 	 Weighted-average	 	 Weighted-average	 average	remaining	 intrinsic	value	
shares in thousands	 Options	 exercise	price	 SARs	 exercise	price	 contractual	term	 (in	millions)
	

Outstanding	at	January	1,	2005	 15,917	 $28.94	 113	 $26.80	
	 	 Granted	 1,518	 30.18	 143	 30.21
	 	 Exercised	 (1,462)	 26.52	 (9)	 25.48	 	 $	 5.6
	 	 Cancelled	 (960)	 29.36	 (20)	 29.69

Outstanding	at	December	31,	2005	 15,013	 29.27	 227	 28.75
	 	 Granted	 1,050	 28.13	 309	 27.46
		 	 Exercised	 (2,096)	 26.90	 (2)	 25.51	 	 4.9	
	 	 Cancelled	 (972)	 30.21	 (44)	 29.28

Outstanding	at	December	31,	2006	 12,995	 29.49	 490	 29.55
	 	 Granted	 1,138	 32.21	 84	 32.11
	 	 Exercised	 	(5,540)	 29.42	 (33)	 27.14	 	 21.9	
	 	 Cancelled	 (653)	 31.61	 (45)	 29.20

Outstanding	at	December	31,	2007	 7,940	 29.75	 496	 28.91	 	 4.9	years	 18.7

Exercisable	at	December	31,	2007	 5,982	 29.70	 214	 28.88	 3.5	years	 15.6
Exercisable	at	December	31,	2006	 10,989	 29.58	 131	 27.88	 3.2	years	 14.4
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the following table summarizes stock option and saR activity in the plans. 

	 	 	 	 	 Weighted-		 Aggregate	
	 	 Weighted-average	 	 Weighted-average	 average	remaining	 intrinsic	value	
shares in thousands	 Options	 exercise	price	 SARs	 exercise	price	 contractual	term	 (in	millions)
	

Outstanding	at	January	1,	2005	 15,917	 $28.94	 113	 $26.80	
	 	 Granted	 1,518	 30.18	 143	 30.21
	 	 Exercised	 (1,462)	 26.52	 (9)	 25.48	 	 $	 5.6
	 	 Cancelled	 (960)	 29.36	 (20)	 29.69

Outstanding	at	December	31,	2005	 15,013	 29.27	 227	 28.75
	 	 Granted	 1,050	 28.13	 309	 27.46
		 	 Exercised	 (2,096)	 26.90	 (2)	 25.51	 	 4.9	
	 	 Cancelled	 (972)	 30.21	 (44)	 29.28

Outstanding	at	December	31,	2006	 12,995	 29.49	 490	 29.55
	 	 Granted	 1,138	 32.21	 84	 32.11
	 	 Exercised	 	(5,540)	 29.42	 (33)	 27.14	 	 21.9	
	 	 Cancelled	 (653)	 31.61	 (45)	 29.20

Outstanding	at	December	31,	2007	 7,940	 29.75	 496	 28.91	 	 4.9	years	 18.7

Exercisable	at	December	31,	2007	 5,982	 29.70	 214	 28.88	 3.5	years	 15.6
Exercisable	at	December	31,	2006	 10,989	 29.58	 131	 27.88	 3.2	years	 14.4
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at december 31, 2007, there was $12 million of unrecognized pre-tax compensation cost related to 

nonvested stock options and saRs, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average 

period of 1.5 years. pre-tax compensation expense for stock options and saRs was $11 million for  

2007 and the tax benefit associated with this expense was $4 million. 

total cash received from the exercise of share-based awards in 2007 was $162 million. 

Restricted stock and restricted stock units  a restricted stock unit is the right to receive a share of 

company stock. employee restricted stock and restricted stock units vest over a three-year period. 

awards granted in 2007, 2006 and 2005 consisted of both service and performance vesting restricted 

stock units. under the employee plans, the owners of the stock are entitled to voting rights and to receive 

dividends, but will forfeit the stock if the individual holder separates from the company during the three-

year vesting period or if predetermined goals are not accomplished relative to return on invested capital, 

revenue from new products, total procurement savings and reduction in selling, general and administrative 

expenses. the fair value of each share of restricted stock and restricted stock unit is the closing market 

price of the company’s stock on the date of grant, and the compensation expense is charged to operations 

over the vesting period. performance-based awards granted to employees in 2007, 2006 and 2005 were 

510,000, 510,170 and 281,420, respectively. none of these grants were vested at december 31, 2007. 
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the following table summarizes restricted stock and restricted stock unit activity in the employee and 

director plans. 

	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Average	grant	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 date	fair	market	
shares in thousands	 	 Shares	 value

Outstanding	at	January	1,	2005	 	 303	 $28.46
	 	 Granted	 	 308	 29.87
	 	 Forfeited	 	 (4)	 29.33
	 	 Released	 	 (8)	 28.46

Outstanding	at	December	31,	2005	 	 599	 29.00
	 	 Granted	 	 851	 28.03
	 	 Forfeited	 	 (77)	 27.70
	 	 Released	 	 (40)	 28.74

Outstanding	at	December	31,	2006	 	 1,333	 28.88
	 	 Granted	 	 909	 28.96
	 	 Forfeited	 	 (117)	 29.77
	 	 Released	 	 (223)	 27.43
	

Outstanding	at	December	31,	2007	 	 1,902	 30.41
	 	
	

at december 31, 2007 and 2006, there was approximately $29 million and $19 million of unrecognized 

pre-tax compensation cost related to nonvested restricted stock and restricted stock units, which is 

expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.6 years. pre-tax compensation expense 

for restricted stock and restricted stock units was $15 million, $11 million and $5 million for 2007, 2006 

and 2005, respectively, and the tax benefit associated with this expense was $5 million, $4 million and 

$2 million, respectively. dividends, which are payable in stock, accrue on the restricted stock unit grants 

and are subject to the same terms as the original grants. 
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K. EmployEE rEtirEmEnt, postrEtirEmEnt and postEmploymEnt bEnEfits 

Retirement plans  meadwestvaco provides retirement benefits for substantially all u.s. and certain  

non-u.s. employees under several noncontributory trusteed plans and also provides benefits to 

employees whose retirement benefits exceed maximum amounts permitted by current tax law under 

unfunded benefit plans. Benefits are based on either a final average pay formula or a cash balance 

formula for the salaried plans and a unit benefit formula for the bargained hourly plans. prior service 

costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service period for active 

employees. contributions are made to the funded plans in accordance with eRisa requirements. 

in august 2006, the president signed into law the pension protection act of 2006 (ppa). the ppa 

establishes new minimum funding rules for defined benefit pension plans beginning in 2008. the 

company does not anticipate any required funding to the u.s. qualified retirement plans as a result of 

this legislation in the foreseeable future due to the overfunded status of the plans. 

in september 2006, the fasB issued sfas no. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit 

Pension and Other Postretirement Plans—An Amendment of FASB Statement Nos. 87, 88, 106, and 

132(R). sfas no. 158 requires an employer to recognize the overfunded or underfunded status of a 

defined benefit and postretirement plan in its balance sheet and to recognize the changes in the plan’s 

funded status in comprehensive income in the year in which the change occurs. these provisions of the 

statement are effective as of the end of the first fiscal year ending after December 15, 2006. sfas 

no. 158 also requires an employer to measure the funded status of a plan as of the date of its fiscal year 

end, which is consistent with the company’s measurement date. the impact of adopting sfas no. 158 

as of December 31, 2006 was a net increase to accumulated other comprehensive loss in the amount of 

$57 million, net of tax. 

in october 2006, the Board of Directors approved the creation of a cash balance formula within 

the company’s existing retirement plans for salaried and non-bargained hourly employees. the formula 

will provide cash balance credits at the rate of 4% –8% of eligible earnings, depending upon age and 

years of service points, with interest credited annually at the 30-year treasury rate. effective July 1, 

2006, all u.s. calmar employees began accruing cash balance credits under this new formula. effective 

January 1, 2007, all newly hired u.s. employees will accrue benefits under this new formula. effective 

January 1, 2008, all u.s. employees age 40 and over at that time will be provided the opportunity to 

make a one-time choice between the existing final average pay and cash balance formulas and all u.s. 

employees less than age 40 at that time will begin accruing cash balance credits under this formula. 

the adoption of this change reduced retirement plan liabilities by $25 million as of December 31, 2006, 

and increased net periodic pension income by $1 million and $10 million in 2006 and 2007, respectively. 

net periodic pension cost (income) relating to employee retirement benefits was $(54) million, 

$(49) million and $48 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 

in accordance with the provisions of sfas no. 88, Employers’ Accounting for Settlements and 

Curtailments of Defined Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits, settlements, curtailments 

and termination benefits associated with merger-related and restructuring activities were recorded. net 

periodic pension cost (income) reflects cumulative favorable investment returns on plan assets. prior 

service cost and actuarial gains and losses subject to amortization are amortized on a straight-line 

basis over the average remaining service, which is about 10 years. 
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the components of net pension cost (income) for each of the periods presented are as follows: 

 Years ended december 31 

in millions	 2007		 2006	 2005	
	

Service	cost-benefits	earned	during	the	period	 $	 	53	 $	 	59	 $	 	53
Interest	cost	on	projected	benefit	obligation	 147	 142	 141
Expected	return	on	plan	assets	 (265)	 (262)	 (273)
Amortization	of	prior	service	cost	 6	 7	 7
Amortization	of	net	loss	 5	 4	 2

Pension	income	before	settlements,	curtailments		
	 and	termination	benefits	 (54)	 (50)	 (70)
Settlements	 –	 –	 115
Termination	benefits	 –	 1	 3
	

Net	periodic	pension	cost	(income)	 $	 (54)	 $	 (49)	 $	 	48

the components of other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in other 

comprehensive income:

  

	 	 2007		 2006	
	

Net	actuarial	loss	(gain)	 	 $(260)	 $111
Amortization	of	net	actuarial	loss	 	 (5)	 –
Prior	service	cost	 	 –	 41	 		
Amortization	of	prior	service	cost	 	 (6)	 –	

Total	recognized	in	other	comprehensive	income	 	 $(271)	 $152

Total	recognized	in	net	periodic	pension	cost	(income)		
	 and	other	comprehensive	income	 	 $(325)	 $103
	

the estimated net actuarial loss and prior service cost for the defined benefit retirement plans that will 

be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic benefit cost in 2008 is 

$1 million and $5 million, respectively. 

in January 2005, the company reached an agreement to sell its printing and writing papers 

business and related assets. as a result, in 2005 a settlement loss in the retirement plans of $110 

million was recorded. tabular amounts for 2005 were not adjusted for discontinued operations resulting 

from the sale. net pension income from continuing operations, before settlements, curtailments and 

termination benefits was $67 million in 2005.
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Postretirement benefits  meadwestvaco provides life insurance for substantially all retirees and medical 

benefits to certain retirees in the form of cost subsidies until medicare eligibility is reached and to 

certain other retirees, medical benefits up to a maximum lifetime amount. the company funds certain 

medical benefits on a current basis with retirees paying a portion of the costs. certain retired employees 

of businesses acquired by the company are covered under other medical plans that differ from current 

plans in coverage, deductibles and retiree contributions. prior service cost and actuarial gains and 

losses subject to amortization are amortized over the average remaining service, which is about 5 years. 

in 2004, the company modified certain postretirement healthcare benefits to be provided to future 

retirees. this change reduced the postretirement benefit obligation by about $68 million, and is being 

amortized over the remaining life of the eligible employees, which is approximately 24 years.

the components of net postretirement benefits cost (income) for each of the periods presented 

are as follows:

 Years ended december 31

in millions	 2007		 2006	 2005	
	

Service	cost-benefits	earned	during	the	period	 $		3	 $	 3	 $	 	5
Interest	cost	 7	 8	 9
Net	amortization	 (1)	 (1)	 –

Postretirement	expense	before	curtailments		
	 and	termination	benefits	 9	 10	 14
Curtailments	 –	 –	 (29)

Net	periodic	postretirement	benefits	cost	(income)	 $		9	 $10	 $(15)
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the components of other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in other 

comprehensive income:

   

	 	 2007		 2006	
	

Net	actuarial	gain	 	 $	 –	 $(15)
Prior	service	benefit	 	 –	 (33)
Amortization	of	prior	service	benefit	 	 1	 –

Total	recognized	in	other	comprehensive	income	 	 $	 1	 $(48)

Total	recognized	in	net	periodic	postretirement	benefit		
	 cost	(income)	and	other	comprehensive	income	 	 $10	 $(38)
	

the estimated net actuarial gain and prior service benefit for the postretirement plans that will be 

amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic postretirement benefit cost 

in 2008 is $2 million, allocated equally between components. 

in 2005, a curtailment gain of $29 million related to the sale of the printing and writing papers 

business was recorded. tabular amounts were not adjusted for discontinued operations resulting from 

the sale. net periodic postretirement benefit cost from continuing operations, before curtailments and 

termination benefits was $13 million in 2005.

the following table also sets forth the funded status of the plans and amounts recognized in the 

consolidated balance sheets at december 31, 2007 and 2006, based on a measurement date of 

december 31 for each period. 
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Obligations, assets and funded status 
            Years ended december 31

		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Nonqualified	U.S.	and
	 	 	 	 	 	 Qualified	U.S.	Retirement	Plans	 	Non-U.S.	Retirement	Plans	 	 Postretirement	Benefits

in millions	 	 2007		 	 2006	 2007		 2006	 2007	 2006	
	

Change	in	benefit	obligation:
	 	 Benefit	obligation	at	beginning	of	period	 $2,438	 $2,484	 $	201	 $	159	 $	131	 $	153
	 	 Service	cost	 47	 54	 6	 5	 3	 3
	 	 Interest	cost	 136	 133	 11	 9	 7	 8
	 	 Actuarial	loss	(gain)	 (135)	 (57)	 (28)	 14	 	(1)	 (14)
	 	 Plan	amendments	 –	 (19)	 –	 1	 –	 –
	 	 Acquisitions	 –	 –	 –	 10	 –	 –
	 	 Foreign	currency	exchange	rate	changes	 –	 –	 7	 10	 1	 –	
	 	 Employee	contributions	 –	 –	 –	 –	 15	 16
	 	 Termination	benefit	costs	 16	 14	 –	 1	 –	 –
	 	 Settlements	 –	 –	 (1)	 –	 –	 –	
	 	 Benefits	paid	(including	termination	benefits)	 (177)	 (171)	 (8)	 (8)	 (32)	 (35)

	 	 Benefit	obligation	at	end	of	year	 $2,325	 $2,438	 $	188	 $	201	 	 $	124	 $	131

Change	in	plan	assets:
	 	 Fair	value	of	plan	assets	at	beginning	of	period	 $3,358	 $3,120	 $	 	60	 $		 	50	 $	 		 –	 $	 		 –
	 	 Actual	return	on	plan	assets	 357	 409	 3	 5	 –	 –	
	 	 Company	contributions	 –	 –	 11	 9	 17 19
	 	 Foreign	currency	exchange	rate	changes	 –	 –	 4	 4	 –	 –	
	 	 Employee	contributions	 –	 –	 –	 –	 15	 16
	 	 Settlements	 –	 –	 (1)	 –	 –	 –	
	 	 Benefits	paid	(including	termination	benefits)	 (177)	 (171)	 (8)	 (8)	 (32)	 (35)

	 	 Fair	value	of	plan	assets	at	end	of	year	 $3,538	 $3,358	 $	 	69	 $	 	60	 	 $	 		 –	 $	 		 –

Over	(under)	funded	status	at	end	of	year	 $1,213	 $	 	920	 $(119)	 $(141)	 $(124)	 $(131)

Amounts	recognized	in	the	balance	sheet	
	 consist	of:
	 	 Noncurrent	assets—prepaid	pension	asset	 $1,213	 $	 	920	 $	 		 –	 $	 		 –	 $	 		 –	 $	 		 –
	 	 Current	liabilities	 –	 –	 (6)	 (5)	 (15)	 (18)
	 	 Noncurrent	liabilities	 –	 –	 (113)	 (136)	 (109)	 (113)

	 	 Total	net	pension	asset	(liability)	 $1,213	 $	 	920	 $(119)	 $(141)		 $(124)	 $(131)

Amounts	recognized	in	accumulated
	 other	comprehensive	income	(pre-tax)	consist	of:
	 	 Net	actuarial	loss	(gain)	 $	 (159)	 $	 		 75	 $	 	20	 $	 	51	 $	 (15)	 $	 (15)
	 	 Prior	service	cost	(benefit)	 38	 45	 (3)	 (4)	 (32)	 (33)

Total	recognized	in	accumulated	other		
	 comprehensive	income	 $	 (121)	 $	 	120	 $	 	17	 $	 	47	 	 $	 (47)	 $	 (48)
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Obligations, assets and funded status 
            Years ended december 31

		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Nonqualified	U.S.	and
	 	 	 	 	 	 Qualified	U.S.	Retirement	Plans	 	Non-U.S.	Retirement	Plans	 	 Postretirement	Benefits

in millions	 	 2007		 	 2006	 2007		 2006	 2007	 2006	
	

Change	in	benefit	obligation:
	 	 Benefit	obligation	at	beginning	of	period	 $2,438	 $2,484	 $	201	 $	159	 $	131	 $	153
	 	 Service	cost	 47	 54	 6	 5	 3	 3
	 	 Interest	cost	 136	 133	 11	 9	 7	 8
	 	 Actuarial	loss	(gain)	 (135)	 (57)	 (28)	 14	 	(1)	 (14)
	 	 Plan	amendments	 –	 (19)	 –	 1	 –	 –
	 	 Acquisitions	 –	 –	 –	 10	 –	 –
	 	 Foreign	currency	exchange	rate	changes	 –	 –	 7	 10	 1	 –	
	 	 Employee	contributions	 –	 –	 –	 –	 15	 16
	 	 Termination	benefit	costs	 16	 14	 –	 1	 –	 –
	 	 Settlements	 –	 –	 (1)	 –	 –	 –	
	 	 Benefits	paid	(including	termination	benefits)	 (177)	 (171)	 (8)	 (8)	 (32)	 (35)

	 	 Benefit	obligation	at	end	of	year	 $2,325	 $2,438	 $	188	 $	201	 	 $	124	 $	131

Change	in	plan	assets:
	 	 Fair	value	of	plan	assets	at	beginning	of	period	 $3,358	 $3,120	 $	 	60	 $		 	50	 $	 		 –	 $	 		 –
	 	 Actual	return	on	plan	assets	 357	 409	 3	 5	 –	 –	
	 	 Company	contributions	 –	 –	 11	 9	 17 19
	 	 Foreign	currency	exchange	rate	changes	 –	 –	 4	 4	 –	 –	
	 	 Employee	contributions	 –	 –	 –	 –	 15	 16
	 	 Settlements	 –	 –	 (1)	 –	 –	 –	
	 	 Benefits	paid	(including	termination	benefits)	 (177)	 (171)	 (8)	 (8)	 (32)	 (35)

	 	 Fair	value	of	plan	assets	at	end	of	year	 $3,538	 $3,358	 $	 	69	 $	 	60	 	 $	 		 –	 $	 		 –

Over	(under)	funded	status	at	end	of	year	 $1,213	 $	 	920	 $(119)	 $(141)	 $(124)	 $(131)

Amounts	recognized	in	the	balance	sheet	
	 consist	of:
	 	 Noncurrent	assets—prepaid	pension	asset	 $1,213	 $	 	920	 $	 		 –	 $	 		 –	 $	 		 –	 $	 		 –
	 	 Current	liabilities	 –	 –	 (6)	 (5)	 (15)	 (18)
	 	 Noncurrent	liabilities	 –	 –	 (113)	 (136)	 (109)	 (113)

	 	 Total	net	pension	asset	(liability)	 $1,213	 $	 	920	 $(119)	 $(141)		 $(124)	 $(131)

Amounts	recognized	in	accumulated
	 other	comprehensive	income	(pre-tax)	consist	of:
	 	 Net	actuarial	loss	(gain)	 $	 (159)	 $	 		 75	 $	 	20	 $	 	51	 $	 (15)	 $	 (15)
	 	 Prior	service	cost	(benefit)	 38	 45	 (3)	 (4)	 (32)	 (33)

Total	recognized	in	accumulated	other		
	 comprehensive	income	 $	 (121)	 $	 	120	 $	 	17	 $	 	47	 	 $	 (47)	 $	 (48)
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the accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit plans was $2,699 million and $2,513 million at 

december 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

information for pension plans with an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets as of 

december 31: 

  

in millions	 	 2007		 2006	
	

Projected	benefit	obligation	 	 $165	 $184
Accumulated	benefit	obligation	 	 156	 165
Fair	value	of	plan	assets	 	 47	 45

Assumptions  the weighted-average assumptions used to determine the company’s benefit obligations 

at december 31: 

   

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 2007		 2006	
	

Retirement	benefits:
	 Discount	rate	 	 	 6.22%	 5.71%
	 Rate	of	compensation	increase	 	 	 3.97%	 3.97%
Postretirement	benefits:
	 Discount	rate	 	 	 	6.23%	 5.74%
	 Healthcare	cost	increase	 	 	 	8.48%	 8.97%
	 Prescription	drug	cost	increase	 	 	 10.21%	 12.92%
	

the weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic pension cost and net postretirement 

benefits cost for the years presented: 

 Years ended december 31 

	 	 	 	 	 	 2007		 2006	 2005	
	

Retirement	benefits:
	 Discount	rate	 	 5.71%	 5.48%	 5.68%
	 Rate	of	compensation	increase	 	 3.97%	 3.99%	 3.98%
	 Expected	return	on	plan	assets	 	 8.46%	 8.47%	 8.48%
Postretirement	benefits:
	 Discount	rate	 	 	5.74%	 5.50%	 5.60%
	 Healthcare	cost	increase	 	 	8.97%	 10.00%	 12.00%
	 Prescription	drug	cost	increase	 	 12.92%	 14.00%	 –	
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meadwestvaco’s approach to developing capital market assumptions combines an analysis of 

historical performance, the drivers of investment performance by asset class and current economic 

fundamentals. for returns, the company utilizes a building block approach starting with an inflation 

expectation and adds an expected real return to arrive at a long-term nominal expected return for each 

asset class. long-term expected real returns are derived in the context of future expectations for the 

u.s. treasury real yield curve. the company derives return assumptions for all other equity and fixed 

income asset classes by starting with either the u.s. equity or u.s. fixed income return assumption  

and adding a risk premium, which reflects any additional risk inherent in the asset class. 

the company determined the discount rates by referencing the citigroup pension discount curve. 

the company believes that using a yield curve approach more accurately reflects changes in the 

present value of liabilities over time since each cash flow is discounted at the rate at which it could 

effectively be settled. previously, the company referenced indices for long-term, high quality bonds, 

ensuring that the durations of those indices were not materially different from the duration of the plans’ 

liabilities, or if different, that adjusting the discount rate would not have produced results that were 

materially different from using a common discount rate for all of its plans. 

the annual rate of increase in healthcare and prescription drug costs is assumed to decline 

ratably each year until reaching 5% in 2015 and thereafter. the effect of a 1% increase in the assumed 

combined cost trend rate would increase the december 31, 2007 accumulated postretirement benefit 

obligation by $4 million and the total service and interest cost for 2007 by $0.5 million. the effect of 

a 1% decrease in the assumed healthcare cost trend rate would decrease the december 31, 2007 

accumulated postretirement benefit obligation by $4 million and the total service and interest cost  

for 2007 by $0.5 million. 

the company also has defined contribution plans that cover substantially all u.s. and certain 

non-u.s. based employees. expense for company matching contributions under these plans 

was $30 million, $28 million and $30 million for the years ended december 31, 2007, 2006 and 

2005, respectively. 

 

Retirement plan assets  the meadwestvaco u.s. retirement plan asset allocation at december 31, 

2007 and 2006, long-term target allocation, and expected long-term rate of return by asset category 

are as follows: 
 

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Weighted-
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 average	expected	
	 	 	 	 	 Target	 Percentage	of	plan	 long-term	rate	
Asset	category:	 allocation	 assets	at	December	31	 of	return

	 	 	 	 	 	 2007		 2006	 2007	

Equity	securities	 40%	 45%	 66%	 9.99%
Debt	securities	 50%	 51%	 30%	 6.33%
Real	estate	and	private	equity	 10%	 4%	 4%	 12.26%

Total		 100%	 100%	 100%
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the meadwestvaco master Retirement trust maintains a well-diversified investment program through 

both the long-term allocation of trust fund assets among asset classes and the selection of investment 

managers whose various styles are fundamentally complementary to one another and serve to achieve 

satisfactory rates of return. active management of assets is used in asset classes and strategies where 

there is the potential to add value over a benchmark. the long-term trust fund asset allocation policy 

emphasizes protecting the plans’ funded status. the equity class of securities is expected to provide 

the long-term growth necessary to cover the growth of the plans’ obligations. the policy may also 

allocate funds to other asset classes that serve to enhance long-term, risk-adjusted return expectations. 

long-duration fixed income securities and interest rate swaps are used to better match the interest rate 

sensitivity of plan assets and liabilities. investment risk is measured and monitored on an ongoing basis 

through annual liability measurements, periodic asset/liability studies and quarterly investment portfolio 

reviews. a portion of the overall fund will remain in short-term fixed income investments in order to meet 

the ongoing operating cash requirements of the plans. 

Cash flows 

Contributions: the company does not anticipate any required contributions to the u.s. qualified 

retirement plans in the foreseeable future as the plans are not required to make any minimum regulatory 

funding contribution. However, the company expects to contribute $5 million to the funded non-u.s. 

pension plans in 2008. 

the company expects to pay $24 million in benefits to participants of the nonqualified and unfunded 

non-u.s. retirement and postretirement plans in 2008. the table below presents estimated future 

benefits payments, substantially all of which are expected to be funded from plan assets. 

estimated future benefit payments: 

	

	 	 	 	 	 	 Postretirement
	 	 	 	 	 	 benefits	before
	 	 	 	 	 Retirement	 Medicare	Part	 Medicare	Part	
in millions	 benefits	 D	subsidy	 D	subsidy

2008		 $150	 $16	 $(1)
2009		 157	 16	 (1)
2010		 161	 16	 (1)
2011		 165	 16	 (1)
2012		 177	 15	 (1)
2013–2017	 961	 58	 (4)

Postemployment benefits  meadwestvaco provides limited postemployment benefits to former or 

inactive employees, including short-term and long-term disability, workers’ compensation, severance, 

and health and welfare benefit continuation. 
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l. reStructuring chargeS 

Year ended December 31, 2007  for the year ended december 31, 2007, the company recorded pre-

tax charges of $85 million for employee separation costs, asset write-downs and other restructuring 

actions, of which $57 million, $24 million and $4 million were recorded within cost of sales, selling, 

general and administrative expenses, and other income, net, respectively. in the fourth quarter of 2007, 

the company recorded pre-tax charges of $41 million, of which $33 million, $6 million and $2 million 

were recorded within cost of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses, and other income, 

net, respectively. 

although these charges related to individual segments, such amounts are reflected in corporate 

and other for segment reporting purposes. the following table and discussion present additional detail 

of the 2007 charges by business segment: 

	

	 	 	 	 	 		 Asset	
	 	 	 	 	 Employee		 write-downs	
in millions	 costs	 and	other	costs	 Total

Packaging	Resources	 $	 2	 $	 –	 $	 2
Consumer	Solutions	 11	 12	 23
Consumer	&	Office	Products	 2	 3	 5
All	other	 4	 51	 55

	 	 	 	 	 $19	 $66	 $85	

Packaging Resources: during the year ended december 31, 2007, the packaging Resources segment 

incurred charges of $2 million for employee separation costs related to approximately 30 employees. 

the majority of the affected employees had separated from the company by december 31, 2007, and 

the remaining employees will be separated in 2008.

 Consumer Solutions: during the year ended december 31, 2007, the consumer solutions 

segment incurred charges of $23 million for employee separation costs, asset write-downs and 

other restructuring actions in connection with its packaging converting operations in the u.s. and 

europe. these charges include employee separation costs of $11 million related to approximately 170 

employees. the majority of the affected employees had separated from the company by december 31, 

2007, and the remaining employees will be separated in 2008. the remaining $12 million was related to 

asset write-downs and other restructuring actions. 

Consumer & Office Products: during the year ended december 31, 2007, the consumer & office 

products segment incurred charges of $5 million for employee separation costs, asset write-downs 

and other restructuring actions in connection with its consumer and office products manufacturing 

operations in the u.s. and brazil. these charges include employee separation costs of $2 million 

related to approximately 40 employees. the majority of the affected employees had separated from 

the company by december 31, 2007, and the remaining employees will be separated in 2008. the 

remaining $3 million was related to asset write-downs and other restructuring actions. 
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All other: during the year ended december 31, 2007, the company also recorded charges of 

approximately $4 million related to employee separation costs covering approximately 60 employees. 

the majority of the affected employees had separated from the company by december 31, 2007, and 

the remaining employees will be separated in 2008. additionally, the company incurred charges of 

$51 million in connection with asset write-downs and other restructuring actions, of which $42 million 

was related to asset impairments and facility closure costs in connection with the company’s specialty 

papers business. 

Year ended December 31, 2006  for the year ended december 31, 2006, the company recorded 

pre-tax charges of $133 million in connection with employee separation costs, asset write-downs and 

other restructuring actions, of which $53 million, $60 million and $20 million were recorded within cost 

of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses, and other income, net, respectively. of these 

charges, $27 million was related to the packaging Resources segment, $30 million was related to the 

consumer solutions segment and $8 million was related to the consumer & office products segment. 

these charges related primarily to closing of a consumer solutions packaging and converting plant 

in the u.s. and various restructuring actions in the packaging Resources, consumer solutions, and 

consumer & office products segments in the u.s. and europe, including asset impairments and 

employee separation costs covering approximately 1,340 employees. as of december 31, 2007,  

actions related to employee separation costs were substantially paid. in addition, $68 million was 

related to corporate and other, of which $49 million was in connection with asset write-downs and 

other restructuring actions associated with ceased-use facilities and asset impairments.

Year ended December 31, 2005  for the year ended december 31, 2005, the company recorded 

pre-tax charges of $29 million for employee separation costs, asset write-downs and other restructuring 

actions, of which $18 million and $11 million were recorded within cost of sales and selling, general 

and administration expenses, respectively. of these charges, $3 million was related to the packaging 

Resources segment, $11 million was related to the consumer solutions segment, $8 million was related 

to the consumer & office products segment, and $9 million was related to corporate and other. 

these charges included the closing of a consumer solutions converting plant in the u.s. and various 

other restructuring actions in the packaging Resources, consumer solutions, and consumer & office 

products segments in the u.s. and europe, including asset impairments and employee separation costs 

covering approximately 300 employees. the company also recorded employee separation costs of 

$6 million in corporate and other covering approximately 190 employees. as of december 31, 2006, 

actions related to employee separation costs were substantially paid. in addition, the company sold 

previously written-down consumer & office products assets, resulting in a gain of $2 million.
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Summary of restructuring accruals  the activity in the accrued restructuring balances was as follows 

for the year ended december 31, 2005 to the year ended december 31, 2007: 

	

	 	 	 	 	 Employee	 Other	
In millions	 costs	 costs	 Total	

Balance	of	restructuring	accruals		
	 at	December	31,	2004	 $	13	 $		 8	 $	21
	 	 Current	charges	 16	 8	 24
	 	 Payments	 (22)	 (12)	 (34)

Balance	of	restructuring	accruals		
	 at	December	31,	2005	 7	 4	 11
	 	 Current	charges	 50	 17	 67
	 	 Payments	 (27)	 (6)	 (33)
	 	 Acquisition	reserve1	 5	 –	 5

Balance	of	restructuring	accruals		
	 at	December	31,	2006	 35	 15	 50
	 	 Current	charges	 19	 8	 27
	 	 Payments	 (38)	 (10)	 (48)

Balance	of	restructuring	accruals		
	 at	December	31,	2007	 $	16	 $	13	 $	29

1 In connection with the acquisition of Calmar, the company established a reserve under purchase accounting for 
restructuring actions. see note p for further discussion. 
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m. other income, net 

components of other income, net are as follows: 

 Years ended december 31 

in millions	 2007		 2006		 2005
	

Gains	on	sales	of	large-tract	forestlands	in		
	 West	Virginia,	Alabama,	and	Georgia	 $(250)	 $	 	–	 $	 	–
Gain	on	sales	of	small-tract	forestlands	 (24)	 (29)	 (60)
Gain	on	sale	of	corporate	real	estate	 –	 (18)	 –
Gain	on	sale	of	PIK	note	 –	 (21)	 –
Interest	income	 (20)	 (20)	 (33)
Asset	impairments	 2	 20	 –
Transition	services	income	 –	 (5)	 (25)
Loss	on	the	extinguishment	of	debt	 –	 –	 90
Foreign	currency	exchange	losses	(gains)	 (14)	 (2)	 8
Other,	net	 1	 (8)	 4

	 	 	 	 	 $(305)	 $(83)	 $(16)
	

Gains on sales of large- and small-tract forestlands were $274 million, $29 million and $60 million 

related to sales of 393,000 acres, 8,000 acres and 20,000 acres in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively 

(see note b for discussion of significant 2007 forestlands sales). during 2006, the company recorded 

a $21 million gain on the sale of a pik note received as part of the consideration for the sale of the 

printing and writing papers business in 2005. as part of the company’s initiative to reduce its real estate 

footprint, the company sold corporate real estate for a gain of $18 million in 2006. in 2006 and 2005, 

income of $5 million and $25 million, respectively, was recorded from services provided to newpage 

corporation pursuant to the printing and writing papers sale agreement (see note p for further detail on 

the sale). in 2006, asset impairment charges recorded in other income, net include a $13 million write-

down of an investment that was subsequently sold in 2007. the company utilized cash proceeds from 

the sale of its printing and writing papers business to repay approximately $1 billion of debt in 2005 and, 

as a result, incurred charges for debt retirement of $90 million. 

n. income taxeS

earnings from continuing operations before income taxes are comprised of the following: 

 Years ended december 31 

in millions	 2007		 2006		 2005
	

U.S.	earnings	(loss)	 $230	 $(50)	 $(27)
Foreign	earnings	 170	 148	 162

	 	 	 	 	 $400	 $	98	 $135
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the significant components of the income tax provision are as follows: 

 Years ended december 31 

in millions	 2007		 2006		 2005
	

Current:
	 U.S.	federal	 $	 43	 $	 	6	 $	103
	 State	and	local	 13	 16	 13
	 Foreign	 42	 39	 46

	 	 	 	 	 98	 61	 162

Deferred:
	 U.S.	federal	 18	 (38)	 (165)
	 State	and	local	 5	 (18)	 (37)
	 Foreign	 (6)	 –	 (1)

Provision	(benefit)	for	deferred	income	taxes	 17	 (56)	 (203)

	 	 	 	 	 115	 5	 (41)
Allocation	to	discontinued	operations	 –	 –	 (57)

Income	tax	provision1	 $115	 $	 	5	 $	 	16

1 Related to continuing operations. 

the following table summarizes the major differences between the actual income tax provision 

attributable to continuing operations and taxes computed at the u.s. federal statutory rate: 

 Years ended december 31 

in millions	 2007		 2006		 2005
	

Income	tax	provision	computed	at	the		
	 U.S.	federal	statutory	rate	of	35%	 $140	 $	35	 $	 	47
State	and	local	income	taxes,	net	of	federal	benefit	 6	 (8)	 (11)
Foreign	income	tax	rate	differential	 (24)	 (12)	 (14)
Valuation	allowances	 3	 6	 2
Credits	 (1)	 (3)	 (4)
Other	 (9)	 (13)	 (4)

Income	tax	provision1	 $115	 $	 	5	 $	 	16

Effective	tax	rate1	 	28.8%	 5.4%	 11.9%

1 Related to continuing operations. 
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the principal current and noncurrent deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows:

 december 31 

in millions	 	 2007		 2006	
	

Deferred	tax	assets:
	 Employee	benefits	 	 $	 	 	174	 $	 	 	154
	 Postretirement	benefit	accrual	 	 36	 62
	 Other	accruals	and	reserves	 	 64	 76
	 Net	operating	loss	and	other	credit	carryforwards	 	 190	 147
	 Other	 	 74	 75

Total	deferred	tax	assets	 	 538	 514
Valuation	allowance	 	 (131)	 (126)

Net	deferred	tax	assets	 	 407	 388

Deferred	tax	liabilities:
	 Depreciation	and	depletion	 	 (928)	 (933)
	 Nontaxable	pension	asset	 	 (422)	 (364)
	 State	and	local	taxes	 	 	(104)	 (84)
	 Identifiable	intangibles	 	 (98)	 (85)
	 Other	 	 (41)	 (39)

Total	deferred	tax	liabilities	 	 (1,593)	 (1,505)

Net	deferred	liability	 	 $(1,186)	 $(1,117)

Included	in	the	balance	sheet:
Current	assets-deferred	tax	asset	 	 $	 	 	 42	 $	 	 	 	60
Noncurrent	net	deferred	tax	liability	 	 (1,228)	 (1,177)

Net	deferred	liability	 	 $(1,186)	 $(1,117)

the company has a $5 million federal net operating loss carryover subject to certain limitations on 

utilization imposed by the internal Revenue code. in addition, the company has state and foreign tax net 

operating loss carryforwards which are available to reduce future taxable income in various state and 

foreign jurisdictions. the company’s valuation allowance against deferred tax assets primarily relates 

to the state and foreign tax net operating losses for which the ultimate realization of future benefits 

is uncertain.

at december 31, 2007 and 2006, no deferred income taxes have been provided for the company’s 

share of undistributed net earnings of foreign operations due to management’s intent to reinvest such 

amounts indefinitely. the determination of the amount of such unrecognized tax liability is not practical. 

those earnings, including foreign currency translation adjustments, totaled $1,345 million and $985 

million for the years ended december 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 
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the company adopted the provisions of fin 48 on January 1, 2007. as a result of the implementation 

of fin 48, the company recorded a decrease of opening retained earnings and goodwill in the amount 

of $8 million and $39 million, respectively. a reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of 

unrecognized tax benefits is as follows: 

	

	 	 	 20071

Balance	at	January	1,	2007	 	 	 $186
	 Additions	based	on	tax	positions	related	to	the	current	year	 	 	 14
	 Additions	for	tax	positions	of	prior	years	 	 	 32
	 Reductions	for	tax	positions	of	prior	years	 	 	 (15)
	 Reductions	for	tax	positions	due	to	lapse	of	statute	 	 	 (2)
	 Settlements	 	 	 	(64)	

Balance	at	December	31,	2007	 	 	 $151

1 the above table includes foreign currency translation effects of approximately $5 million.

the company has operations in many areas of the world and is subject, at times, to audit in these 

jurisdictions. these audits, by their nature are complex and can require several years to resolve. the 

final resolution of any such tax audits could result in either a reduction in the company’s accruals or an 

increase in its income tax provision, both of which could have an impact on the results of operations 

in any given period. with a few exceptions, the company is no longer subject to u.s. federal, state 

and local, or foreign income tax examinations by tax authorities for years prior to 2002. the company 

regularly evaluates, assesses and adjusts these accruals in light of changing facts and circumstances, 

which could cause the effective tax rate to fluctuate from period to period. of the total $151 million 

liability for unrecognized tax benefits at december 31, 2007, $123 million could impact the annual 

effective tax rate in future periods. the remaining balance of this liability would be adjusted through  

the consolidated balance sheet without impacting the company’s annual effective tax rate. 

during 2007, the company settled audits with the internal Revenue service for tax years 1999–2001. 

the internal Revenue service exam for tax years 2002–2003 is open and currently is not expected to 

close in 2008. management does not anticipate any potential settlement for tax years 2002–2003 to 

result in a material change to the company’s financial position. in addition, the company is in advanced 

stages of audits in certain foreign jurisdictions and certain domestic states. based on the resolution 

of the various audits mentioned above, it is reasonably possible that the balance of unrecognized tax 

benefits may change by $15 million to $25 million during 2008. 

pursuant to agreements for the purchase of certain businesses, the company is indemnified by 

the sellers for tax costs and contingencies related to pre-acquisition periods for such businesses. 

the company estimates such pre-acquisition tax costs and contingencies to be $7 million at 

december 31, 2007.

 the company recognizes interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits 

in income tax expense in the consolidated statements of operations, which is consistent with the 

recognition of these items in prior reporting periods. during the years ended december 31, 2007 

and 2006, the company recognized $16 million and $10 million, respectively, in interest expense and 
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penalties. the company accrued $57 million and $15 million for the payment of interest and penalties at 

december 31, 2007, and 2006, respectively. 

approximately $94 million of deferred income tax expense and $34 million of deferred income tax 

benefit was provided for in components of other comprehensive income (loss) during the years ended 

december 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

o. environmental and legal matterS 

the company has been notified by the u.s. environmental protection agency (the “epa”) or by various 

state or local governments that it may be liable under federal environmental laws or under applicable 

state or local laws with respect to the cleanup of hazardous substances at sites previously operated or 

used by the company. the company is currently named as a potentially responsible party (“pRp”), or 

has received third-party requests for contribution under the comprehensive environmental Response, 

compensation and liability act (ceRcla) and similar state or local laws with respect to numerous 

sites. there are other sites which may contain contamination or which may be potential superfund 

sites, but for which meadwestvaco has not received any notice or claim. the potential liability for all 

these sites will depend upon several factors, including the extent of contamination, the method of 

remediation, insurance coverage and contribution by other pRps. the company regularly evaluates its 

potential liability at these various sites. at december 31, 2007, meadwestvaco had recorded liabilities 

of approximately $21 million for estimated potential cleanup costs based upon its close monitoring 

of ongoing activities and its past experience with these matters. the company believes that it is 

reasonably possible that costs associated with these sites may exceed amounts of recorded liabilities 

by an amount that could range from an insignificant amount to as much as $20 million. this estimate 

is less certain than the estimate upon which the environmental liabilities were based. after consulting 

with legal counsel and after considering established liabilities, it is our judgment that the resolution of 

pending litigation and proceedings is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the company’s 

consolidated financial condition or liquidity. in any given period or periods, however, it is possible such 

proceedings or matters could have a material effect on the results of operations. 

as with numerous other large industrial companies, the company has been named a defendant 

in asbestos-related personal injury litigation. typically, these suits also name many other corporate 

defendants. all of the claims against the company resolved to date have been concluded before trial, 

either through dismissal or through settlement with payments to the plaintiff that are not material to 

the company. to date, the costs resulting from the litigation, including settlement costs, have not been 

significant. as of december 31, 2007, there were approximately 350 lawsuits. management believes that 

the company has substantial indemnification protection and insurance coverage, subject to applicable 

deductibles and policy limits, with respect to asbestos claims. the company has valid defenses to 

these claims and intends to continue to defend them vigorously. additionally, based on its historical 

experience in asbestos cases and an analysis of the current cases, the company believes that it has 

adequate amounts accrued for potential settlements and judgments in asbestos-related litigation. 

at december 31, 2007, the company had recorded litigation liabilities of approximately $19 million, 

a significant portion of which relates to asbestos. should the volume of litigation grow substantially, 

it is possible that the company could incur significant costs resolving these cases. after consulting 

with legal counsel and after considering established liabilities, it is our judgment that the resolution of 

pending litigation and proceedings is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the company’s 

consolidated financial condition or liquidity. in any given period or periods, however, it is possible such 

proceedings or matters could have a material effect on the results of operations. 
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meadwestvaco is involved in various other litigation and administrative proceedings arising in the 

normal course of business. although the ultimate outcome of such matters cannot be predicted with 

certainty, management does not believe that the currently expected outcome of any matter, lawsuit or 

claim that is pending or threatened, or all of them combined, will have a material adverse effect on the 

company’s consolidated financial condition or liquidity. in any given period or periods, however, it is 

possible such proceedings or matters could have a material effect on the results of operations. 

p. acquiSitionS and diSpoSitionS 

2007 acquisitions   during the third quarter of 2007, the company acquired two manufacturers of 

high-quality, innovative dispensing and sprayer systems to strengthen the company’s dispensing and 

spraying systems business. the aggregate purchase price of these acquisitions was $52 million and 

resulted in $17 million of identifiable intangible assets that will be amortized over their estimated useful 

lives of 3 to 16 years, and goodwill of $24 million with the remainder allocated to fixed assets and 

working capital items. for both acquisitions, the total purchase price was allocated based on the fair 

values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, in accordance with sfas no. 141. the amount 

of goodwill was determined by comparing the total cash purchase price to the total fair values of the 

assets acquired and liabilities assumed. approximately $2 million of goodwill resulting from these 

transactions is deductible for tax purposes. the amount paid for these acquisitions that resulted in 

goodwill was primarily due to these businesses providing the company with new technologies and 

increased access to customers in growing and important end markets. the technologies from these 

acquisitions will be integrated with the company’s north american, european and asian production 

facilities to extend the company’s growth in critical markets such as personal care and home and 

garden. Results of operations for these acquisitions are included in the consolidated financial 

statements periods subsequent to their acquisition dates and are included in the consumer solutions 

segment. these acquisitions did not have a material effect on the company’s consolidated financial 

statements and as such, pro forma results for these acquisitions are not presented. 

2006 acquisitions   during the third quarter of 2006, the company acquired saint-Gobain calmar 

(“calmar”) from compagnie de saint-Gobain. calmar is a leading global manufacturer of high-quality 

and innovative dispensing and spraying systems, with manufacturing facilities in north america, europe, 

latin america and asia. 

excluding cash acquired, the purchase price including direct transaction costs was $714 million. 

the results of calmar are included in the consolidated financial statements from the acquisition date 

and are included in the company’s consumer solutions segment. the acquisition was recorded by 

allocating the total consideration to the assets acquired, including intangible assets, and liabilities 

assumed, based on their estimated fair values at the acquisition date. Goodwill associated with this 

acquisition is not deductible for tax purposes. 

the acquisition of calmar was the culmination of a very competitive auction process. the amount 

paid for the business that resulted in goodwill was primarily due to calmar’s status in its markets 

and the enviable relationships it has with its many customers throughout the world. the acquisition 

of calmar provides the company with increased access to growing and important end markets, 

geographies and strategic customers, valuable product pipeline and commercial synergies. these 

synergies include the combined entities’ ability to provide broader product and packaging solutions 

offerings. the total purchase price was allocated based on the fair values of the assets acquired and 

liabilities assumed, in accordance with sfas no. 141. 
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the following table summarizes the purchase price allocation based on the estimated fair values of the 

assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition (in millions): 

	

Accounts	receivable	 	 	 $		 	76
Inventories	 	 	 57
Property,	plant,	equipment	and	land	 	 	 197
Amortizable	and	indefinite-lived	intangible	assets	 	 	 277
Goodwill	 	 	 302
Other	assets	 	 	 21
Accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities	 	 	 (68)
Long-term	deferred	income	taxes	 	 	 (127)
Debt	and	other	long-term	obligations	 	 	 (21)

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 $		714
	
	

the components of the amortizable and indefinite-lived intangible assets listed in the above table as of 

the acquisition date were as follows (in millions): 

	

	 	 	 	 	 	 Amount		 Life	
	

Customer	contracts	and	lists	 	 $168	 21	years	
Trademarks	and	tradenames	 	 91	 Indefinite	
Patents	 	 18	 3–7	years	
	

	 	 	 	 	 	 $277

the trademarks and tradenames were deemed to have indefinite lives and, accordingly, are not being 

amortized, but will be subject to periodic impairment testing. the customer contracts and lists and 

the patents are being amortized on a method based upon estimated future cash flows associated with 

these assets. 
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the following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the combined results of operations of 

the company and calmar as if the acquisition had occurred at January 1, 2006 (in millions, except per 

share amounts): 

	

	 	 	 2006

Net	sales	 	 	 $6,754
Income	from	continuing	operations	before	income	taxes	 	 	 95

Net	income	 	 	 95

Net	income	per	share:	 	
	 Basic	 	 	 $	 0.53
	 Diluted	 	 	 0.52

pro forma net income includes after-tax expense of $8 million for the amortization of purchased 

intangibles and depreciation associated with a step-up in property, plant and equipment. pro forma net 

income also includes after-tax acquisition-related charges of $3 million due to expensing a fair value 

adjustment for inventory. pro forma net income assumes an income tax provision at the combined 

effective tax rates of the company and calmar. included in pro forma net income is a $6 million income 

tax benefit recorded in calmar’s historical income statement for the release of a deferred tax asset 

valuation allowance. in addition, pro forma net income includes after-tax interest expense of $25 million 

for the amount borrowed and the cash utilized to acquire calmar. 

the pro forma financial information is not intended to represent or be indicative of the company’s 

consolidated results of operations or financial condition that would have been reported had the 

acquisition been completed as of the beginning of the period presented and should not be taken as 

indicative of the company’s future consolidated results of operations or financial condition.

2005 acquisitions   during the fourth quarter of 2005, the company acquired dZn, the design Group 

(“dZn”) for approximately $5 million. dZn is a full-service design and marketing company based in 

los angeles, california, which has enhanced the company’s package design capabilities, enabling 

the company to provide a more competitive and comprehensive set of creative design services, 

and is included in the company’s consumer solutions segment. the purchase price allocation 

resulted in approximately $5 million of recorded goodwill. Goodwill associated with this acquisition 

is not deductible for tax purposes. pro forma results for this acquisition are not presented, as the 

transaction was not material to the company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 

december 31, 2005. 

 

Dispositions   on January 14, 2005, the company entered into an agreement to sell its printing and 

writing papers business, including its coated and carbonless papers operations, and related forestlands 

to an affiliate of cerberus management llc, a private investment firm. 

effective april 30, 2005, this divestiture was completed. upon closing, the company received 

proceeds from the buyer of $2.2 billion in cash (subject to certain adjustments) and $100 million in 

aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured payable-in-kind (“pik”) promissory notes (fair value of 
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$75 million at date of issuance) of a subsidiary of the purchaser. as a result of the sale, the company 

incurred a pre-tax accounting loss on sale of approximately $916 million ($687 million after tax), of 

which $710 million ($548 million after tax) was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2004 for impairments 

of goodwill and other long-lived assets, and pension and other employee benefit settlements and 

curtailments. the remaining $206 million ($139 million after tax) in charges was recorded in the first half 

of 2005. the company began reporting the papers business as a discontinued operation in the first 

quarter of 2005.

the company recorded a loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes, of $91 million, 

or $0.48 per share, for the year ended december 31, 2005. included in discontinued operations is 

interest expense directly attributable to the papers business and an allocation of general interest 

expense pursuant to the guidance under emerging issues task force (eitf) 87-24: Allocation of Interest 

to Discontinued Operations. under the guidance of sfas no. 144, assets associated with the sale of 

the printing and writing papers business were classified as held-for-sale and were not depreciated or 

amortized in 2005. included in discontinued operations for 2005 was the benefit of a lifo decrement of 

about $30 million. in connection with the sale of the printing and writing papers business, the company 

provided certain guarantees and indemnities to the buyer and other parties. these obligations include 

both potential environmental matters as well as certain contracts with third parties. the company 

has evaluated these guarantees and indemnifications in accordance with fasb interpretation no. 45, 

Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees 

of Indebtedness of Others, which did not result in a material impact on the company’s consolidated 

financial statements. 

the following table shows the major categories for discontinued operations in the consolidated 

statements of operations for the year ended december 31, 2005, which includes both the loss on the sale 

and results of operations for the printing and writing papers business. for the year ended december 31, 

2005, there are only four months of operations included, as the business was sold on april 30, 2005. 

	

in millions, except per share amount	 	 	 2005

Net	sales	 	 	 $	 	712
Cost	of	sales	 	 	 611
Selling,	general	and	administrative	expenses	 	 	 26
Interest	expense	 	 	 20
Other	expense,	net	 	 	 203
	

Loss	from	discontinued	operations	before	income	taxes	 	 	 (148)
Income	tax	benefit	 	 	 (57)

Net	loss	from	discontinued	operations	 	 	 $	 		(91)
	

Net	loss	from	discontinued	operations	per	share—diluted	 	 	 $(0.48)

Results of operations, excluding the loss on sale, for the year ended december 31, 2005, was income of 

$48 million. 
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q. caSh flowS 

changes in current assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions and dispositions, were as follows: 

 Years ended december 31 

in millions	 2007		 2006		 2005
	

Decrease	(increase)	in:		
	 Receivables	 $	 50	 $	 	(8)	 $	 (52)
	 Inventories	 (36)	 72	 21
	 Prepaid	expenses	 (2)	 (7)	 (3)
Increase	(decrease)	in:
	 Accounts	payable	and	accrued	expenses	 59	 68	 (57)
	 Income	taxes	payable1	 72	 4	 (180)

	 	 	 	 	 $143	 $129	 $(271)

 Years ended december 31 

in millions	 2007		 2006		 2005
	

Cash	paid	for:
	 Interest	 $219	 $209	 $	220
	 	 Less	capitalized	interest	 (2)	 (2)	 (3)

	 Interest	paid,	net	 $217	 $207	 $	217

	 Income	taxes	paid	(refunded),	net	 $	 37	 $	 	(4)	 $	225
	

1 includes approximately $160 million in 2005 related to taxes payable upon the sale of the printing and 
writing papers business. 

in connection with the sale of certain large-tract forestlands in 2007, the company received a $398 

million long-term installment note which does not require any principal payments until its maturity in  

may 2027. see note b and note d for related discussion.
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r. BuSineSS Segment information 

meadwestvaco’s business segments are (i) packaging Resources, (ii) consumer solutions, 

(iii) consumer & office products, and (iv) specialty chemicals. 

the packaging Resources segment produces bleached paperboard, coated natural kraft® 

paperboard (cnk), kraft paperboard, linerboard and saturating kraft, and packaging for consumer 

products including packaging for media, beverage and dairy, produce, cosmetics, tobacco, 

pharmaceuticals and healthcare products. this segment’s paperboard products are manufactured at 

four u.s. mills and two mills located in brazil. bleached paperboard is used for packaging high-value 

consumer products such as pharmaceuticals, cosmetics, tobacco, food service, media products and 

aseptic cartons. cnk paperboard is used for a range of packaging applications, the largest of which 

for meadwestvaco is multi-pack beverage packaging. kraft paperboard is used for folding carton 

applications. linerboard is used in the manufacture of corrugated boxes and containers. saturating 

kraft is used in the manufacture of decorative laminates for kitchen countertops, furniture, flooring and 

wall panels, as well as pad stock for electronic components. 

the consumer solutions segment offers a full range of converting and consumer packaging 

solutions including printed plastic packaging and injection-molded products used for packaging media 

products such as dvds, cds, video games and software; cosmetics and pharmaceutical products; 

and dispensing and sprayer technology systems for personal care, healthcare, fragrance and home 

and garden markets. this segment designs and produces multi-pack cartons and packaging systems 

primarily for the beverage take-home market and packaging for the tobacco market. paperboard and 

plastic are converted into packaging products at plants located in north america, south america, asia 

and europe. in addition, this segment manufactures equipment that is leased or sold to its beverage, 

dairy and other customers to package their products. 

the consumer & office products segment manufactures, sources, markets and distributes 

school and office products, time-management products and envelopes in north america and brazil 

through both retail and commercial channels. meadwestvaco produces many of the leading brand 

names in school supplies, time-management and commercial office products, including amcal®, 

at-a-Glance®, cambridge®, columbian®, day Runner®, five star®, mead® and trapper keeper®.
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the specialty chemicals segment manufactures, markets and distributes specialty chemicals derived 

from sawdust and byproducts of the papermaking process in north america and asia. products include 

activated carbon used in emission control systems for automobiles and trucks, and chemicals used in 

printing inks, asphalt paving, adhesives and lubricants. 

corporate and other includes the company’s specialty papers and forestry operations as well as 

corporate support staff services and related assets and liabilities, including merger-related goodwill. 

the results include income and expense items not directly associated with continuing segment 

operations, such as restructuring charges and one-time costs, legal settlements, net pension income, 

interest income and expense, goodwill impairment charges, gains on sales of forestlands and corporate 

real estate and other activities. 

the segments are measured on operating profits before restructuring charges and one-time costs, 

interest income and expense, minority interest, income taxes, extraordinary items and cumulative effect 

of accounting changes. the segments follow the same accounting principles described in the Summary 

of Significant Accounting Policies. sales between the segments are recorded primarily at market prices. 

no single customer or foreign country accounted for 10% or more of consolidated trade sales or 

assets in the periods presented: 

 Years ended december 31 

in millions	 2007		 2006		 2005
	

Total	sales	outside	of	the	U.S.	 $2,131	 $1,842	 $1,745
Export	sales	from	the	U.S.	 993	 880	 829
Long-lived	assets	located	outside	the	U.S.	 1,396	 1,176	 772
Long-lived	assets	located	in	the	U.S.	 6,274	 6,094	 6,106
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financial information by business segment follows: 

	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 Depreciation,	 		
	 	 	 	 	 Trade	 Inter-segment	 Total	 Segment		 depletion	and	 		 Capital	
in millions	 sales	 sales	 sales	 profit	(loss)	 amortization	 Segment	assets		 expenditures

Year	ended	December	31,	2007
Packaging	Resources	 $2,650	 $	371	 $3,021	 $	322		 $221	 $3,189		 $122
Consumer	Solutions1	 2,430	 1	 2,431	 86		 180	 2,742		 144
Consumer	&	Office	Products	 1,147	 –		 1,147	 139		 35	 803		 10
Specialty	Chemicals	 493	 –		 493	 37		 23	 371		 33
Corporate	and	Other2,3	 186	 31	 217	 (184)	 61	 2,732		 38

Total		 6,906	 403	 7,309	 400		 520	 9,837		 347
Intersegment	eliminations	 –		 	(403)	 (403)	 –		 –	 –		 –

Consolidated	totals4	 $6,906	 $	 	 	–	 $6,906	 $	400		 $520	 $9,837		 $347

Year	ended	December	31,	2006
Packaging	Resources	 $2,564	 $	389	 $2,953	 $	275		 $223	 $3,169		 $126
Consumer	Solutions1	 2,169	 1	 2,170	 93		 160	 2,571		 96
Consumer	&	Office	Products	 1,143	 –	 1,143	 127		 39	 824		 11
Specialty	Chemicals	 468	 25	 493	 51		 21	 342		 26
Corporate	and	Other2,3	 186	 33	 219	 (448)	 74	 2,379		 43

Total		 6,530	 448	 6,978	 98		 517	 9,285		 302
Intersegment	eliminations	 –	 (448)	 (448)	 –		 –	 –		 –

Consolidated	totals4	 $6,530	 $	 	 	–	 $6,530	 $	 	98		 $517	 $9,285		 $302

Year	ended	December	31,	2005
Packaging	Resources	 $2,446	 $	390	 $2,836	 $	234		 $222	 $3,288		 $141
Consumer	Solutions	 2,021	 –	 2,021	 102		 150	 1,641		 96
Consumer	&	Office	Products	 1,125	 –	 1,125	 130		 39	 843		 11
Specialty	Chemicals	 396	 29	 425	 39		 20	 328		 18
Corporate	and	Other2,3	 182	 31	 213	 (370)	 60	 2,808		 39

Total		 6,170	 450	 6,620	 135		 491	 8,908		 305
Intersegment	eliminations	 –	 (450)	 (450)	 –		 –	 –		 –

Consolidated	totals4	 $6,170	 $		 	 –	 $6,170	 $	135		 $491	 $8,908		 $305

1 full year 2007 and the third and fourth quarters of 2006 include the results of calmar, acquired in July 2006. 
2 Revenue included in corporate and other includes specialty papers sales and timber sales of the forestry operation,  

and excludes proceeds from the sale of forestlands. 
3 corporate and other may include goodwill impairment charges, minority interest, debt retirement charges, restructuring 

charges and one-time costs, pension income, interest expense and income and gains on asset sales. 
4 consolidated totals represent income from continuing operations before income taxes. 
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	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 Depreciation,	 		
	 	 	 	 	 Trade	 Inter-segment	 Total	 Segment		 depletion	and	 		 Capital	
in millions	 sales	 sales	 sales	 profit	(loss)	 amortization	 Segment	assets		 expenditures

Year	ended	December	31,	2007
Packaging	Resources	 $2,650	 $	371	 $3,021	 $	322		 $221	 $3,189		 $122
Consumer	Solutions1	 2,430	 1	 2,431	 86		 180	 2,742		 144
Consumer	&	Office	Products	 1,147	 –		 1,147	 139		 35	 803		 10
Specialty	Chemicals	 493	 –		 493	 37		 23	 371		 33
Corporate	and	Other2,3	 186	 31	 217	 (184)	 61	 2,732		 38

Total		 6,906	 403	 7,309	 400		 520	 9,837		 347
Intersegment	eliminations	 –		 	(403)	 (403)	 –		 –	 –		 –

Consolidated	totals4	 $6,906	 $	 	 	–	 $6,906	 $	400		 $520	 $9,837		 $347

Year	ended	December	31,	2006
Packaging	Resources	 $2,564	 $	389	 $2,953	 $	275		 $223	 $3,169		 $126
Consumer	Solutions1	 2,169	 1	 2,170	 93		 160	 2,571		 96
Consumer	&	Office	Products	 1,143	 –	 1,143	 127		 39	 824		 11
Specialty	Chemicals	 468	 25	 493	 51		 21	 342		 26
Corporate	and	Other2,3	 186	 33	 219	 (448)	 74	 2,379		 43

Total		 6,530	 448	 6,978	 98		 517	 9,285		 302
Intersegment	eliminations	 –	 (448)	 (448)	 –		 –	 –		 –

Consolidated	totals4	 $6,530	 $	 	 	–	 $6,530	 $	 	98		 $517	 $9,285		 $302

Year	ended	December	31,	2005
Packaging	Resources	 $2,446	 $	390	 $2,836	 $	234		 $222	 $3,288		 $141
Consumer	Solutions	 2,021	 –	 2,021	 102		 150	 1,641		 96
Consumer	&	Office	Products	 1,125	 –	 1,125	 130		 39	 843		 11
Specialty	Chemicals	 396	 29	 425	 39		 20	 328		 18
Corporate	and	Other2,3	 182	 31	 213	 (370)	 60	 2,808		 39

Total		 6,170	 450	 6,620	 135		 491	 8,908		 305
Intersegment	eliminations	 –	 (450)	 (450)	 –		 –	 –		 –

Consolidated	totals4	 $6,170	 $		 	 –	 $6,170	 $	135		 $491	 $8,908		 $305

1 full year 2007 and the third and fourth quarters of 2006 include the results of calmar, acquired in July 2006. 
2 Revenue included in corporate and other includes specialty papers sales and timber sales of the forestry operation,  

and excludes proceeds from the sale of forestlands. 
3 corporate and other may include goodwill impairment charges, minority interest, debt retirement charges, restructuring 

charges and one-time costs, pension income, interest expense and income and gains on asset sales. 
4 consolidated totals represent income from continuing operations before income taxes. 
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S. Selected quarterly information (unaudited) 

 Years ended december 31 

in millions, except per share data	 	 20071	 20062	
	

Sales:
	 First	 	 $1,552	 $1,434
	 Second	 	 1,706	 1,570
	 Third	 	 1,796	 1,751
	 Fourth	 	 1,852	 1,775

	 Year	 	 $6,906	 $6,530

Gross	profit:
	 First	 	 $	 	243	 $	 	217
	 Second	 	 308	 252
	 Third	 	 343	 335
	 Fourth	 	 302	 327

	 Year	 	 $1,196	 $1,131

Net	income	(loss):
	 First	 	 $	 	(16)	 $	 	 	 	3
	 Second	 	 32	 (7)
	 Third	 	 121	 56
	 Fourth	 	 148	 41
	

	 Year	 	 $	 	285	 $	 	 	93
	

Net	income	(loss)	per	common	share,	basic	and	diluted:
	 First	 	 $(0.09)	 $	0.02
	 Second	 	 0.17	 (0.04)
	 Third	 	 0.66	 0.31
	 Fourth	 	 0.82	 0.23

1 first quarter 2007 results include after-tax restructuring charges of $10 million, or $0.05 per share, related to employee 
separation costs, asset write-downs and other restructuring actions; after-tax one-time costs of $3 million, or $0.02 
per share, related to the company’s cost initiative; and after-tax gains of $1 million, or $0.00 per share, related to sales 
of forestlands. second quarter 2007 results include after-tax restructuring charges of $5 million, or $0.03 per share, 
related to employee separation costs, asset write-downs and other restructuring actions; after-tax one-time costs of $5 
million, or $0.03 per share, related to the company’s cost initiative; and after-tax gains of $3 million, or $0.02 per share, 
related to sales of forestlands. third quarter 2007 results include after-tax restructuring charges of $13 million, or $0.07 
per share, related to employee separation costs, asset write-downs and other restructuring actions; after-tax one-time 
costs of $4 million, or $0.02 per share, related to the company’s cost initiative; and after-tax gains of $56 million, or 
$0.31 per share, related to sales of forestlands. fourth quarter 2007 results include after-tax restructuring charges 
of $26 million, or $0.14 per share, related to employee separation costs, asset write-downs and other restructuring 
actions; after-tax one-time costs of $3 million, or $0.02 per share, related to the company’s cost initiative; and after-tax 
gains of $110 million, or $0.60 per share, related to sales of forestlands.
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2 first quarter 2006 results include after-tax restructuring charges of $2 million, or $0.01 per share, related to employee 
separation costs, asset write-downs and other restructuring actions; after-tax one-time costs of $1 million, or $0.01 
per share, related to the company’s cost initiative; and after-tax gains of $2 million, or $0.01 per share, related to sales 
of forestlands. second quarter 2006 results include after-tax restructuring charges of $37 million, or $0.20 per share, 
related to employee separation costs, asset write-downs and other restructuring actions; after-tax one-time costs of $6 
million, or $0.04 per share, related to the company’s cost initiative; an after-tax gain of $13 million, or $0.07 per share, 
related to the sale of a note received as part of the consideration for the sale of the printing and writing papers business 
in 2005; and after-tax gains of $3 million, or $0.02 per share, related to sales of forestlands. third quarter 2006 results 
include after-tax restructuring charges of $12 million, or $0.07 per share, related to employee separation costs, asset 
write-downs and other restructuring actions; after-tax one-time costs of $6 million, or $0.03 per share, related to the 
company’s cost initiative; and after-tax gains of $3 million, or $0.02 per share, related to sales of forestlands. fourth 
quarter 2006 results include after-tax restructuring charges of $34 million, or $0.19 per share, related to employee 
separation costs, asset write-downs and other restructuring actions; after-tax one-time costs of $12 million, or $0.06 
per share, related to the company’s cost initiative; an after-tax gain of $11 million, or $0.06 per share, related to the sale 
of corporate real estate; and after-tax gains of $10 million, or $0.05 per share, related to sales of forestlands.
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manaGement’s ResponsibilitY foR financial statements and  
manaGement’s RepoRt on inteRnal contRol oveR financial RepoRtinG

Management’s responsibility for financial statements  management is responsible for the information 

and representations in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes as well 

as all other financial information contained in this report. these financial statements were prepared 

in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the united states of america and by 

necessity include some amounts determined using informed estimates and assumptions. 

pricewaterhousecoopers llp, the company’s independent registered public accounting firm, was 

engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements and was responsible for conducting an audit 

in accordance with the standards of the public company accounting oversight board (united states). 

the appointment of pricewaterhousecoopers llp as the company’s independent registered public 

accounting firm by the board of directors, on the recommendation of the audit committee, has been 

ratified each year by the shareholders. pricewaterhousecoopers llp’s opinion on the company’s 

consolidated financial statements is stated in their report which is included herein. the audit committee 

of the board of directors, composed solely of nonmanagement directors, meets regularly with the 

company’s management, the internal audit director and representatives of the independent registered 

public accounting firm to discuss accounting and financial reporting matters, internal control over 

financial reporting, and the nature, scope and results of audits. 

the audit committee meets with the independent registered public accounting firm both with 

and without management. the committee also meets with the company’s general counsel to review 

the company’s legal compliance program as well as significant litigation issues. the independent 

registered public accounting firm and the director of internal audit have full and free access to the 

audit committee.
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Management’s report on internal control over financial reporting  management is responsible for 

establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the company. in order 

to evaluate the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, management has conducted an 

assessment, including testing, using the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework 

issued by the committee of sponsoring organizations of the treadway commission (coso). the 

company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable 

assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 

for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. because of its 

inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 

also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls 

may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the 

policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

based on our assessment, under the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework, 

issued by the coso, management has concluded that the company maintained effective internal 

control over financial reporting as of december 31, 2007. 

John a. luke, Jr. 

chairman and chief executive officer

e. mark Rajkowski

senior vice president and chief financial officer

february 28, 2008
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RepoRt of independent ReGisteRed public accountinG fiRm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of MeadWestvaco Corporation

in our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements 

of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of meadwestvaco corporation and its subsidiaries at december 31, 2007 and 2006, and 

the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 

december 31, 2007 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the united states 

of america. also in our opinion, the company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal 

control over financial reporting as of december 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal 

Control—Integrated Framework issued by the committee of sponsoring organizations of the treadway 

commission (coso). the company’s management is responsible for these financial statements, for 

maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness 

of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying management’s Report on 

internal control over financial Reporting. our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial 

statements and on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated 

audits. we conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the public company accounting 

oversight board (united states). those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain 

reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and 

whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. our 

audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 

and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant 

estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. our audit 

of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over 

financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the 

design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. our audits also 

included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. we 

believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
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as discussed in note n to the consolidated financial statements, the company changed the manner 

in which it accounts for uncertain tax positions effective January 1, 2007. as discussed in notes J and 

k to the consolidated financial statements, the company changed the manner in which it accounts 

for share-based compensation in fiscal 2006 and the manner in which it accounts for defined benefit 

pension and other postretirement plans effective december 31, 2006.

a company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable 

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 

for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. a company’s 

internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the 

maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 

dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 

recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide 

reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 

disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 

misstatements. also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the 

risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 

compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

pricewaterhousecoopers llp

Richmond, virginia

february 28, 2008
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total sHaReHoldeR RetuRn

this graph compares on a relative basis the cumulative total return to stockholders on meadwestvaco’s 

common stock from december 31, 2002, plus reinvested dividends and distributions through 

december 31, 2007, with the return on the standard & poor’s 500 stock index (s&p 500) and the 

standard & poor’s paper & forest products index (s&p paper index), the company’s peer group index. 

as of december 31, 2007, the s&p paper index included meadwestvaco, international paper and 

weyerhaeuser, and has been meadwestvaco’s traditional peer index. this graph assumes $100 was 

invested on december 31, 2002, in each of the following: the company’s common stock, the s&p 500 

index and the s&p paper index. this graph should not be taken to imply any assurance that past 

performance is predictive of future performance.
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John A. luke, JR.

Chairman and  
Chief executive officer

meadwestvaco Corporation

miChAel e. CAmpbell

Chairman, president and  
Chief executive officer

Arch Chemicals, inc.

DR. thomAs w. Cole, JR.

interim Chancellor
university of massachusetts  

at Amherst 
Retired president
Clark Atlanta university

JAmes G. kAiseR

Chairman and  
Chief executive officer

Avenir partners, inc.

RiChARD b. kelson

operating Advisor
pegasus Capital Advisors, l.p.
Retired executive vice president 

and Chief Financial officer
Alcoa, inc.
 

JAmes m. kilts

Founding partner
Centerview partners 

management llC
Former vice Chairman
the procter & Gamble Company
Former Chairman and  

Chief executive officer
the Gillette Company

susAn J. kRopF

Retired president and  
Chief operating officer

Avon products, inc.

DouGlAs s. luke

president and  
Chief executive officer

hl Capital, inc.

RobeRt C. mCCoRmACk

Founding partner
trident Capital, inc.

timothy h. poweRs

Chairman, president and  
Chief executive officer

hubbell, inc.

eDwARD m. stRAw

Retired president of  
Global operations

the estée lauder  
Companies, inc.

vice Admiral  
united states navy  
(Retired)

JAne l. wARneR

executive vice president
illinois tool works, inc.

boARD oF DiReCtoRs
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Leadership Team

John A. luke, JR.

Chairman and  
Chief executive officer

JAmes A. buzzARD

president

mARk s. CRoss

senior vice president

e. mARk RAJkowski

senior vice president and  
Chief Financial officer

linDA v. sChReineR

senior vice president

bRuCe v. thomAs

senior vice president

mARk t. wAtkins

senior vice president

wenDell l. willkie ii

senior vice president,  
General Counsel and 
secretary

division / Group Leaders

DR. RobeRt k. beCkleR

president
specialty Chemicals Division

RobeRt A. FeeseR

president
packaging Resources Group

DR. JACk C. GolDFRAnk

president
Center for packaging innovation

mARk v. GullinG

president
Global business services

miChAel J. huth

president and General manager
specialty papers Division

John p. mCkeRnAn

president
meadwestvaco Calmar
 

neil A. mClAChlAn

president
Consumer & office  

products Group

stephen R. sCheRGeR

president
Consumer solutions Group 

Americas

kenneth t. seeGeR

senior vice president  
and president

Community Development and 
land management Group

CorporaTe offiCers

John e. bAnu

Controller

RobeRt e. biRkenholz

treasurer

John J. CARRARA

Assistant secretary and 
Associate General Counsel

DonnA owens Cox

vice president

DiRk J. kRouskop

vice president

neD w. mAssee

vice president

meADwestvACo mAnAGement

112910FS_D_r1_MWV_AR07d_Back_pgs141   141 3/4/08   6:41:35 PM



mwv 2007 AnnuAl RepoRt142

Headquarters

Richmond, virginia

Packaging resources

Blumenau, Brazil
Campinas, Brazil
Cottonton, Alabama
Covington, virginia
evadale, texas
Feira de Santana, Brazil
low moor, virginia
manaus, Brazil
north Charleston,  

South Carolina
pacajus, Brazil
Silsbee, texas
Summerville, South Carolina
tres Barras, Brazil
valinhos, Brazil
venlo, the netherlands

consumer solutions

Ajax, Canada
Atlanta, Georgia
Barcelona, Spain
Bilbao, Spain
Bristol, united Kingdom
Buenos Aires, Argentina 
Bydgoszcz, poland
Caguas, puerto Rico 
Chateauroux, France
Corby, united Kingdom 
Deols, France
Drunen, the netherlands 
Dublin, Ireland 
elizabethtown, Kentucky
enschede, the netherlands
Freden, Germany
Grandview, missouri
Graz, Austria
Grover, north Carolina
Hemer, Germany
Jacksonville, Illinois

Krakow, poland
lanett, Alabama
littlehampton, united Kingdom 
london, united Kingdom 
louisa, virginia 
manaus, Brazil
mebane, north Carolina
melrose park, Illinois 
milan, Italy 
moscow, Russian Federation 
new York City, new York
pittsfield, massachusetts 
Roosendaal, the netherlands
San luis potosi, mexico
Sao paulo, Brazil
Seoul, South Korea
Shimada, Japan
Slough, united Kingdom 
Smyrna, Georgia
Svitavy, Czech Republic
Swindon, united Kingdom
thalgau, Austria 
tijuana, mexico  
tokyo, Japan
toronto, Canada
trier, Germany
troyes, France
uden, the netherlands 
valinhos, Brazil
warrington, pennsylvania 
warsaw, poland 
washington Court House,  

ohio
winfield, Kansas
wuxi,  

people’s Republic of China

consumer & office 

Products

Alexandria, pennsylvania
Atlanta, Georgia
Bauru, Brazil
Dallas, texas
enfield, Connecticut
Indianapolis, Indiana

Kenosha, wisconsin
Kettering, ohio
los Angeles, California
Sidney, new York
Springfield, massachusetts
toronto, Canada
williamsburg, pennsylvania

sPecialty cHemicals

Albuquerque, new mexico
Covington, virginia
DeRidder, louisiana
north Charleston,  

South Carolina
Shaxian,  

people’s Republic of China 
waynesboro, Georgia
wickliffe, Kentucky

sPecialty PaPers

potsdam, new York
South lee, massachusetts

community develoPment 

and land management/

forestry centers

Rupert, west virginia
Summerville, South Carolina
tres Barras, Brazil
waverly Hall, Georgia

researcH facilities

north Charleston,  
South Carolina

Raleigh, north Carolina
Shekou Shenzhen,  

people’s Republic of China
tres Barras, Brazil

woRlDwIDe loCAtIonS
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SaleS

ajax, Canada
aliso Viejo, California
atlanta, Georgia
bangkok, thailand
barcelona, spain
bartlett, Illinois
belo horizonte, brazil
birmingham, United kingdom
blumenau, brazil
brussels, belgium
budapest, hungary
buenos aires, argentina
bydgoszcz, poland
Caguas, puerto rico
Cape town, south africa
Charlotte, north Carolina
Chicago, Illinois
Chichester, United kingdom
Cincinnati, ohio
Coppel, texas
Coral Gables, Florida
Corby, United kingdom
Corona, California
Courbevoie, France
Covington, Virginia
Curitiba, brazil
del Miguel hidalgo, Mexico
deridder, Louisiana
dublin, Ireland
dusseldorf, Germany
east rutherford, new Jersey
ellerslie, new Zealand
emanuele, Italy
epping, australia
enschede, the netherlands
Flemington, new Jersey
Fortaleza, brazil
Garner, north Carolina
Graz, austria
Grover, north Carolina
hong kong,  

people’s republic of China
Indianapolis, Indiana
Itasca, Illinois

Jacksonville, Illinois
klaj, poland
kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Lake in the hills, Illinois
Littleborough Lancs,  

United kingdom
Littlehampton, United kingdom
London, United kingdom
Londrina, brazil
Los angeles, California
Louisville, kentucky
Manaus, brazil
Mason, ohio
Maurepas, France
Mebane, north Carolina
Melrose park, Illinois
Mexico City, Mexico
Miami, Florida
Mississauga, Canada
Moscow, russian Federation
Mumbai, India
new York City, new York
north brunswick, new Jersey
petrolina, brazil
phenix City, alabama
piaseczno, poland
pittsfield, Massachusetts
porto alegre, brazil
powell, ohio
recife, brazil
republic of singapore
rio de Janeiro, brazil
roosendaal, the netherlands
rosieres-pres-troyes, France
roswell, Georgia
rumson, new Jersey
saint-Mande, France
salvador, brazil
santiago, Chile
sao paulo, brazil
schaumburg, Illinois
seoul, south korea
shanghai,  

people’s republic of China
shekou shenzhen,  

people’s republic of China

smyrna, Georgia
south Lee, Massachusetts
springfield, Massachusetts
st. savior Jersey,  

United kingdom
svitavy, Czech republic
swindon, United kingdom
sydney, australia
taipei, taiwan
tecate, California
thalgau, austria
the woodlands, texas
tinton Falls, new Jersey
tokyo, Japan
trier-ehrang, Germany
Uberlandia, brazil
Uden, the netherlands
Venlo, the netherlands
Vienna, austria
Vila Velha, brazil
warrington, pennsylvania
warszawa, poland
woodbridge, Canada

worLdwIde LoCatIons, continued
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shAReholDeR inFoRmAtion

CompAny pRoFile
meadwestvaco provides 
packaging solutions and 
products to many of the world’s 
best-known companies and 
most-admired brands. with 
a presence in more than 30 
countries, our research, design, 
manufacturing and distribution 
capabilities serve leaders in the 
food and beverage, media and 
entertainment, personal care, 
home and garden, cosmetics, 
and healthcare industries. we 
also have market-leading 
positions in our Consumer & 
office products and specialty 
Chemicals businesses. in our 
values and in our operations, 
we act on the principle of 
sustainability—creating value 
for shareholders while fulfilling 
our environmental, social and 
economic responsibilities. 
meadwestvaco manages all of  
its forestlands in accordance with 
internationally recognized forest 
certification standards, and we 
have been selected for the Dow 
Jones sustainability indexes for  
a fourth consecutive year.

AnnuAl meetinG oF 
shAReholDeRs
the next meeting of shareholders
will be held on monday,  
April 28, 2008, at 11:00 a.m.
waldorf Astoria hotel
301 park Avenue
new york, ny 10022

stoCk exChAnGe listinG
symbol: mwv  
new york stock exchange

meadwestvaco Corporation 
common stock can be issued in 
direct registration (book entry or 
uncertificated) form. the stock is 
DRs (Direct Registration system) 
eligible.

Ceo/CFo CeRtiFiCAtions
the most recent certifications by 
our Chief executive officer and 
Chief Financial officer pursuant 
to section 302 of the sarbanes-
oxley Act of 2002 are filed as 
exhibits to our Annual Report 
on Form 10-k for the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2007. we 
have also filed with the new york 
stock exchange the most recent 
Annual Ceo Certification as 
required by section 303A.12(a) 
of the new york stock exchange 
listed Company manual.

inFoRmAtion Requests
Corporate secretary
meadwestvaco Corporation
Five high Ridge park
stamford, Connecticut 06905
A copy of the Company’s annual 
report filed with the securities 
and exchange Commission (Form 
10-k) will be furnished without 
charge to any shareholder upon 
written request to the address 
written above. 
telephone +1 203 461 7502
toll-free in the united states and 
Canada +1 800 432 9874

investoR RelAtions
please visit the meadwestvaco 
Corporation investor Relations 
site at http://us.meadwestvaco.
com/Aboutus/investorRelations/
index.htm. on this site you can 
order financial documents online, 
send email inquiries and review 
additional information about the 
company.

DiReCt puRChAse  
AnD sAles plAn
the buyDiReCt sm plan, 
administered by bny mellon, 
provides existing shareholders 
and interested first-time investors 
a direct, convenient and 
affordable alternative for buying 
and selling meadwestvaco 
shares. Contact bny mellon 
shareowner services for an 
enrollment form and brochure 
that describes the plan fully.

tRAnsFeR AGent  
AnD ReGistRAR
For BuyDIRECT sm Plan 
enrollment and other  
shareholder inquiries:
meadwestvaco Corporation
c/o bny mellon shareowner 
services
po box 358015  
pittsburgh, pA 15252 8015

For BuyDIRECT sm Plan 
sales, liquidations, transfers, 
withdrawals or optional cash 
investments (please use bottom 
portion of advice or statement):
meadwestvaco Corporation
c/o bny mellon shareowner 
services
po box 358015  
pittsburgh, pA 15252 8015

To send certificates for transfer  
or change of address:
meadwestvaco Corporation
c/o bny mellon shareowner 
services
po box 358015  
pittsburgh, pA 15252 8015

All telephone inquiries:
+1 866 455 3115 toll-free in the 
united states and Canada
+1 201 680 6685 outside the  
united states and Canada

All email inquiries:
shrrelations@bnymellon.com

On the Internet at:
www.bnymellon.com/
shareowner/isd
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Corporate Headquarters

MeadWestvaco Corporation
11013 West Broad Street
Glen Allen, VA 23060-5937
+1 804 327 5200 TEL

meadwestvaco.com



meadwestvaco.com




